Publication Ethics

Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE)</u> and accepts the principles of publication ethics and evaluates all submitted manuscripts in this context. Readers and authors can access these rules and case examples at the following links:

Turkish Journal of Public Health

Volume: 22, Issue: 3, 2024

Owner: Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIÇ

Adress: Korkutreis Mahallesl, İlkız Sk. No:17 D:2, 06430 Çankaya/Ankara

E-mail: yucel.demiral@gmail.com

Release Date: December 11, 2024

Indexes: TR Dizin, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atıf Dizini, ULAKBIM, DOAJ, SCOPUS

e-ISSN: 1304-1088

Turkish Journal of Public Health is published three times a year. The publication language of the journal is English. Article submission address: https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/journal/814/submission/step/manuscript/new

JOURNAL BOARDS

Owner of the Journal

Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIÇ

Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

The Manager

Prof. Dr. Ferruh Niyazi AYOĞLU Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit Üniversity, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Zonguldak, Türkiye

Editor in Chief

Prof. Dr. Yücel DEMİRAL Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

Section Editors

Prof. Dr. Pinar DÜNDAR Manisa Celal Bayar University Faculty of Medicine Public Health Department, Manisa, Türkiye

Prof. Dr. Işıl ERGİN Ege University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

Prof. Dr. Nilay ETİLER University of Nevada, Reno(UNR), School of Public Health

Prof. Dr. Hande HARMANCI World Health Organization

World Health Organization

Prof. Dr. Caferi Tayyar ŞAŞMAZ

Mersin University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Özge KARADAĞ

Columbia University, Center For Sustainable Development, Earth Institute, USA

Prof. Dr. Nazım Ercüment BEYHUN

Karadeniz Technical University Medical Faculty, Department of Public Health

Prof. Dr. Filiz ABACIGİL Adnan Menderes University Faculty of

Medicine,Department of Public Health, Aydın, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Figen DEMİR

Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sebahat Dilek TORUN Bahçeşehir University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Prof. Dr. Sevgi CANBAZ İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sibel KIRAN

Hacettepe University, Institute of Public Health, Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Ankara, Türkiye

Assoc. Prof. Niveen Abu-RMEILEHT

Inst. of Community and Public Health, Birzeit Univercity West Bank, Palestine

Julia CRITCHLEY

University Of London, USA

Nelta EDWARDS

University of Alaska Anchorage, Department of Public Health, USA

Prof. Dr. Peter PHILLIMORE University Of Newcastle , Department of Social Policy, UK

Prof. Dr. Fouad FOUAD American Beirut Universi Department of Public Health, Lebanon

Prof. Dr. Shahaduz ZAMAN University of Suss, Department of Public Health ,UK

Aims and Scope

The owner of the journal is the Turkish Public Health Specialists Association. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a peer-reviewed, English-only research journal published online three times a year, serving a wide audience in the field of public health and community medicine at national and international levels. Turk J Public Health aims to provide an environment for the rapid communication of developments and new information in this field. We welcome articles on public health theory and practice.

The editors anticipates receiving manuscripts from the following areas of public health, Health policy and management, Biostatistics, Epidemiology, Environmental health, Health economics, Demography, Social, sciences for health, Health education, Health promotion, Community nutrition, Infectious diseases, Disaster management, Injuries, Women's health, Reproductive health, Child health, Chronic diseases, Occupational health, Global health, Inequalities. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE). Turk J Public Health is covered following national international indexing services: DOAJ, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atif Dizini, ULAKBIM, Google Scholar and SCOPUS.

Open Access Policy

Turkish Journal of Public Health is an online and an open access journal. All the manuscripts are fully accessible via a link at their relevant pages. Turkish Journal of Public Health do not ask any kind of author fees. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

Peer-Review Policy

Turk J Public Health aims to publish the top-quality articles related to the theoretical and practical application of public health sciences. A qualified peer review process to achieve this goal is very crucial for Turk J Public Health. Objectivity, accuracy, and fairness are basic principles during the peer review and publishing stages for Turk J Public Health. The trust of all readers, authors, researchers, referees, public health experts, physicians, funding bodies that support the research and public health managers are very important to us. All of the manuscripts have been sent to at least two reviewers and reviewers are blind to authors identities. Authors are also blind to reviewers identities. (Double Blind Peer-Review)

Instructions for Authors

Instructions for <u>authors page</u> of the journal is available in the journal content. **Disclaimer**

The statements and opinions expressed contained in the articles of the The Turkish Journal of Public Health are solely those of the individual authors and contributors not of the Turkish Society of Public Health Specialists or Cetus Publishing.

Publisher

Cetus Publishing Address : Balıkesir Teknokent Çağış Mah. Çağış B.M.Sk. No:340/16 İç Kapı No:17 Altıeylül/Balıkesir Phone : +90 532 605 56 85 E-mail : info@cetuspub.com

Turkish Journal of Public Health

VOLUME: 22

CONTENTS

ISSUE: 3

Original Article

- 243-254 Trends in research on the concept of active ageing: a bibliometric analysis Pınar Duru, Şadiye Öztürk
- 255-262 Malignancy risk in diabetes; a population study based on electronic health records Mustafa Mahir Ülgü, Mestan Emek, Mustafa Kemal Balcı, Kemal Hakan Gülkesen
- 263-272 Land use and trihalomethanes generation in water reservoir, a case study from Istanbul, Türkive Hüseyin Öztürk, Sinan Güneysu, Bekir Sami Kocazeybek, Şafak Başa, Tuğba Ölmez Hancı

- 273-288 Occupational health and safety services during the pandemic from the perspective of occupational health and safety professionals working at site: A combination of questionnaire based and in-depth interview research from Türkiye İrem Dilaver, Nazım Ercüment Beyhun, Kübra Şahin, Murat Topbaş
- 289-304 Validation and reliability study of the Turkish version of the health services access scale Mustafa Filiz, Nurgün Erdal, Olkan Budak
- 305-316 Assessing knowledge, attitudes, and practices of tobacco cultivators regarding their health hazards: a study on Kushtia district Nayamat Ullah, Hafizul Islam

Review

317-326 Risk compensation (Peltzman's effect) during the COVID-19 pandemic: a narrative review Abdel-Hady El-Gilany, Hala Abou-El-Wafa

Systematic Reviews and Meta Analysis

327-338 Effect of mediterranean diet on breast cancer: meta-analysis Ülkü Demirci, Rabia Melda Karaağaç, Çağla Pınarlı Falakacılar, Ayşe Kaptanoğlu

Letter to Editor

339-343 Commentary: Expanding the horizons of RE-AIM framework in public health research Verda Tunalıgil

From the Editor

Dear readers and contributors,

As of 2024, the Turkish Journal of Public Health has continued to serve as a significant platform for the generation and dissemination of scientific knowledge in the field of public health. In this final issue of the year, we would like to share the annual statistics of our journal, reflecting on our past year and providing insights into the future. Throughout 2024, a total of 144 manuscript submissions were received. These manuscripts were predominantly research articles (83.3%), along with a smaller number of reviews and case reports. During the review process, 89 (61%) manuscripts were rejected for various reasons. The post-review rejection rate was relatively low (10.4%). The average decision time for manuscripts requiring peer review was 75 days. The average time from submission to acceptance was 120 days, aligning with international standards. However, for these processes to be more efficient and faster, greater involvement from public health experts in the peer review process is critical. Contributions to the peer review process not only enhance individual scientific expertise but also directly improve the quality of journal.

The year 2024 marked significant steps toward increasing the international visibility of TJPH. To expand its global reach and engage with a broader academic audience, the journal has completed applications to international indices, including PubMed, and the evaluation of the TJPH application is ongoing. These efforts will also increase the citation impact of the journal's publications. We kindly ask our readers and authors to support this initiative by actively citing published articles and promoting them to wider audiences. Citations are one of the most tangible indicators of the journal's scientific impact, playing a pivotal role in increasing its international recognition and reputation. We encourage our authors and readers to reference TJPH publications in their academic work and help disseminate these articles to broader networks. This year's statistics offer various insights into improving the journal's quality and optimizing processes including; Expediting the review process will enhance author satisfaction and facilitate more effective knowledge dissemination. Increasing the number of review articles and case reports will help the journal appeal to a broader scientific audience. Efforts to increase the visibility of articles through collaborations and promotional activities should be prioritized. Advancements in the PubMed and SCI application processes will be a milestone in the journal's journey toward international recognition.

These achievements have been made possible through the invaluable contributions of our authors, reviewers, and editorial team. As we move into 2025, we invite you to become part of the TJPH community to create greater scientific impact and promote public health. Your support in the peer review process and in citing published articles will be instrumental in advancing the journal's success. In this issue, we are pleased to present to our readers' appreciation six original research articles, one systematic review, one narrative review, and one letter to the editör. Enjoy reading the new issue, and wishing you a happy, healthy New Year!"

Yucel Demiral Editor in Chief **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

Trends in research on the concept of active ageing: a bibliometric analysis



¹Assoc. Prof., Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health Nursing, Eskişehir, Türkiye

² Research Assist., Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health Nursing, Eskişehir, Türkiye

Received: 30.05.2023, Accepted: 08.08.2024

Abstract

Objective: This study aims to provide insights into the scientific activity in the field by conducting a bibliometric analysis of studies examining the concept of active ageing in the Web of Science_WoS database.

Methods: The research includes studies retrieved from the WoS database during a search conducted on September 2, 2023, containing keywords such as "active ageing," "active and healthy ageing," "healthy and active ageing," and "ageing well." The study examined various characteristics of these studies, including their type, publication frequency, relationship with sustainable development goals, country of origin, subject, journals, co-authors, author citations, and keywords. Bibliometric analyses were conducted using VOSviewer software.

Results: Out of the 1740 studies retrieved, materials such as editorials, book reviews, and conference abstracts (n=423) were excluded, leaving a total of 1317 studies for database inclusion, comprising 1203 articles and 114 reviews. Among the 1160 studies on Sustainable Development Goals, 15 out of 17 goals were covered. It was determined that 71% of the studies addressed the "Healthy and Quality Life" goal. Spain had the highest number of publications (n=201), while the United Kingdom received the most citations (n=3073). According to bibliographic matching analysis, the Gerontologist journal was identified as the most influential journal in the field.

Conclusion: The number and impact of research on active ageing have increased over time. The importance and impact of research in this field hold great potential to enhance the quality of life of the future elderly population and stimulate their societal contributions.

Keywords: Healthy Ageing, Elderly, Well Ageing

Correspondence: Research Assistant, Şadiye Öztürk, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health Nursing, Eskişehir, Türkiye. **E-mail:** sadiye.ozturk@ogu.edu.tr **Phone**: (0222) 239 37 50/1528

Cite This Article: Duru P, Öztürk Ş. Trends in research on the concept of active ageing: a bibliometric analysis. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 243-254.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

The ageing population is increasingly gaining importance as a phenomenon that reshapes the countries' demographic, social, and economic balance.¹ Globally, for the first time in history, the number of individuals aged 60 and over exceeded the number of children under 5 in 2020, and the rate of ageing in the population is steadily increasing.² In Türkiye, the rapidly increasing elderly population is attributed to the decline in fertility and mortality rates, as well as an increase in life expectancy at birth. According to population projections, it is estimated that the elderly population ratio will be 12.9% in 2030, 16.3% in 2040, and 22.6% in 2060.³

In order to convey a more inclusive message than healthy ageing, the term "active ageing" was adopted by the World Health Organization (WHO) in the late 1990s. This term is defined as the process of optimizing health, participation, and security opportunities to increase the quality of life as individuals age. This approach is based on the principles of the United Nations, including independence, participation, dignity, care, and self-realization, as well as the recognition of the human rights of older people.⁴ The United Nations General Assembly declared the years 2021-2030 as the "Decade of Healthy Ageing" and requested guidance from the WHO to implement it.² Active ageing supports older individuals in maintaining their physical, social, and mental health to lead longer and healthier lives. It encourages the social participation of older individuals, promoting their involvement in the workforce, volunteer activities, and being a part of community life. Active ageing advocates for continuous learning also and awareness among older individuals,

emphasizing that they can be a part of life independently of factors such as gender, ethnicity, disability, or other considerations. It encourages older individuals to use natural resources sustainably.⁴ For all these reasons, active ageing aligns with the complementary goals of sustainable development, focusing on "healthy and successful ageing," "social participation and employment," "education and awareness," "social equality and inclusion," and "environmental sustainability of resources." A society where older individuals are healthy, productive, informed, and socially included can play a significant role in achieving sustainable development goals.5,6

On the other hand, age discrimination, particularly the explicit use of gender-biased stereotypes when describing older women and elderly characters outside the family,7 situations such as informal employment, environments lack supportive for of meeting primary health and social needs,8 and deficiencies in structures, personnel resources, and expertise for inter-sectoral collaboration are seen as barriers to active ageing.⁹ The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated inequalities, insecurity, and the exclusion of certain social groups by revealing the health, social, economic, and living conditions of the elderly.¹ The role of social and mental well-being as determinants of healthy ageing is increasingly acknowledged. This is also an indicator of active ageing.¹⁰ The concept of active ageing is considered a key element in providing individuals with more opportunities throughout their lives and a better quality of life in old age, particularly in the context of social participation, integration, and adaptation.¹

This study aims to conduct a bibliometric analysis of research on the concept of active ageing in the Web of Science (WoS) database. Considering the breadth of the existing literature on active ageing, it is evident that a significant portion of the studies in this field focus on the conceptual framework^{11,12} and policy applications.^{1,9,13} However, there is a lack of comprehensive review regarding the international trends in active ageing research, which countries and authors contribute the most to this field, and which topics receive greater attention. At this point, bibliometric analysis becomes critical to understanding the global trends in active ageing research. In particular, policies and social practices related to ageing, which have accelerated in the postpandemic era, require a more systematic examination of studies in this field. Therefore, bibliometric analysis offers an innovative approach, providing a map of the dynamics of active ageing research, identifying gaps in this area, and offering essential insights into the current state of the scientific literature and future research domains.

In this context, bibliometric analysis not only illustrates how the concept of active ageing has evolved but also identifies which research areas have gained more interest, which topics still need to be explored, and which research subjects should be prioritized in the future. By doing so, it will provide concrete findings to address the gaps in the literature. Moreover, considering the impact of the pandemic and global demographic changes on active ageing, the study will offer critical guidance for policymakers and researchers in determining future roadmaps. In conclusion, this study aims to contribute to efforts that support the lives of elderly individuals by illuminating the evolution of the concept of active ageing in the Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

scientific literature and visualizing significant trends and research gaps in the field.

Research Questions:

Q1. What are the publication and citation trends of studies on active ageing?

Q2. Who are the authors and countries that have contributed the most to the concept of active ageing?

Q3. Which articles and journals receive the most citations in research on the concept of active ageing?

Q4. What are the keywords commonly used in research on the concept of active ageing?

Q5. What are the topics associated with the concept of active ageing?

Q6. What opportunities and recommendations exist for future research on the concept of active ageing?

METHOD

Type and time of the research

The research was conducted as a bibliometric analysis study in the time interval between August and September 2023. Bibliometric analysis is a method used to analyze current trends in the literature of a specific field by examining various characteristics of scientific studies, such as their prevalence, impact, and interdisciplinary relationships, using bibliographic data.¹⁴ In the writing of this study, the CARDA (Checklist for Assessment and Reporting of Document Analysis) guide was used to enhance the transparency and reproducibility of document analysisbased research. CARDA provides a checklist that ensures a systematic approach to data collection, analysis, and reporting in document analysis-based studies. This guide

structures the phases of document selection, data analysis, and interpretation of results to enhance the methodological reliability of the study and assists researchers throughout these processes.¹⁵ In this study, CARDA was used to ensure the reliability and reproducibility of the methodology. For instance, during the data collection process, how the documents were selected and the criteria for their inclusion in the study were detailed. The CARDA checklist, in particular, ensured transparency in terms of the documents' nature, scope, and acquisition processes.

Data Collection Process

Research data was retrieved from the Web of Science (WoS), a comprehensive and prestigious database that includes scientific articles, conference papers, and other academic sources published in various disciplines. The research universe is formed by the existing literature in the WoS database. On September 2, 2023, the WoS database was searched using the keywords "active ageing," "active and healthy ageing," "healthy and active ageing," and "ageing well" without any restrictions on publication year, language, etc. Publications containing any of these keywords in their subject, title, or abstract were included in the sample. The search keywords were selected based on their established prominence in the literature related to ageing and their alignment with the World Health Organization's definitions and frameworks. These terms encapsulate the critical concepts of promoting health, participation, and quality of life in older adults.

Variables

The studies included in the scope of the research were examined based on the following

variables: type, publication frequency, relationship with sustainable development goals, country, topic, top 10 journals with the highest number of publications (publication count, citation count, impact factor, and Q level), co-author relationships, author citation relationships, and the top 10 most frequently used keywords, considering bibliographic matches in the texts.

Statistical Analysis

Bibliometric analysis of the data obtained from the WoS database were presented using descriptive statistics and graphics. VOSviewer software (version 1.6.19) (https://www. vosviewer.com/) was utilized for data visualization. Through VOSviewer, analyses including co-author analysis, author citation analysis, source citation analysis, country citation analysis, institution citation analysis, keyword analysis, bibliographic coupling analysis of texts, and co-citation analysis of authors were conducted.

RESULTS

Through searches with keywords, 1740 studies were identified in the WoS database. A total of 423 studies in editorial material, book review, correction, meeting, meeting abstract, book chapter, conference paper, and letter formats were excluded from the research. The studies ranged from the oldest in 1991 (n=1) to the most recent in 2023 (n=95). Of the identified studies, 1203 were articles, and 114 were reviews, making a total of 1317 studies forming the database for this research. When the publication years of the studies were examined, it was observed that their distribution increased compared to the previous year. In the last five years before 2023, the frequency of publications for the studies, moving backward in time, were 204, 164, 157, 113, and 90 publications, respectively.

Of the 1160 studies related to Sustainable Development Goals, it was observed that they covered 15 out of 17 goals, excluding the goals "16. Peace, Justice, and Strong Institutions" and "17. Partnerships for the Goals." It was determined that 71% of the studies covered Goal 3, "Good Health and Well-being."



Figure 1. Distribution of studies according to sustainable development goals

While Spain was identified as the country with the most studies related to the concept of active ageing (n=201 publications), the country receiving the most citations for these publications was the United Kingdom (n=3073 citations). Figure 2 displays the publication and citation numbers of the top 10 countries where the studies are most frequently conducted. Data for Taiwan and Germany were also presented in the figure since both countries had an equal number of publications (n=63), placing them in the last position.



Figure 2. Publication and citation numbers of the top 10 countries with the most conducted studies

In the distribution of studies based on their topics, the top 10 topics were, in order: palliative care (n=225), nutrition and dietetics (n=185), social psychology (n=179), health policy (n=61), management (n=59), walking and posture (n=47), economics (n=45), political science (n=43), neurodegenerative diseases (n=32), and nursing (n=20).

The top 10 journals where studies on the concept of active ageing were most frequently published, along with the citation numbers, impact factors from the last five years obtained from the WoS, and the latest Q levels, were presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Top 10 journals with the most published studies and some characteristics								
No	Journal name	Number of publications	Citation numbers	Impact factors	Q levels			
1	International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health	75	468	4.799	Q1 - Q2			
2	Frontiers in Public Health	31	56	5.5	Q1			
3	Journal of Aging and Physical Activity	25	233	2.2	Q4			
4	Educational Gerontology	23	251	1.8	Q4			
5	Gerontologist	19	1651	6.2	Q1			
6	Ageing & Society	19	532	2.8	Q3			
7	Journal of Aging Studies	16	288	2.8	Q3			
8	Ageing International	15	155	1.6	Q4			
9	Sensors	14	241	4.1	Q2			
10	Sustainability	14	87	4	Q2 - Q3			

Co-author Analysis

According to the co-author analysis conducted to examine the relationships and collaboration of authors who have collaborated in articles or research projects, 3744 authors had at least one publication and 1 citation related to the concept of active ageing. The top 3 authors conducting the most research on this topic were, in order, Taina Rantanen (n=16), Erja Portegijs (n=13), and Milla Saajanaho (n=10). For the 235 authors with the highest collaboration and total link strength among the 3744 authors, a network and density map was presented in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Co-author analysis map

Author Citation Analysis

The top three authors who received the most citations for their research were Philip Atherton, Mike Larvin, and John Lund (each with 723 citations for their respective single studies). The top three authors with the highest link strength were, in order: Taina Rantanen (16 publications, 243 citations, 319 link strength), Erja Portegijs (13 publications, 202 citations, 289 link strength), and Milla Saajanaho (10 publications, 180 citations, 263 link strength). The author-citation analysis map for the shared citations of authors were presented in Figure 4.





Keyword analysis

A total of 312 keywords were identified, each repeated in at least three studies. Based on

the strength of connections established with other keywords for each of the 312 keywords, the keywords with the highest link strength were presented in Figure 2. The top 10 most used keywords, in order, were: active ageing (401 repetitions, 736 link strength), ageing (147 repetitions, 321 link strength), older adults (125 repetitions, 257 link strength), physical activity (69 repetitions, 189 link strength), quality of life (72 repetitions, 181 link strength), elderly (72 repetitions, 161 link strength), healthy ageing (55 repetitions, 121 link strength), ageing (63 repetitions, 119 link strength), older people (52 repetitions, 110 link strength), and health (44 repetitions, 99 link strength).



Figure 5. Keyword network analysis

Bibliographic match analysis of texts

A bibliographic match analysis was conducted through journals to determine the similarity and connections between articles that cite other articles, aiming to assess the impact capacity of the cited publications. According to the bibliographic match analysis results, the journal Gerontologist has been identified as the most influential journal in the field.



Figure 6. Journal-based bibliographic matching map

DISCUSSION

This study has presented a bibliometric analysis of research on the concept of active ageing and has revealed significant findings. The analysis results indicate an increasing trend in research on active ageing, particularly with a noticeable rise in the number of publications in recent years. The findings from this study contribute to a growing body of literature that frames ageing not only as a clinical or biological process but also as a social and participatory one.

However, it is essential to go beyond a descriptive account of these trends and consider how the current state of active ageing research can inform future research directions and policy changes. Active ageing research differs in scope and focus from more established fields, such as gerontology and geriatrics. While gerontology offers a comprehensive view of ageing, exploring the social, psychological, and biological changes associated with age, geriatrics is primarily concerned with the clinical care of elderly individuals.¹⁶ On the other hand, active ageing emphasizes societal and policy interventions that promote autonomy, participation, and well-being in later life. This distinction suggests that the rise in active ageing studies may reflect a shift towards more holistic and preventive approaches to ageing, focusing on maintaining the quality of life rather than solely addressing the medical needs of older individuals.¹⁷ This shift reflects a growing recognition of the need to focus on treating ageing-related diseases and creating environments that enable older individuals to thrive.

It is known that the effects of ageing vary across cultures and societies.5 For instance, Barbabella et al. note that Italian policymakers prioritize interventions in labor market participation, lifelong learning, social and economic inequalities, health, and welfare in active ageing. They highlight, however, less attention to issues such as gender, equal opportunities, and sustainable cities.¹ Puspitasari et al., on the other hand, emphasize the need for creating a supportive environment focusing on addressing the informal employment of the elderly and meeting their primary health and social needs in Indonesia.⁸ While the challenges affecting the elderly may vary from country to country, the Sustainable Development Goals are universal and can contribute to areas such as health, education, economic well-being, social participation, and the human rights of the elderly.^{5,6} This analysis study also indicates the connection active ageing and sustainable development goals. Notably, studies focusing on health-related goals play a crucial role in promoting the healthy and quality living of elderly individuals.

Our study observed that the top five countries where studies on active ageing were conducted were Spain, the United States, China, the United Kingdom, and Australia, respectively. Mainly, the higher proportion of

the elderly population in Spain compared to other countries may had led to more extensive research on the concept of active ageing in this country. As of 2023, the percentage of individuals aged 80 and over is 6.2% in Spain, 5.3% in the United Kingdom, 4.4% in Australia, 4% in the United States, and 2.5% in China.¹⁸ demographic factors, However, beyond Spain's proactive policy environment, mainly promoting healthy and active lifestyles for the elderly, has likely fostered a robust research output in this area. Spain has implemented several national strategies focused on elderly well-being, including the national strategy for active ageing, which aligns well with the growing academic interest in active ageing.^{19,20} Within the Decade of Healthy Ageing 2020-2030 framework, Spain's ageing plans are aligned with the core principles set by the United Nations, such as active ageing, healthy ageing, social participation, independence, dignity, and care.²⁰ Moreover, Spain's solid public healthcare system and government investment in geriatric and public health research may have provided fertile ground for active ageing studies.^{20,21}

In contrast, although the proportion of the elderly population is lower in the United Kingdom compared to Spain, the UK has a long history of gerontology and ageing research, supported by well-established institutions such as the Centre for Ageing Better and the UK's National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The UK's research infrastructure is highly developed, with significant funding opportunities and a focus on interdisciplinary collaborations.^{22,23} These factors may explain why the UK received more citations despite having fewer publications than Spain (n=3073). The UK's global research impact is enhanced by its involvement in international Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

ageing studies and networks and its emphasis on translating research into policy recommendations that influence national and global discourses on active ageing. The UK's focus on high-impact publications in leading journals may also contribute to the higher citation count. Additionally, both countries' emphasis on preventive health measures, public health policy, and social inclusion for the elderly have likely fostered an environment conducive to active ageing research.

Although the proportion of the elderly population was lower in the United Kingdom and Australia, factors such as a large population (having a higher number of elderly individuals in absolute terms compared to other countries), research infrastructure, financial support, and effective collaboration between healthcare systems and research institutions may contribute to the leading position of the United States and China in scientific research on active ageing. In conclusion, these data suggest increased studies on active ageing in countries with a higher elderly population.

When examining the topic distributions of the concept of active ageing, it was observed that a broad spectrum of studies was conducted, including palliative care, nutrition and dietetics, social psychology, health policy, management, economics, and nursing. This situation allows us to understand the ageing process in a multifaceted way, indicating that the subject is not limited to health alone but also encompasses social, economic, and managerial dimensions. The investigation of the concept of active ageing in different fields signifies a multidimensional subject area, suggesting that it should be approached interdisciplinary with an perspective. Strong collaboration among geriatrics and

gerontology experts, palliative care specialists, nutrition and dietetics professionals, social psychologists, health policy experts, economists, and nurses can managers, contribute to finding comprehensive and effective solutions for ageing-related issues. By comparing the research outputs and citation impacts across these ageing-related fields, our study highlights that active ageing, while newer in scope, contributes to the broader discourse on ageing by emphasizing social determinants of health and promoting a multidisciplinary approach. It would be valuable for future research to integrate findings from gerontology and geriatrics further to contextualize active ageing within the broader ageing research landscape.

Although this study highlights significant research outputs in areas such as palliative (n=225), nutrition and dietetics care (n=185), and social psychology (n=179), several underrepresented areas within the active ageing research landscape remain. Notably, despite the increasing emphasis on physical and mental well-being, there is a lack of research on the role of digital technologies and intelligent environments in supporting active ageing. While topics such as health policy (n=61), management (n=59), and even walking and posture (n=47)have been explored, the growing trend of digital transformation in healthcare and social services has yet to be fully integrated into active ageing research. Future studies could focus on how technologies such as telemedicine, wearable health devices, and smart homes can facilitate active ageing by promoting independence, monitoring health, and improving the quality of life for elderly individuals. In addition to addressing existing research trends. future studies should Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

focus on underexplored areas such as social participation, age-friendly environments, and policy interventions to promote active ageing in marginalized communities. The existing research tends to focus heavily on health and medical aspects, yet the social dimensions of active ageing should be more frequently studied. For example, while social psychology and social participation have been addressed to some extent, much remains to be explored regarding the role of social networks, community engagement, and lifelong learning in promoting active ageing. Future research could examine how social policies, such as agefriendly public spaces or intergenerational programs, contribute to the well-being of elderly individuals and how these initiatives can be scaled to different contexts.

When looking at the journals where studies on active ageing were most frequently published, the International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health (75 publications) and Frontiers in Public Health (31 publications) stand out. The fact that both of these journals operate in the "Public Health" field indicates the importance of research on active ageing in this field. Additionally, bibliographic analyses conducted in the journals reveal that Gerontologist was the most influential source in the field. The Gerontologist journal received more citations than other journals in the field, making it a prominent source for studies on active ageing.

Limitations of the Study

The methodology used in this study followed standard bibliometric analysis practices, utilizing the WoS database. However, there are some limitations to conducting an analysis based solely on the WoS database. The exclusion of other major databases, such as Scopus and PubMed, may result in overlooking significant contributions from specific regions or disciplines. Access to studies conducted in regions or disciplines where WoS is less prevalent may be limited. This could restrict the comprehensiveness of the research and introduce potential bias.

Nevertheless, WoS was chosen for this study due to its high reputation and broad coverage in academic literature. By combining different databases, future research could offer a broader and more interdisciplinary perspective. Such an approach could provide a more holistic view of active ageing research, reflecting regional and disciplinary diversity better. Despite this limitation, the study's findings offer valuable insights into understanding key trends and research gaps in active ageing.

Another limitation of this study was that the search was restricted to three specific keywords, which may limit the comprehensiveness of the analysis. Related terms, such as "productive ageing," could also be relevant and capture additional studies pertinent to active ageing. Future research could incorporate a broader range of keywords to ensure a more thorough exploration of the literature on ageing. Addressing this limitation in subsequent studies may provide further insights into active ageing and its various dimensions.

CONCLUSION

This bibliometric analysis sheds light on the overall development and trends in research on the concept of active ageing. The number and impact of studies on active ageing have increased, indicating a growing interest in the subject and its significant position in the scientific literature. Most studies focus on the sustainable development goals, particularly the goals of a healthy and quality life. This underscores the importance of active ageing as a crucial component of sustainable living. The leadership role of Spain in this field and the United Kingdom's status as the most cited country are noteworthy. The studies on the concept of active ageing cover various topics, including palliative care, nutrition and dietetics, and social psychology, indicating the multidimensional nature of the subject. A significant portion of the studies in this field were published in the Gerontologist journal, highlighting its contribution to the topic.

Based on the results of this study, the following recommendations can be made for future research on the topic of active ageing: To gain a more comprehensive and in-depth understanding, collaboration with colleagues from different disciplines and countries can be fostered, increasing the diversity of studies in this field. Active ageing research can be further associated with sustainable development goals, potentially encouraging a stronger focus on developing health policies and practices. The significance and impact of studies in this field have substantial potential to enhance the quality of life for the future elderly population and promote their societal contributions. Additionally, as the active ageing research continues to grow, there is an opportunity to influence global and national policies focusing on preventative health measures, public health policy, and social inclusion for the elderly. Aligning research with these policy priorities will help shape interventions that improve individual outcomes and reduce the societal burden associated with ageing populations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Concflict of Interest: The authors report no declarations of interest.

Financial Support: No support has been received for this study.

Ethical Declaration: Since this bibliometric analysis was a literature review, ethical approval was not required to execution the study. However, the research was conducted with ethical principles, such as respecting copyright and using data with proper citation. Any research or data collection processes involving humans or animals were excluded from this study. The methodology and limitations of the study have been clearly stated, and the results of the study are presented in an unbiased manner.

Author Contrubition: Concept: PD, ŞÖ, Design: PD, ŞÖ, Supervising: PD, Data collection and entry: ŞÖ, Analysis and interpretation: PD, Literature search: PD, ŞÖ, Writing: PD, ŞÖ, Critical review: PD.

REFERENCES

- Barbabella F, Cela E, Socci M, Lucantoni D, Zannella M, Principi A. Active ageing in Italy: A systematic review of national and regional policies. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 2022;19(1):600.
- World Health Organization. Ageing and Health, 2022, 1 Oct [online]. Available at https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-andhealth Accessed 8 September 2023.
- Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu. İstatistiklerle Yaşlılar, 2022 [online]. Available at https://data.tuik. gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=%C4%B0statistiklerle-Ya%C5%9Fl%C4%B1lar-2022-49667&dil=1 Accessed October 17, 2023.
- 4. World Health Organization. Active ageing: a policy framework, 2002 [online]. Available at https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/67215 Accessed September 8, 2023.
- Cox C. The sustainable development goals and aging: Implications for social work. J. Hum. Rights Soc. Work. 2020;5:39-47.

- United Nations. Sustainable Development Goals. United Nations. [online]. Available at https:// sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/ transformingourworld Accessed September 8, 2023.
- Avcı C, Erhan G. Ageing versus active aging: how old age is represented in children's books. Educ. Gerontol. 2022;48(4):145-159.
- 8. Puspitasari MD, Rahardja MB, Herartri R, Surbakti IM. Managing age-related disability in Indonesia: An issue that extends beyond the concept of active aging. J. Aging Soc. Policy. 2023;35(6):1-17.
- Brüchert T, Quentin P, Baumgart S, Bolte G. Barriers, facilitating factors, and intersectoral collaboration for promoting active mobility for healthy aging—a qualitative study within local government in Germany. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 2021;18(7): 3807.
- 10. Abud T, Kounidas G, Martin KR, Werth M, Cooper K, Kyaw-Myint P. Determinants of healthy ageing: a systematic review of contemporary literature. Aging Clin. Exp. Res.. 2022;34:1215-1223.
- 11. Cheng H, Yang Z, Ren Y. Understanding elderly rural stayers in China: A new model for active ageing. Tour. Manag. Perspect. 2022;43(100995).
- 12. Aung MN, Koyanagi Y, Ueno S, Tiraphat S, Yuasa M. A contemporary insight into an age-friendly environment contributing to the social network, active ageing and quality of life of community resident seniors in Japan. J Aging Environ. 2021;35(2):145-160.
- 13. Barbabella F, Cela E, Di Matteo C, et al. New multilevel partnerships and policy perspectives on active ageing in Italy: a national plan of action. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health. 2020;17(24):9585.
- 14. Andres A. Measuring Academic Research: How to Undertake a Bibliometric Study. 1st Edition ed. Chandos Publishing; 2009.
- Cleland J, MacLeod A, Ellaway RH. CARDA: Guiding document analyses in health professions education research. Med. Educ.2023;57(5):406-417. doi:10.1111/medu.14964
- 16. Gilleard C, Higgs P. Gerontology versus Geriatrics: Different Ways of Understanding Ageing and Old Age. In: Scarre G, ed. The Palgrave Handbook of the Philosophy of Aging. Palgrave Macmillan; 2016.
- Zaidi A. Active aging and active aging index. In: Gu D, Dupre ME, eds. Encyclopedia of Gerontology and Population Aging Springer International Publishing; 2022:chap 32-36.
- 18. World Health Organization. Percentage of total population aged 80 years or over, 2023 [online]. Available at https://platform.who.int/data/ maternal-newborn-child-adolescent-ageing/

indicator-explorer-new/MCA/percentage-oftotal-population-aged-80-years-or-over Accessed December 25, 2023.

- 19. Ministry of Social Rights, Consumer Affairs and 2030 Agenda of Spain. Spain's new National Strategy for a new model of care in the community: a deinstitutionalisation process. Global Observatory of Long-Term Care, Care Policy and Evaluation Centre, London School of Economics and Political Science blog. 2024, 21 June, 2024.
- Ruiz-Clavijo ABC, Diez ER. Social planning for ageing within the framework of the decade of healthy ageing (2020-2030). Revista de Gestão Social e Ambiental. 2024;18(7):e06027-e06027. doi:10.24857/rgsa. v18n7-033

- 21. Macia ES, del-Carmen-Segura M, Paz EC. Challenges of the aging policies in Spain. Humanities and Social Sciences. 2018;6(5):143-149.
- 22. NIHR. National Institute for Health and Care Research. 2024. [online]. Available at https:// www.nihr.ac.uk/about-us/who-we-are Accessed September 28, 2024.
- 23. Centre for Ageing Better. Centre for Ageing Better: Action today for all our tomorrows. [online]. Available at https://ageing-better.org.uk/about-us Accessed September 28, 2024.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Malignancy risk in diabetes; a population study based on electronic health records

ம Mustafa Mahir Ülgü¹, ២ Mestan Emek² , 🕩 Mustafa Kemal Balcı³, ២ Kemal Hakan Gülkesen⁴

¹Assoc. Prof., Ministry of Health, Ankara, Türkiye

²Assist.Prof., Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Akdeniz University, Antalya, Türkiye
 ³Prof., Division of Endocrinology, Faculty of Medicine, Akdeniz University, Antalya, Türkiye
 ⁴ Assoc. Prof., Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Akdeniz University, Antalya, Türkiye

Received: 20.05.2024, Accepted: 14.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: To document the risk of the most common types of malignancies in people with diabetes compared to the people without diabetes.

Methods: The data source of this study is the national electronic health records system of Türkiye (e-Nabız). We analysed only the data of people over 14 years old in 2019. All the people with ICD-0-3 codes recorded for the first time in 2019 were accepted as new tumour cases. Tumours with /3 behaviour codes were accepted as malignant.

Results: We detected 6,775,054 (10.6%) people with diabetes and 57,167,598 people without diabetes in our database. There were 63,696 new malignant cases in the group with diabetes and 123,662 new malignant cases in the group without diabetes. The total number of malignant tumours was 187,358. All types of major tumours seem to have increased risk. Pancreas cancer has the highest OR (odds ratio), 4.02 (3.71-4.36, 95% confidence interval), and larynx cancer has the lowest OR, 1.29 (1.19-1.41). OR for the presence of any malignancy in a person with diabetes is 1.87 (1.85-1.89).

Conclusion: All major types of malignant tumours have an increased incidence in people with diabetes. The results confirm the presence of a relationship between diabetes and malignancy.

Keywords: Neoplasms, Malignant, Diabetes Mellitus, Electronic Health Records

Correspondence: Assoc. Prof., Kemal Hakan Gülkesen, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Akdeniz University, Antalya, Türkiye. **E-mail:** hgulkesen@gmail.com, **Phone**: +90 532 775 79 10

Cite This Article: Ülgü MM, Emek M, Balcı MK, Gülkesen KH. Malignancy risk in diabetes; a population study based on electronic health records. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 255-262.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u> This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is a systemic disease that has harmful effects on a series of physiologic processes in the human body. An increased risk of malignancy in diabetes was identified in the 1960s in population-based studies. There are some explanations for the mechanism of the development of malignancy Some researchers suspect diabetes. in shared risk factors in both diseases, such as age, sex, obesity, and dyslipidemia. There are several other suggested mechanisms for carcinogenesis in diabetes, including the direct effect of hyperglycemia, but their mechanisms are unclear vet¹. Some studies have shown increased risks of some cancers after adjusting for other confounding factors, such as obesity and dyslipidemia. Possibly both types of factors are responsible together for carcinogenesis. Growth hormones. insulin resistance, inflammatory cytokines, adipokines, and hyperlipidemia are some of the variables that influence the development of obesity and diabetes. By controlling several signaling pathways, the metabolic anomalies linked to variations in these components' levels in obesity and diabetes may play a major role in the initiation and spread of cancer². Insulin resistance linked to type 2 diabetes is known to adversely affect some important genetic and metabolic factors that may ultimately result in neoplastic transformation³. Additionally, some antidiabetics may increase the risk of cancer. There are also studies reporting a decreased risk of cancer by metformin⁴.

Cancer risk is increased in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Studies suggest an association between type II diabetes and cancer in many organs, such as the endometrium, breast, stomach, colorectum, pancreas, liver, and blood⁵. Interestingly, prostate cancer is reported to have a lower incidence in people with diabetes⁶. Overall cancer incidence among people with diabetes is 10–20% higher than among those without diabetes⁷. Previous reports on the risk of major cancer types in diabetes are summarized in Table 1.

There may be also a sex difference on the effect of diabetes on cancer. According to a meta-analysis, the pooled adjusted RR for all-site cancer associated with diabetes was 1.27 (95% CI 1.21, 1.32) in women and 1.19 (1.13, 1.25) in men. Women with diabetes had 6% greater risk compared with men with diabetes (the pooled RRR was 1.06, 95% CI 1.03, 1.09)²⁴.

Türkiye has cancer registry centers, and the Ministry of Health publishes annual cancer statistics. The last cancer statistics book presented the data for 2018²⁵. According to this report, cancer incidence is 283 for men and 232 for women per 100,000. The most common cancer types are lung, prostate, and colorectal in men and breast, thyroid, and colorectal in women.

The incidence of diabetes-related cancer has not been sufficiently studied in the Turkish population. There is only one study, a cohort study, conducted in the İzmir region²⁶. In total, 1643 people with diabetes and 14,226 people without diabetes were followed up for diabetes-related cancer development in the following six years. According to the results of the study, diabetes-related cancer incidence was significantly higher in men with diabetes than without diabetes. No statistically significant increase in malignancy in women with diabetes compared to women without diabetes was observed. This study aims to document the risk of the most common types of malignancies in people with diabetes compared to people without diabetes based on national electronic health records (EHR).

Table 1. Summary of some studies reporting the risk of malignancy in diabetes. OR: Odds ratio, RR: Relative risk, SIR: Adjusted standardized incidence ratio

Type of malignancy	Year	Type of diabetes	Study design	Risk (95% CI)
Oral	2021	Both	Meta-analysis	OR: 1.41 (1.10-1.81) ⁸
Head and neck	2021	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.04 (0.88-1.23) ⁹
Pharynx	2021	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.18 (0.94-1.49) ⁸
Stomach	2022	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.17 (1.02-1.34) ¹⁰
Colon	2011	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.27 (1.21-1.34) ¹¹
Liver	2012	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 2.31 (1.87-2.84) ¹²
Pancreas	2011	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.94 (1.66-2.27) ¹³
Larynx	2021	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.03 (0.88-1.22) ⁹
Lung	2020	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.10 (0.99-1.23) ¹⁴
Malignant melanoma	2014	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.15 (1.00-1.32) ¹⁵
Breast	2023	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.20 (1.05-1.36) ¹⁶
Uterus	2019	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.72 (1.48-2.01) ¹⁷
Ovary	2020	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.20 (1.10-1.31) ¹⁸
Prostate	2013	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 0.86 (0.80-0.92) ⁶
Kidney	2013	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.40 (1.16-1.69) ¹⁹
Bladder	2013	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.35 (1.17-1.56) ²⁰
Thyroid	2017	Both	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.20 (1.09-1.33) ²¹
Hodgkin disease	2012	Type 2	Meta-analysis	OR: 1.02 (0.86-1.19) ²²
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2020	Type 1	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.55 (1.15-2.08) ²³
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	2020	Type 2	Meta-analysis	RR: 1.20 (1.12-1.30) ²³

METHOD

This study has been reported according to the RECORD Statement. The data source of this study is the national EHR system of Türkiye, e-Nabız (https://enabiz.gov.tr/). At the end of 2019, the system was storing the health data of 62,442,436 (97.7%) of 63,942,652 citizens over 14 years old.

We analysed only the data of people over 14 years old in 2019. First, we detected all the people who had diabetes. Our criteria for having diabetes mellitus were 1) having an HbA1c over 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) or 2) having a prescription with a diabetes mellitus diagnosis, with ICD-10 codes E10-E14. If only metformin is prescribed, the person is considered not to have diabetes because it is used in "prediabetes" and other indications²⁷, or 3) having at least two fasting blood sugar measurements over 126 mg/dl. The fasting blood sugars that were ordered from an emergency department or between 13.00 and 8:00 were excluded. The data was scanned from April 2015 to the end of 2019. e-Nabız system started in April 2015, and we do not have reliable data before this date. All the citizens without diabetes over 14 years old are in the comparison group. The pathology reports in the system were checked for the presence of any ICD-O-3 codes. If a patient had an ICD-O-3 code in 2019, their data were checked for the presence of the same code in previous years (2015-2018). All the people with ICD-0-3 codes recorded for the first time in 2019 were accepted as new tumour cases for calculating 2019 incidences. Tumours with /3 behaviour codes were accepted as malignant.

This study was performed in line with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Approval was granted by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Akdeniz University.

The data were analysed by Microsoft Excel 2016. Calculating the pooled (age and sexadjusted) odds ratio and its confidence intervals were performed by the logit method Morris and Gardner described²⁸. In the case of zero cases in any category, the number was entered as 0.001 in Excel to prevent division by zero errors. Odds ratios with their 95% confidence Intervals have been calculated.

RESULTS

We detected 6,775,054 (10.6%) people with diabetes and 57,167,598 people without

diabetes in our database. There were 63,696 new malignant cases; 29,663 women and 34,033 men in the group with diabetes. There were 123,662 new malignant cases; 56,971 women and 66,691 men in the group without diabetes. The total number of malignant tumours was 187,358.

Age and sex-adjusted incidences of tumours in the population with diabetes and the population without diabetes are compared in Table II and Figure 1. All the tumours seem to have an increased risk. Pancreas cancer has the highest OR, 4.02 (3.71-4.36), and larynx cancer has the lowest OR, 1.29 (1.19-1.41). Men are more likely than women to develop certain cancers, such as colorectal, liver, pancreatic, thyroid, and other malignancies, as well as Hodgkin disease and non-Hodgkin lymphomas. Age and sex-specific incidences and ORs for each type of malignancy are presented in supplementary file.

Table 2. Age and sex-adjusted incidence (per 100,000) and pooled odds ratio of some malignant tumours in the populations with diabetes and without diabetes.

with diabetes and without diabetes.									
Type of tumour	Female			Male			Total		
	DM	Non-DM	OR (95% CI)	DM	Non-DM	OR (95% CI)	DM	Non-DM	OR (95% CI)
Oral and pharynx cancers (C00-C14)	9.8	4.7	1.70 (1.53-1.88)	19.8	7.4	1.86 (1.72-2.03)	14.8	6.1	1.80 (1.69-1.92)
Stomach cancer (C16)	21.2	10.0	1.73 (1.61-1.85)	36.0	18.0	1.72 (1.63-1.81)	28.5	14.0	1.72 (1.65-1.79)
Colorectal cancer (C18-C20)	35.7	16.9	1.94 (1.84-2.03)	65.7	24.7	2.26 (2.17-2.35)	50.6	20.8	2.12 (2.06-2.19)
Liver cancer (C22)	10.5	4.4	2.17 (1.97-2.39)	19.1	6.2	2.72 (2.51-2.94)	14.8	5.3	2.48 (2.34-2.64)
Pancreas cancer (C25)	7.4	2.1	3.47 (3.06-3.93)	12.8	2.6	4.49 (4.03-5.00)	10.1	2.3	4.02 (3.71-4.36)
Larynx cancer (C32)	0.9	0.6	1.42 (1.03-1.95)	9.8	7.2	1.29 (1.18-1.41)	5.3	3.9	1.29 (1.19-1.41)
Lung cancer (C34)	22.1	11.8	1.67 (1.57-1.78)	91.5	52.1	1.55 (1.50-1.60)	56.7	31.9	1.57 (1.53-1.62)
Malignant melanoma (C44)	1.4	0.9	1.48 (1.14-1.91)	2.5	1.1	1.95 (1.56-2.43)	1.9	1.0	1.73 (1.46-2.05)
Breast cancer (C50)	108.7	58.2	1.70 (1.65-1.76)	1.9	0.8	1.82 (1.40-2.36)	55.5	29.6	1.70 (1.65-1.76)
Uterus cancer (C54)	19.8	8.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.38 (2.22-2.56)
Ovary cancer (C56)	9.4	3.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	2.26 (2.00-2.54)

Table 2. (countinue) Age and sex-adjusted incidence (per 100,000) and pooled odds ratio of some malignant tumours in the populations with diabetes and without diabetes.

populations with diabetes and without diabetes.									
Prostate cancer (C61)	-	-	-	55.7	40.7	-	-	-	1.35 (1.30-1.40)
Kidney cancer (C64)	8.0	3.4	1.96 (1.75-2.20)	19.0	7.1	2.17 (2.00-2.35)	13.5	5.3	2.10 (1.96-2.24)
Bladder cancer (C67)	5.6	3.8	1.41 (1.26-1.58)	41.0	23.2	1.64 (1.57-1.62)	23.2	13.5	1.61 (1.54-1.68)
Thyroid cancer (C73)	44.0	22.0	1.74 (1.64-1.84)	20.4	6.4	2.21 (2.01-2.44)	32.3	14.2	1.84 (1.76-1.94)
Hodgkin disease (C81)	5.3	1.3	2.84 (2.26-2,58)	17.2	1.8	4.72 (3.97-5.62)	11.2	1.5	3.93 (3.42-4.52)
Non Hodgkin lymphoma (C82- C86, C96)	9.7	4.0	1.92 (1.73-2.14)	23.8	5.3	2.61 (2.38-2.86)	16.7	4.6	2.29 (2.14-2.46)
Other malignant tumours	180.2	74.0	1.96 (1.91-2.01)	282.2	67.0	2.24 (2.18-2.30)	231.1	70.5	2.09 (2.05-2.13)
All malignant tumours (C00-C97)	499.6	229.6	1.87 (1.84-1.90)	718.2	271.5	1.88 (1.85-1.90)	608.5	250.5	1.87 (1.85-1.89)



Figure 1: Age and sex-adjusted odds ratios of major malignancies in 6.8 million people with diabetes compared to 57.2 million people without diabetes. Lines representing confidence intervals are not visible for some tumours due to being too narrow.

DISCUSSION

The incidences of all the common malignancies were higher in people with diabetes compared to people without diabetes. Larynx cancer has the lowest OR, while pancreatic cancer has the highest. The odds ratio for the presence of any malignancy in a person with diabetes is 1.87 (1.85-1.89). We preferred to use the odds ratio as the risk factor to apply the pooled odds ratio method in Morris and Gardner's study to adjust it for age and sex²⁸. OR is very close to RR when incidence is low, so they can be accepted as the same in practice, to compare our results to the literature.

Liver, colon, pancreas, breast, endometrium, ovary, kidney, bladder, thyroid malignancies, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma were known to have a high risk in diabetes. A meta-analysis on pancreas cancer¹³ reports 1.9 RR, which is quite lower than our results. However, another meta-analysis with only Chinese studies²⁹ reports a 3.7 RR, which is close to our result. This situation suggests the presence of genetic and/or environmental factors in the pathogenesis of pancreas cancer in diabetes. Our results are very close to the previous meta-analyses of liver¹², and bladder²⁰. The risk of colorectal carcinoma (2.1 vs. 1.3)¹¹, breast cancer (1.7 vs. 1.2)¹⁶, ovary cancer (2.3 vs. 1.2)¹⁸, kidney cancer (2.1 vs. 1.4)¹⁹, thyroid cancer (1.8 vs. 1.2)²¹, and non-Hodgkin lymphoma $(2.3 \text{ vs. } 1.2)^{23}$ are higher than the reported risks in the literature.

Some of the malignancies such as stomach (1.72 in our study vs. 1.10¹⁰ in the literature), larynx (1.29 vs. 1.03⁹), lung (1.57 vs. 1.10¹⁴), malignant melanoma (1.73 vs. 1.15¹⁵), and Hodgkin's disease (3.93 vs. 1.02²²), were reported as having no risk or a minimal increase in risk in diabetes. However, all these tumours have an increased risk in our data. Additionally, the total incidence of malignancy is increased by an OR of 1.87 (1.85-1.89), in contrast to the suggested 10-20% increase⁷.

Prostate cancer was reported to have a lower risk in people with diabetes⁶, but we have found an increased risk with an OR of 1.35 (1.30-1.40). This result is confusing, but it may be due to genetic or environmental factors. An increased risk of prostate cancer in Asian men (RR: 1.72) was reported in a meta-analysis³⁰.

We also analyzed if there is a sex difference in the effect of diabetes on cancer. According to a previous meta-analysis²⁴, women with diabetes had 6% greater risk compared with men with diabetes. We did not observe a general risk difference between men and women. In the meta-analysis, they observed a higher liver cancer risk in men. We observed the same pattern in our dataset. Additionally, we observed that men are more likely than women to develop colorectal, pancreatic, thyroid, and other malignancies, as well as Hodgkin disease and non-Hodgkin lymphomas. On the other hand, they observed an increased risk of oral, kidney, and stomach cancers in women, but our results have not confirmed this relation. The differences in these results may be due to genetic and environmental differences, sample size, and the absence of some confounding factors in our dataset.

This study examined the relationship *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

between diabetes and cancer in Türkiye for the first time through national health records. Although the study has limitations, it provides us with valuable information due to the large volume of data. As the study was carried out on a large population, confidence intervals are very narrow. Some malignancies that revealed suspicious results in previous studies showed prominently increased risks. The increased risks in this study may be related to local and genetic factors for some of the malignancies and may not be generalizable to other countries. EHR systems are relatively new, and the quality of data in these systems is not excellent yet. Our system is also unsuitable for investigating causal relations because the data starts from 2015. In the future, with the accumulation of longitudinal data and better data quality in EHRs, we expect the scientific community to produce more information about diabetes and other diseases.

When we were extracting data for the study, the 2020 data was complete; however, we considered that the incidence of tumours must be lower than usual because of decreased patient admission during the COVID pandemic. Therefore, we preferred to work with 2019 data. Because this data is derived from the EHR, there may be questions about the reliability of the incidences in the present report. We compared our incidences to official 2018 statistics²⁵. For example, in men, cancer incidence is 316 vs. 283 (per 100,000, our report vs. 2018 report), 58 vs. 60 for lung, 44 vs. 42 for prostate, and 31 vs. 28 for colorectal cancers. In women, cancer incidence is 270 vs. 232, 66 vs. 60 for breast, 21 vs. 20 for colorectal, and 24 vs. 27 for thyroid cancer. Our incidences are close to the official cancer registry data, although there are differences of various magnitudes. The source of these differences may be the possibility of detecting old cases with new biopsies (the EHR system started in 2015, and its coverage was lower before 2019) or the possibility of some missed cases in the cancer registry. On the other hand, our method should have missed some cases because of the absence of a pathology report. According to official statistics, 91.3% of the cases have histopathological confirmation. However, these problems are valid for both people with and without diabetes. Our study is based on the data extracted from the national EHR, and this system is not specifically designed as a diabetes or cancer registry. We extracted the data from a daily operational database that may contain errors. Additionally, some data may be absent in the database, so it is possible that we could not include some diabetes or tumour cases. On the other hand, type 1 and type 2 diabetes may pose different risks to different tumours. However, we are not able to differentiate the type of diabetes in our dataset. So the results are a mixture of type 1 and predominantly type 2 diabetes. Another limitation is the absence of data related to possible confounding factors such as infections, alcohol, and smoking.

CONCLUSION

According to the results of the present study, all major types of malignant tumours have an increased incidence in people with diabetes. The population analysed in this study was larger than most previous studies, and ORs with quite narrow confidence intervals were obtained because the study is based on a national EHR system that contains 6,7 million people with diabetes and 57,2 million people without diabetes. The common risk factors for diabetes and malignancy, namely obesity and the absence of glycemic control, are serious public health problems to be fought. Health policymakers must also develop strategies for the early detection of malignancies in patients with diabetes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Support: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethical Declaration: In order to conduct the study. Ethics committee approval (dated 18.10.2020 and decision number KAEK-768) from Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Akdeniz University and written informed consent was obtained from the individuals participating in the study via online forms.

Author Contrubition: Concept: MMÜ, MKB, KHG, Design: MMÜ, MKB, KHG, Supervising: MKB, Data collection and entry: MMÜ, Analysis and interpretation: MMÜ, ME, KHG, Literature search: MMÜ, ME, KHG, Writing: MMÜ, KHG, Critical review: ME, MKB.

REFERENCES

- Kim DS, Scherer PE. Obesity, Diabetes, and Increased Cancer Progression. Diabetes Metab J. 2021 Nov;45(6):799-812.
- 2. Cebioglu M, Schild HH, Golubnitschaja O. Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for cancer: Stress or viral etiology? Infect Disord Drug Targets. 2008;8:76–87.
- 3. Vulichi SR, Runthala A, Begari N, Rupak K, Chunduri VR, Kapur S, Chippada AR, Sistla DSM. Type-2 diabetes mellitus-associated cancer risk: In pursuit of understanding the possible link. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2022 Sep;16(9):102591.
- Lv Z, Guo Y. Metformin and Its Benefits for Various Diseases. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:191.

- Blonde L, Umpierrez GE, Reddy SS, McGill JB, Berga SL, Bush M, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinology Clinical Practice Guideline: Developing a Diabetes Mellitus Comprehensive Care Plan-2022 Update. Endocr Pract. 2022 Oct;28(10):923-1049.
- 6. Peila R, Rohan TE. Diabetes, Glycated Hemoglobin, and Risk of Cancer in the UK Biobank Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2020 Jun;29(6):1107-1119
- Suh S, Kim KW. Diabetes and Cancer: Cancer Should Be Screened in Routine Diabetes Assessment. Diabetes Metab J. 2019 Dec;43(6):733-743.
- 8. Ramos-Garcia P, Roca-Rodriguez MDM, Aguilar-Diosdado M, Gonzalez-Moles MA. Diabetes mellitus and oral cancer/oral potentially malignant disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Oral Dis. 2021;27:404-421.
- 9. Yan P, Wang Y, Yu X, Liu Y, Zhang ZJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of head and neck cancer subtypes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Acta Diabetol. 2021;58:549-565.
- 10. Bae JM. Diabetes History and Gastric Cancer Risk: Different Results by Types of Follow-Up Studies. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2022 May 1;23(5):1523-1528.
- 11. Jiang Y, Ben Q, Shen H, Lu W, Zhang Y, Zhu J. Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Eur J Epidemiol. 2011;26:863-876.
- 12. Wang P, Kang D, Cao W, Wang Y, Liu Z. Diabetes mellitus and risk of hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2012;28:109-122.
- Ben Q, Xu M, Ning X, et al. Diabetes mellitus and risk of pancreatic cancer: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47:1928-1937. Yi ZH, Luther Y, Xiong GH, et al. Association between diabetes mellitus and lung cancer: Meta-analysis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2020;50:e13332.
- 14. Qi L, Qi X, Xiong H, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of malignant melanoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Iran J Public Health. 2014;43:857-866
- Lu Y, Hajjar A, Cryns VL, Trentham-Dietz A, Gangnon RE, Heckman-Stoddard BM, Alagoz O. Breast cancer risk for women with diabetes and the impact of metformin: A meta-analysis. Cancer Med. 2023 May;12(10):11703
- 16. Saed L, Varse F, Baradaran HR, Moradi Y, Khateri S, Friberg E, et al. The effect of diabetes on the risk of endometrial Cancer: an updated a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cancer. 2019 May

31;19(1):527.

- 17. Wang L, Zhong L, Xu B, Chen M, Huang H. Diabetes mellitus and the risk of ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort and case-control studies. BMJ Open. 2020 Dec 29;10(12):e040137.
- Bao C, Yang X, Xu W, et al. Diabetes mellitus and incidence and mortality of kidney cancer: a metaanalysis. J Diabetes Complications. 2013;27:357-364.
- 19. Zhu Z, Wang X, Shen Z et al. Risk of bladder cancer in patients with diabetes mellitus: an updated metaanalysis of 36 observational studies. BMC Cancer. 2013;13:310.
- 20. Li H, Qian J. Association of diabetes mellitus with thyroid cancer risk: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e8230.
- 21. Castillo JJ, Mull N, Reagan JL, Nemr S, Mitri J. Increased incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, leukemia, and myeloma in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Blood. 2012;119:4845-4850.
- 22. Wang Y, Liu X, Yan P, Bi Y, Liu Y, Zhang ZJ. Association between type 1 and type 2 diabetes and risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. Diabetes Metab. 2020;46:8-19.
- 23. Ohkuma T, Peters SAE, Woodward M. Sex differences in the association between diabetes and cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 121 cohorts including 20 million individuals and one million events. Diabetologia 61, 2140–2154 (2018).
- 24. Tolunay T, Kaygusuz S, Keskinkılıç B, Özsarı S, Gökler ME. Türkiye Kanser İstatistikleri 2018. Ankara, Halk Sağlığı Genel Müdürlüğü (General Directorate of Public Health);2022, Ankara. https://hsgm.saglik. gov.tr/depo/birimler/kanser-db/Dokumanlar/ Istatistikler/Kanser_Rapor_2018.pdf
- 25. Yilmaz Kavcar SR, Acikgoz A, Ergor G, Unal B. Evaluating the Relationship between Diabetes and Cancer in a Cohort. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2022;23:1223–1229.
- 26. Bailey CJ. Metformin: historical overview. Diabetologia. 2017;60:1566-1576.
- 27. Morris JA, Gardner MJ. Calculating confidence intervals for relative risks (odds ratios) and standardised ratios and rates. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1988;296:1313-1316.
- 28. Zhang JJ, Jia JP, Shao Q, Wang YK. Diabetes mellitus and risk of pancreatic cancer in China: A metaanalysis based on 26 case-control studies. Prim Care Diabetes. 2019;13:276-282. Gang PJ, Mo L, Lu Y, Runqi L, Xing Z. Diabetes mellitus and the risk of prostate cancer: an update and cumulative metaanalysis. Endocrine Research. 2015;40:54-61.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Land use and trihalomethanes generation in water reservoir, a case study from Istanbul, Türkiye

Busevin Öztürk ¹ .	an Günevsu² . 匝 Bekir Sami Kocaz(evbek³. [©] Safak Basa⁴. [©] Tuğb	a Ölmez Hancı⁵
-------------------------------	-----------------------------------	---	----------------

¹Prof. Dr., İstanbul University – Cerrahpaşa, Department of Geological Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ²Assoc. Prof., İstanbul University – Cerrahpaşa, Department of Environmental Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ³Prof. Dr., İstanbul University – Cerrahpaşa, Department of Medical Microbiology, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ⁴Assoc. Prof., Şafak Başa, İstanbul Water and Sewerage Administration, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ⁵Prof. Dr., İstanbul Technical University, Department of Environmental Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 01.06.2024, Accepted: 29.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: The Büyükçekmece and Terkos drinking water reservoirs occur in the European part of Istanbul, have been created by isolation of two coastal lagoon lakes from the sea, which supply approximately 25% of water consumption of the Metropolitan city.

Methods: Treated waters of these two reservoirs have quite different trihalomethanes (THMs) concentrations although being adjacent basins that range between 10 - 30 (mean 20.8) ppb for the Terkos and 20 – 65 (mean 41) ppb for the Büyükçekmece reservoir. THMs concentration in treated water for both Büyükçekmece and the Terkos reservoirs increase in the summer and decrease in the spring. Furthermore, THMs of the treated water of Büyükçekmece reservoir are so higher than those of the other reservoir waters of İstanbul.

Results: The main reason of the higher value of THMs for the Büyükçekmece reservoir water could be related to ongoing agricultural activity in the vicinity of drainage basin. Another important indicator parameter for the THM formation mechanism is Specific UV absorbance (SUVA) value, that showed both of reservoir's organics in water mostly composed with hydrophilic properties.

Conclusion: Seasonal variations of low nitrate-high THMs in summer and high nitrate-low THMs in winter in treated lake waters can be explained by nitrogen run off from the land and consumption by photosynthesis when the water reach favourable temperature in summer. High nitrogen input into the Büyükçekmece reservoir could be associated with agricultural activity in the drainage basin which controls the high amount of organic carbon formation and high THMs generation during the treatment by chlorine.

Keywords: Büyükçekmece Lake, Terkos Lake, Trihalomethanes, Agriculture, Land Use

Correspondence: Assoc. Prof., Sinan Güneysu, İstanbul University – Cerrahpaşa, Department of Environmental Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye. **E-mail:** guneysu@iuc.edu.tr , **Phone**: +90 212 473 70 70 / 20330

Cite This Article: Öztürk H, Güneysu S, Kocazeybek BS, Başa Ş, Ölmez Hancı T. Land use and trihalomethanes generation in water reservoir, a case study from Istanbul, Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 263-272.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u> This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

THMs are hazardous and carcinogenic matter which form as disinfection by-product during the water treatment by chlorine^{1,2}. There are many research papers associated with public health effects of the THMs. The main concern dealing with the THMs are related to bladder cancer on male and fetal growth, stillbirth defects on female^{3,4,5,6}. Many investigations have indicated a clear relation of bladder cancer and exposure to water disinfection by-products through ingestion, bathing, showering, and swimming in pools⁷. The allowable level of the THMs in drinking water changes from country to country or union states, for example the USA accepts 80 ppb as allowable limit, whereas EU 100 ppb. In last decades a big effort has been made by developed countries for reducing of the allowable THMs limit in drinking water⁸. However, owing to the high cost of the reducing of the THMs in drinking water, the allowable level has not been reduced to 40 ppb level.

THMs level of the drinking water of the Istanbul metropolitan is declared by its official web page of the Istanbul Water and Sewerage Administration Authority⁹ for each treatment plant on average value basis. The THMs values of treated waters of Istanbul vary between 20–40 ppb, as a special case, treated water of the Büyükçekmece reservoir reveals the highest value of THMs as being between 20 – 65 ppb.

The first aim of this study is to understand why treated water from the Büyükçekmece reservoir includes the highest THMs value whereas the treated water of the nearby Terkos reservoir, reveals the lowest value. The second aim is to explain causes of the *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)* seasonal variations of THMs in treated water of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos reservoirs. For these purposes, variation in the nitrate content through the year of both treated waters have been comparatively investigated. During the study, land use map of the both drainage basins have been prepared for a comparative analysis of basin conditions. The ISKI water quality data⁹, consisting of THMs, nitrate, chloride values of treated water of Büyükçekmece treatment plant and also the İkitelli treatment plant that purifiers the raw water of the Terkos reservoir have been used for both seasonality analyses. A land use map was prepared and calculated as percentage as settlement area, agricultural area, and forest- meadows area for both basins, using the Google earth 2023 data. Then a conceptual model explaining the variations and seasonality of THMs for two basin waters has been made on the basis of differences of land use characteristics and water chemistry.

Water supply in Istanbul

The city of İstanbul has not an important river for water supply and hence depends on collecting rain waters in seven small-sized drainage basins. Three of them occur in the Asian side and the four in the European side. Population of the İstanbul metropolitan city still increases and has reached from 3 to 18 million in the last 40 years. Today, managing of the mega city nearly equals to managing of the water resources. The city consumes 3.0 million cubic meter (Mm³) water daily, which is roughly 1.1 billion m³ water/year. However, the maximum water collection capacity of the seven water reservoirs of İstanbul is 847 million m³. The Anatolian side water reservoirs collect 337 Mm³ water (Elmali 10 Mm³, Ömerli 220 Mm³ and Darlık 107 Mm³),

whereas the European side reservoirs collect 410 Mm³ water (Büyükçekmece 148 Mm3, Terkos 162 Mm³, Sazlıdere 68 Mm³ and the Alibey 34 Mm³). Additionally, some water is taken from the Yeşilçay River to the Darlık reservoir (Figure 1).

During an extra dry season whole dam capacity of İstanbul drops to 500–600 Mm³/ year. For solving the water shortage of İstanbul two water carrying pipe lines have been constructed to transfer water from the neighbouring eastern (Melen River) and the western (Kazandere and Pabuçdere water dams) water basins (Figure 1).

The Melen basin water transfer project has been planned for a one billion cubic meter water transfer from the Melen basin to İstanbul along approximately 190 km length pipe line. After the first phase of the project roughly 400 Mm³ water/year have been transferred to İstanbul by this pipe line during the driest year of 2014. When the Melen Project completed in a few years, 1 billion cubic metre w ater will be transferred to the İstanbul.

The western water transfer structures consist of two main dams as the Pabuçdere and the Kazandere which collects totally 160 Mm³ water in forestry regions, far from the agricultural and other urban activity. This water transferred to the closest and the oldest water reservoir of İstanbul, the Terkos Dam via 60 km length pipe line (Figure 1).

Daily water treatment capacity of ISKI is 4,310,000 m³ with six treatment plants in the Asian side (2,360,000 m³) and six plants in the European side (1,950,000 m³). Water sources of the İstanbul as both internal and external are nearly equal and disinfected using chlorine in the treatment plants (Table

1). Capacity of the all-water treatment plants, treatment methods have been summarised in Table 1. Water treatment process begin as either pre-ozonisation or pre-chlorination for reducing the organics and followed by aeration-coagulation-flocculation-filtration and chlorination. Owing to high water demand of the European side of Istanbul, the Melen water was treated in the Cumhuriyetköy treatment plant in Asian side and pumped to the European side, to the Kağıthane distribution centre by a tunnel that opened under the İstanbul Strait.

Today, ISKI makes big effort for supplying water for residents of İstanbul metropolitan city that created an interconnect water network for treated water. But there are no extra chlorination stations beyond the treatment plants, once a treated water given into the system no chlorine adding into the water anymore. Pre-ozonisation aims oxidation of the organics with two exceptions, the Büyükcekmece reservoir water and Melen water. Pre-ozonisation do not apply in to the raw waters of the Büyükçekmece because of its high bromine ions. High bromine in the Büyükçekmece lake water is possibly related to salty sea water intrusion from the Marmara Sea, which may have been infiltrated from the sand bar into the coastal dam by strong squeezing force of the sea waves. As it is known, bromide oxidise to the carcinogenic bromate forms during the ozonisation therefore, this process does not use for this lake water. The explanation of the without pre-ozonisation treatment for the Melen water in Cumhurivetköv treatment plant is its low amount of organic matter content.

Two basin and two different waters

The Büyükçekmece and the Terkos drainage basin are two adjacent basins which are located in the western part of İstanbul city. Surface water of both basins were flowing into the shallow lagoon lakes, which were connected with the sea via narrow channels. Both shallow lagoon lakes were a few meters' depth isolated from the sea with earth fill– type dam structure and transformed to water reservoirs. Both reservoirs have a max depth of 7–8 m and collects 148 and 162 Mm³/year water, respectively.

Raw water of the Büyükçekmece reservoir is treated at the lake shore, whereas the Terkos reservoir water is transferred to the Tasoluk, İkitelli and Alibey treatment plants. On the other hand, 160 million cubic meters' water/ year of the Pabucdere and the Kazandere dams located outside the city is diverted into the Terkos reservoir by pipeline. These two waters collecting dams have been constructed in the area covered by forest which provides environmentally suitable conditions for a reservoir far from any settlements, industry and the agricultural activities. Seawater intrusion are characterised by chloride ion increase in reservoir of Büyükçekmece and Terkos during the dry seasons of 2014. Agricultural activity and urbanization in the Büyükçekmece basin is higher than the Terkos basin. Contrary to the Büyükçekmece, the Terkos basin is surrounded by forestmeadows land (Figure 2).



Figure 1 Main drainage basins, water reservoirs, water treatment plants and water transfer pipe lines of İstanbul.



Figure 2. Land use map of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos drainage basins.

Table 1. Physical characteristics and treatment phases of								
the water treatment plants of İstanbul city								
Treatment plant	Water source	Capacity (m³/day)	Treatment method					
Büyükçekmece	Büyükçekmece	400,000	Ch, A, C/F, F, Ch					
Cumhuriyetköy	Melen	720,000	A, Ch, C/F, F, Ch					
Ömerli	Ömerli + Melen	1100,000	A, P, C/F, F, Ch					
Osmaniye		200,000						
Muradiye		300,000						
Orhaniye		550,000						
Kağıthane	Terkos + Melen	700,000	A, P, C/F, F, Ch					
Çelebi Mehmet Han	+Allbey							
Yıldırım Beyazıd Han								
Emirli	Yeşilçay + Darlık	500,000	A, C/F, F, Ch					
İkitelli	Terkos +	800,000	A, P, C/F, F, Ch					
Fatih Sultan Meh. Han	Istranca	400,000						
II.Beyazıd Han		400,000						
Taşoluk	Terkos	50,000	A, P, C/F, F, Ch					
Elmalı	Elmalı	40,000	A, P, C/F, F, Ch					

A: Aeration P: Pre-ozonisation, C/F: Coagulation/Flocculation, F: Filtration Ch: Chlorination⁹

METHOD

Analytical Data

ISKI has analysed the raw and treated water as daily base and we used their last 5 years data. Organic carbon is defined by 5310SM, nitrates 4110SM, THMs 6232SM method¹⁰. Monthly mean values of the organic carbon, nitrates, THMs and chloride of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos water were calculated for five years period.

THMs, nitrates, organic carbon and salinity of two basin water

For a comparative analysis of the possible causes of seasonal variation in processed water of the two reservoirs a variation graph for THMs, nitrate, organic carbon and salinity has been prepared for a five-year period (Figure 3(a)–(b)).



Figure 3(a). Seasonal variations of the THMs in treated waters of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos reservoirs⁹.



Figure 3(b). Nitrate variations in treated waters of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos reservoirs⁹.



Figure 3(c). TOC variations in treated waters of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos reservoirs⁹.



Figure 3(d). Seasonal change of chloride concentrations in treated water of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos water reservoirs⁹.

RESULTS

THMs

THMs values for both reservoirs show very regular pattern as high in the summer and low in the spring season. THMs of the both reservoirs reveal a minimum value in 2018 considering the last 5 years. The lowest THMs values is in January and the highest are in June and July. This cyclic pattern should be related to the water temperature, which control the organic carbon synthesis in the lake water, that begins in April and reach the peak in August. Nitrate plays also a key role as another constituent that creates a biologicalorganic chain in the lake water in summer time (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The figure shows the change in the mean of THM versus TOC in the waters of Büyükçekmece Lake for the last 5 years.

Figure clearly indicates a marked periodicity of THMs as peaks in June and July whereas the depletion in December and January.

Nitrates

Nitrate values of the lake water do not coincide with the THMs as shown in Figure 3(b). Nitrates of the Buyukçekmece and Terkos lake reveal a lowest value in 2020. In time period of 2018 to 2022, nitrate displays a marked cyclic change (the lowest is November and the highest is April–May). A possible explanation of the lowest nitrate concentration in the treated water is completely consumption of nitrate during the creation of the organic matter in a whole suitable summer season. Another cause of nitrate depletion is limited rain and limited nitrate run off from the surrounding agricultural areas (Figure 5).



Figure 5. The figure shows the change in the mean of THM versus TOC in the waters of Terkos Lake for the last 5 years.

Organic carbon

Organic carbon content of the Terkos Basin water ranges between 3.66 and 5.85 mg/L whereas the Buyukçekmece lake ranges 4.29 to 12.21 mg/L (Figure 3c). Organic carbon values show a general enrichment at the summer season for the Terkos basin and reach top level at April and decrease to minimum point at January. On the other hand, organic carbon value of the Buyukçekmece lake reveals ondulatory pattern. The TOC values begin with 4.90 mg/L in January and drastically fall to 4.60 mg/L in April and again reach to 5.20 mg/L level int October and fall again to 4.75 mg/L level in December (Figure 6-7).

Salinity

Chloride values of the Buyukçekmece and Terkos lake water for 5 years period is shown in Figure 3(d)(Figure 3(d)). Chloride values of the Buyukçekmece Lake range between 60 to 120 mg/L which is higher than the Terkos lake (30- 80 mg/L) water because of the limited sea water dam water exchange in the Buyukçekmece Lake. Chloride values show a very well seasonality and a has a general increasing salinity trend. Salinity figure show a relative chloride peak in 2020 which is coincide with dry season for last 5 years.



Figure 6. The figure shows the change in the mean of THM versus nitrate in the waters of Büyükçekmece Lake for the last 5 years.



Figure 7. The figure shows the change in the mean of THM versus nitrate in the waters of Terkos Basin for the last 5 years.

Land Use

A zonal protection strategy for the drinking water basins has been declared by the Ministry of Water and Forestry in 2003 to be applicable to whole Turkey with minor additions by the municipalities¹¹. According to the ministry regulation, from the lake shore towards 300 meters is defined as absolute protection zone, 300 meters to 1000 meters' proximate protection zone, 1000 meters to 2000 meters mediate protection zone, and 2000 meters to the basin as remote protection zone. Some limitations have been defined in that zones regarding settlement or agricultural manner^{12,13}. For example, agricultural activity using fertilizer and organic chemicals is not allowed in these zones. However, fertilizers and pesticides more or less are widely used in all water basins and enhances if they close to market. It is also stated that nitrate inputs associated with agricultural activity or natural ways into the Ömerli water reservoirs of İstanbul and its impacts on the environmental degradations¹⁴.

ISKI also made some site planning approach for water catchment areas in 2003 where the first two zones have been banned to all constructions (0-1000 m), and third and fourth zones have been limited by 10 persons/ hectare, and 20 persons/hectare, respectively. However, controlling of agriculture or other activities of people in the water basin is so difficult, especially for expanding cities and vote-based political circumstances. Today. the agricultural activities and the population are increasing and associated pollution and eutrophication is staying a growing environmental problem for the drinking water reservoirs.

Land use map of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos basins and surface area calculations has been made from the google earth data of October 2022. The land has been divided into three areas from the picture: as forest - meadows, agriculture and settlement. Calculations from the google earth indicated that settlement area covers 9%, forestry-meadows areas 19%, and agricultural area 72% for the Büyükçekmece basin whereas, 1% settlement, 17% agricultural and 82% forest area - meadows for the Terkos Basin. These proportional comparisons clearly indicate that agriculturebased environmental degradation is a major concern for the Büyükçekmece lake basin.

Figure shows the nitrate peaks in April and is low in October. A relative nitrate depletion of the two-basin water 2020 is seen so obvious. Please note that while THMs values is low (Figure 3a) nitrate is high or vice versa. This relationship clearly indicates that nitrogen *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)* originated from the land and stored in the reservoir water during the rainy and cool season then consumed by organic matter formation in summer time that causes THMs generation (Figure 8).

A) Spring Season ($t_{\Psi} ~V^{\uparrow}$)



Figure 8. Conceptual model explaining causes of low THMs - high nitrate in summer and high nitratelow THMs in spring season in treated waters of the Büyükçekmece and Terkos reservoirs. Corg: organic carbon, t: temperature, v: volume.

DISCUSSION

High Corg

Water treatment plants of İstanbul produce up to 3.0 Mm³ per day of drinking water. Although the treatment steps of these plants reveal some differences process is usually carried out in the following order: pre-chlorination. aeration, coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, filtration and post chlorination. Pre-chlorination aims the reducing the organic matters and killing the microorganisms and pathogens that may cause the illness in humans. However, some THMs occurs during this pre-chlorination stage, then removed by following aeration processes. Removal of the whole organics in a limited time span is not possible; therefore, a final chlorination is needed to prevent regrowth of any kind of microorganism in the pipeline. For this purpose, legal limit of free chlorine at the end point of the distribution network of Istanbul city is regularly controlled by ISKI.

In addition to TOC and NO_3^- parameters in the formation of THM in chlorinated water, an important indicator is also presenting analysis of UV absorbed (UV254) and specific UV absorbance (SUVA) parameters at 254 nm. SUVA parameter is the most important organic parameter used in estimating the structure of natural organic substances in surface waters and the formation of substances such as THM that occur during chlorination^{15,16}. SUVA parameter > 3 L/mg.m indicates the presence of hydrophobic organic substances, while SUVA <3 L/mg.m indicates the presence of hydrophilic organic substances¹⁷. In the raw waters of Terkos Lake, which has the highest SUVA value, the organic compounds were found to be mostly composed of organics with hydrophilic properties.

Seasonal Variation Mechanisms

Beyond the seasonality of the THMs values, basin differences are also needed to explanation. Processed waters of the Büyükçekmece reservoir reveals the highest THMs values among the Istanbul reservoirs because of the dense agricultural activity and settlements in this drainage basin. Contrary to the Büyükçekmece, its adjacent Terkos reservoir water has the lowest THMs value because of the relatively forest- meadows nature of the drainage basin.

Land Use Impacts

The nitrate introduction via surface runoff from the agricultural-rural areas into the water reservoir possible enhance the formation of the organic matter. Beginning of the organic matter formation in the water nitrate simultaneously starts to decrease in

Particulate or dissolved organic summer. carbon possibly reacts with chlorine during the water treatment processes and causes high TMHs-bearing water (Figure 8) in summer. In fact, during the low water level in summer time, large areas of the reservoirs are exposed where vegetation quickly develops. During the high-water level period in spring, this vegetation is flooded and begins to degradation and releases dissolved organic carbon in to the water. Instead of harvesting vegetation, dredging of organic matter - rich muds may be another THMs reducing processes during the low water period in summer. Today we have no data on the organic carbon content of the raw water of the Büyükçekmece and the Terkos water reservoirs.

Health Impact Discussion

The most recent studies on the epidemiological relationship between bladder cancer and THM levels were set out many researchers¹⁸. The study shows that daily THM dose in swimming pool increased it more than three times; 1,3 μ g/day to 3,9 μ g/day according to non swimmers¹⁹. Daily water use poses a danger, especially for water with high THM levels. Taking long showers, brushing teeth and washing hands significantly increase the daily THM dose we took.

Proposed Mitigation Strategies

In this context, reducing the THMs in water can be achieved by reducing organic carbon by three ways as stated²⁰, a: using membrane filter for trapping particulate organic carbon prior to chlorination, b: harvesting vegetation along the reservoir shore line and, c: Diverting the first 24 hours of water transfer. They argued that harvesting the vegetation and removing it from the reservoir margins prior to flooding could improve water quality by

reducing THM formation.

Policy and Regulation Challenges

In addition, there is no big effort for reducing the organic matter content of the water reservoirs. Farming areas or private settlement with in the absolute protection zone have not been completely expropriated by ISKI yet. Therefore, THMs values of the raw waters possibly will not decrease owing to on-going environmental detritions in the water basins in Istanbul in near future.

CONCLUSION

Despite the public health importance of THMs, there are limited publications related to THMs levels in the drinking water of Istanbul city both international journals and local meeting abstracts^{21,22,23,24}. It is argued that THM enrichments on summer session in treated water of the Büyükçekmece reservoir is related to bromide increase in the lake water owing to evaporation²². On the other hand, increase in the THMs in treated waters of both coastal and inland reservoirs, in the summer, requires a valid explanation for the mechanism for high THMs generation.

In this context, the land use seems to main concern of the high THM generation. Preozonation should be the first process for the Büyükçekmece reservoir water in order to decrease of the organic matter and/or THM values. For this purpose, sea water intrusion has to be control or stopped by making an impermeable barrier in coastal sandy material by concrete injection.

Indications of the high THMs concentrations in public water supplies to fatal growth, stillbirth and birth weight have been studied in different regions in the world for example in England and USA^{3,25}. Similarly, health effects of THMs on residents of the western part of İstanbul should be comparatively study on the basis of bladder cancer case and other health problems.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank to ISKI (Istanbul Water and Sewerage Administration Authority) for sharing water quality test data. We also thank to research assistant Zeynep Örü for her contribution for drawing the figures.

Financial Support: No financial support has been received.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest

Ethical Declaration: The type of this study is different, ethics committee approval is not required

Author contributions: Concept and design: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH, Data collection: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH, Analysis and interpretation of data: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH, Drafting the manuscript: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH, Critical revision of the article: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH, Final approval of the article: HÖ, SG, BSK, ŞB, TÖH,

REFERENCES

- Weinberg H, Krasner S, Richardson, S, Thruston A. The Occurrence of Disinfection By-Products (DBPs) of Health Concern in Drinking Water: Results of a Nationwide DBP Occurrence Study; [online]. Available at; www.epa.gov/athens/ publications/ reports/EPA_600_R02_ 068.pdf. Accessed November 10, 2021.
- [EWG] Chlorine Pollutants at High Levels in D.C. Tap water: Tests Find Hazardous Chlorination Byproducts, Environmental Working Group. [online]. Available at; www.ewg.org/research/ chlorine-pollutants-high-levels-dc-tap-water. Accessed April 06, 2023.
- Toledano MB, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Best N, Whitaker H, Hambly P, Hoogh C, Fawell J, Jarup L, Elliott P. Relation of trihalomethane concentrations in public water supplies to stillbirth and birth weight in three water regions in England, Environ Health

Perspect 2005;113(2): 225-232.

- 4. Chang C, Ho S, Wang L, Yang C. Bladder Cancer in Taiwan: Relationship to Trihalomethane Concentrations Present in Drinking–Water Supplies. J Toxicol Environ Health A 2007;70(20): 1752–1757.
- Hoffman CS, Mendola P, Savitz DA, Herring AH, Loomis D, Hartmann KE, Singer PC, Weinberg HS, Olshan AF. Drinking water disinfection by-product exposure and fetal growth. Epidemiology 2008; 19(5): 729–737.
- Summerhayes RJ, Morgan GG, Edwards HP, Lincoln D, Earnest A, Rahman B, Beard JR. Exposure to trihalomethanes in drinking water and smallforgestational-age births. Epidemiology 2012; 23(1): 15–22.
- Villanueva C, Cantor K, Grimalt J, Malats N, Silverman D, Tardon A. Bladder cancer and exposure to water disinfection by-products through ingestion, bathing, showering, and swimming in pools. Am J Epidemiol 2007;165(2): 148–156.
- OEHHA: Draft Public Health Goal for Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment California Environmental Protection Agency. [online]. Available at; oehha.ca.gov/water/phg/ pdf/THMPHG090910.pdf. Accessed December 10, 2023.
- ISKI: Istanbul Water quality report, treatment plant water quality average values, Istanbul water and sewerage administration authority. [online]. Available at; iski.istanbul/abone-hizmetleri/ laboratuvar-hizmetleri/su-kalite-raporlari. Accessed December 10, 2023.
- American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association. Water Environment Federation. Lipps WC, Braun-Howland EB, Baxter TE, eds: Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 24th ed. Washington DC: APHA Press. 2023. p. 185-188.
- 11. ISKI: Regulations of drinking water basins. Istanbul water and sewerage administration authority. [online]. Available at; iski.istanbul/kurumsal/iskimevzuati. Accessed November 30, 2023.
- Coskun GH, Alparslan E. Environmental modelling of Omerli catchment area in Istanbul, Turkey using remote sensing and GIS techniques. Environ. Monitor. Asses. 2009;153(1–4): 323–332.
- Saatci AM. Solving Water Problems of a Metropolis. J Water Resour Protec. 2013;5(4a): 7–10.

- 14. Baykal BB, Tanik A, Gonenc E. Water quality in drinking water reservoirs of a Megacity, Istanbul. Environ Manage. 2000;26(6): 607–614.
- 15. Reckhow DA, Singer PC, Malcolm RL. Chlorination of humic materials: by-product formation and chemical interpretations. Environ Sci Technol. 1990;24 (11): 1655-1664
- Lin L, Singer PC. Factors Influencing the Formation and Relative Distribution of Haloacetic Acids and Trihalomethanes in Drinking Water. Environ Sci Technol. 2003;37(13): 2920-2928.
- 17. Edzwald J, Becker WC, Wattier KL. Surrogate Parameters for Monitoring Organic Matter and THM Precursors. American Water Works Association. 1985;77(4):122-132.
- Costet N, Villanueva CM, Jaakkola JJK, Kogevinas M, Cantor KP, King WD. Water disinfection byproducts and bladder cancer: is there a European specificity? A pooled and meta-analysis of European case-control studies. Occup Environ Med 2011. 68(5):379–385.
- 19. Ribera LF, Kogevinas M, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Grimalt JO, Villanueva CM. Patterns of water use and exposure to trihalomethanes among children in Spain, Environ Res 2010. 110(6), 571-579.
- Fram SM, Bergamaschi BA, Fujii R. Improving Water Quality in Sweetwater Reservoir, San Diego County, California. Sources and Mitigation Strategies for Trihalomethane (THM)-Forming Carbon, USGS Fact Sheet 112–01; [online]. Available at; pubs. usgs.gov/fs/fs-112-01/pdf. Accessed September 11, 2023.
- 21. Uyak V, Toroz I, Meric S. Monitoring and Modelling of Trihalomethanes (THM) for a Water Treatment Plant in Istanbul. Desal. 2005;176(1): 91–101.
- Toroz I, Uyak V. Seasonal variations of trihalomethanes (THMs) in water distribution networks of Istanbul City. Desal. 2005;176(1): 127–141.
- 23. Uyak V. Multi-pathway risk assessment of trihalomethanes exposure in Istanbul drinking water supplies. Environ Int, 2006;32(1): 12–21.
- 24. Öztürk H. Water disenfection and public health: THMs and nitrate values of the treated waters of the Ömerli and Büyükçekmece Reservoirs of İstanbul and their meanings (In Turkish). 19th Toxicology Congress; May, 17 – 19. Muğla. Clinical Toxicology Organization Publications. 2014. p. 176-183.
- 25. Porter CK, Putnam SD, Hunting KL, Riddle MR. The effect of trihalomethane and haloacetic acid exposure on fetal growth in a Maryland county. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;162(4) 334–344.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Occupational health and safety services during the pandemic from the perspective of occupational health and safety professionals working at site: A combination of questionnaire based and in-depth interview research from Türkiye

birem Dilaver¹, bNazım Ercüment Beyhun², bKübra Şahin³, bMurat Topbaş²

¹MD, Public Health Specialist, Trabzon Provincial Health Directorate, Trabzon, Türkiye ²Prof. Dr., Karadeniz Technical University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health. Trabzon, Türkiye ³MD, Public Health Specialist, Samsun Provincial Health Directorate, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 29.05.2024, Accepted: 17.10.2024

Abstract

Objective: In this study, it was aimed to determine occupational health and safety practices in workplaces in COVID-19 pandemic and assess these practices from the perspective of occupational health and safety professionals.

Methods: In this study, guestionnaire-based and in-depth interviews were used concomitantly. In the quantitative part, an electronic survey form was applied to 413 professionals. In the qualitative part, in-depth interviews were conducted with 24 professionals using a semi-structured interview form and the data were analyzed with MAXQDA.

Results: When the measures taken for mask use, social distancing and hygiene in workplaces during the pandemic were questioned, measures taken at the highest rate were related to mask use. In-depth interviews were grouped under three themes: difficulties, strengths and the effects of the pandemic. It was emphasized that difficulties were encountered in occupational health and safety implementation areas and the empowering role of professionals in the management of the process was emphasized. The disruption of routine OHS practices as a negative impact of the pandemic and the increase in OHS awareness as a positive impact were the most emphasized issues.

Conclusion: The highest precaution taken in workplaces was the use of masks. In in-depth interviews, almost all participants emphasized the difficulties encountered in occupational health and safety practices, the supportive role of professionals in the process, and the many positive and negative effects of the pandemic on practices.

Keywords: Pandemics, Occupational Health, Occupational Safety

Correspondence: MD, İrem Dilaver, Public Health Specialist, Trabzon Provincial Health Directorate, Trabzon, Türkiye. E-mail: dr.iremhekimoglu@gmail.com, Phone: +90 539 559 40 90

Cite This Article: Dilaver İ, Beyhun NE, Şahin K, Topbaş M. Occupational health and safety services during the pandemic from the perspective of occupational health and safety professionals working at site: A combination of questionnaire based and in-depth interview research from Turkiye. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 273-288.

©Copyright 2024 by the Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(=) (S)

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)
INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected all aspects of daily life. Workplaces have been influenced miscellaneously in terms of employers, employees, customers, and social repercussions during the COVID-19 pandemic.¹ Many workplaces and employers have faced difficulties due to the change in demand, supply chain, transportation and mobility and protective precautions oriented at employees.² All these difficulties have put forth once again the importance of occupational health and safety (OHS) practices in the management of the process.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, according to ILOSTAT data, the working population aged over 15 years worldwide made up 57.2% of the world population as of the year 2020.³ Many people spend a major part of their days working and being in close contact with the public and other employees.⁴ The most effective practices to protect employee health, and thus the health of the public are ensuring that the workplace is safe and healthy and taking the spread of the virus under control.^{5,6} Moreover, workplaces are effective platforms where occupational health and safety (OHS) professionals can establish sensitivity towards OHS including the spread of information among employees and their families and prevention and protection precautions aimed at decreasing the spread of infectious diseases.⁵ Apart from protecting employee health, OHS practices offered in workplaces are also important in terms of limiting the spread of the diseases in the public, preventing build-up in health services, supporting health services, and preventing workplace closures through early intervention.⁷

Due to these reasons, several national and *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

international OHS organizations rapidly published guidelines related to infection control and protection measures at the workplace and gave suggestions during the COVID-19 pandemic.^{8,9} OHS professionals, in response to these regulations, showed great effort and devotion in order to establish a safe and healthy working environment by making the workplaces take necessary precautions and regulate the workplaces accordingly.¹⁰ Scientific researches on the subject that have been conducted based on the effect of infectious diseases in the last 20 years on OHS and public health are of vital importance in terms of offering points of intervention to OHS.

Evaluating the experiences and recommendations of OHS professionals who experienced the COVID-19 pandemic can provide important clues for future pandemics. In this research, it was aimed to determine OHS practices in workplaces in the early phase of the COVID-19 pandemic and assess these practices from the perspective of OHS professionals.

METHOD

Research Type

This is a descriptive research in which qualitative and quantitative data collection methods were used concomitantly.

Research Population and Sample

The population of the study consists of occupational health and safety (OHS) professionals working in Türkiye and actively providing services during the COVID-19 pandemic. No sampling was conducted in the quantitative part of the research. An online survey form was shared with OHS professionals through social platforms, communication networks of the society and communicating with Joint Health and Safety Units (IHSU).¹¹ The data for the quantitative part of the study were collected between May 20 and June 30, 2020, after obtaining the Scientific Research Platform of the Ministry of Health, to evaluate the early period of the pandemic. During this period, a total of 440 OHS professionals participated in the quantitative part. Four hundred and thirteen surveys of good quality were included in the study. Of the participants, 277 (67.1%) were occupational safety specialists, 108 (26.2%) were occupational physicians, and 28 (6.8%) were other healthcare personnel.

Participants with whom qualitative research would be conducted were chosen from among the OHS professionals who were approved to participate in the qualitative research. Maximum variation sampling was used in selecting OHS professionals that would be included in the qualitative part of the research. The criteria that were grounded on in this sampling method were being an occupational physician/ occupational safety specialist, the form of delivery of service (within Joint Health and Safety Units or Occupational Health and Safety Units), and city where the service is provided. Participant inclusion continued until data saturation had been achieved and data started to repeat themselves. The data for the qualitative part of the study were collected between August-September 2020. Twenty-four OHS professionals were included in the qualitative part of the research. Of the participants, 13 were occupational safety specialists, 11 were occupational physicians.

Research Method

For the quantitative part of the research, a data *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)* collection form prepared by Google Forms and converted into an electronic survey form was used. Participant informed consent was obtained at the top of the electronic survey form following the explanation of research characteristics. Participants filling out the survey form were invited to the qualitative research at the end of the survey form. The questions regarding the measures taken by OHS professionals for COVID-19 in the workplace were prepared by considering the guidelines published by the Ministry of Family Labour and Social Services of the Republic of Türkiye and the recommendations for workplaces by international organizations.¹²⁻¹⁶

At the end of the first part of the study, the participants who declared that they agreed to take part in the qualitative research were called and the researcher informed the participant about the purpose, subject, general framework and interview method of the research. A written consent form was received by mail from the participants who agreed to participate in the study. The interviews were conducted by a researcher (corresponding author) with a doctoral degree in public health. A semi-structured interview form was used for in-depth interviews. The interview form had been reviewed and approved by an expert. The research was planned with a phenomenological design. The interviews preferably conducted were via video communication networks. At the beginning of the interviews, the aim of the research was explained, approval for audio recording was asked promising full confidentiality, and the interview was started after oral consent of the participant had been obtained. During the research, only audio recordings of the participants were taken. The researcher was not present at the field during the qualitative research process but took notes of the environment and interview process. While presenting participant statements, the abbreviation "OP" stood for occupational physician, "OSS" abbreviation for occupational safety specialist, and participant number were used. Interviews with OP2 and OSS6 were cut several times. The remaining interviews were conducted in a quiet environment when the participant was alone and without any interruptions. These interviews lasted for an average of 40 minutes (min: 20 minutes- max: 92 minutes). The interviews and deciphering of the audio records were performed by the researcher only.

Data Analysis

Data obtained from quantitative research were analyzed using SPSS 23.0 (spss.ktu.edu. tr) statistical package. Descriptive statistics were given as number and percentage for categorical variables and mean, standard deviation or median and minimum, maximum for numeric data. Statistical alpha significance was accepted as p<0.05. OHS professionals may provide service in more than one workplace. Since infection spread risk is higher in crowded places, the answers on the survey were asked to be given considering the workplace with the highest number of employees.

Data collection and data analysis were performed synchronously during the qualitative research. Interviews with the participants were analyzed using MAXQDA 2020 (VERBI Software, 2019). During the coding phase of the qualitative data, a code list was formed considering the literature and participant responses. A thematic code list was formed determining the categories and themes that gathered the related codes considering the differences and similarities between the codes.

Research Approval

To conduct the research, application was made on May 14, 2020, to the Scientific Research Platform of of Health, and approval was received on May 19, 2020. Ethics Committee Approval was received University, Faculty of Medicine, Scientific Research Ethics Committee (Date: 13.07.2020, Number: 24237859-473). Informed consent was confirmed by the Ethics Committee.

RESULTS

Of the participants, 277 (67.1%) were occupational safety specialists, 108 (26.2%) were occupational physicians, and 28 (6.8%) were other healthcare personnel. The mean age of professionals was 39.9±9.8 years, 297 (71.9%) were male and 116 (28.1%) were female. Professional experience as an OHS professional was 6.0 (1-36) years. Of the participants, 291 (70.5%) worked full-time, 122 (29.5%) worked part-time. The number of employees at the workplace was 250 (3-10000).

The precautions reported to have been taken by OHS professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic in terms of masks, social distancing and general hygiene practices are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. The precautions taken by OHS professionals at the workplace		
Mask use	n	%
To be worn when entering and exiting the building	399	96.6
Ensuring that employees constantly wear masks at the working environment	377	91.3
Distributing masks free of charge	372	90.1
Driver and all personnel wearing surgical masks during journeys inside the vehicle st	279	89.4
Ensuring that employees wear masks in rest areas $^{\scriptscriptstyle \dagger}$	314	76.8
Ensuring that people attending meetings in meeting halls wear masks	180	43.6
Social distance		
Re-arranging the carrying capacity of transportation vehicles considering social distance *	269	86.2
Arranging the wait line at the cafeteria considering social distance $^{\scriptscriptstyle \pm}$	291	85.1
Arranging tables in the cafeteria considering social distance st	286	83.6
Arranging the workspace considering social distance	334	80.9
Arranging the rest areas considering social distance †	312	76.3
Postponing face-to-face meetings and training until the pandemic has ended	298	72.2
Flexible shifts	243	58.8
Arranging teleconferences or remote trainings for meeting and trainings that cannot be postponed	222	53.8
Increasing the number of transportation vehicles*	166	53.2
Remote working	194	47.0
Hygiene		
Hand disinfectants at the entrances and exits of the workplace	366	88.6
Increasing the cleaning of toilets	353	85.5
Increasing the cleaning of the working environment	341	82.6
Measuring fever while entering and exiting the workplace	335	81.1
Regular disinfection of surfaces (working stations, counters, knobs, handles, devices shared, etc.)	329	79.7
Frequent cleaning of the transportation vehicles, especially the places that are touched the most*	243	77.9
Providing hand sanitizer in the cafeteria	259	75.7
Appropriate and sufficient ventilation of the environment	309	74.8
Regular disinfection of the cafeteria	253	74.0
Frequent disinfection of rest areas ⁺	282	68.9
Providing handwashing units where appropriate	282	68.3
Disinfection of all equipment used by the employees (including instruments with screens)	281	68.0
Providing single-use seasonings, forks, knives, spoons, glasses, and toothpicks in the cafeteria $^{\rm \pm}$	232	67.8
Hand disinfectant in rest areas ⁺	268	65.5
Distribution of foods and beverages as single-use food packets	209	61.1
Providing contact-free garbage bins	244	59.1
Providing disposable towels	238	57.6
Hand disinfectant in meeting halls	155	37.5

Data are presented as n (%) * Calculated for workplaces where transportation vehicles are used (N=312). ⁺ Calculated for workplaces with rest area (n=409) [‡] Calculated for workplaces with cafeteria (N=342)

Of the OHS professionals, 339 (82.1%) stated that there were employees with chronic diseases that would constitute a risk for COVID-19, and 174 (42.1%) emphasized that they had employees aged over 65 years. Figure 1 presents data on work arrangements OHS professionals made in the workplaces they offered their services for those with chronic diseases and over the age of 65 years.



Figure 1. Working arrangements performed for employees over the age of 65 years and those with chronic diseases

Figure 2 summarizes data on the evaluation of employee adjustment to the precautions taken at the workplace by OHS professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic.



Figure 2. Evaluation of the conformity of the employees to the precautions during the COVID-19 pandemic

Following the revisions made during data analysis, 36 codes were formed by combining similar conditions and differences. These codes were divided into 9 categories and 3 *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

themes (difficulties, strengths and effect) and are given in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Themes, categories and codes formed in relation to the experiences of OHS professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic

Difficulties

The difficulties experienced by OHS professionals in managing the COVID-19 pandemic at the workplace were categorized as OHS execution areas, organizing employees, OHS culture, and government approach.

a.1. OHS execution areas

All the participants stated that they faced difficulties in relation to OHS execution areas. The use of personal protective equipment (PPE) and social distancing were the two most common difficulties in relation to OHS execution areas, which were followed by training, cafeteria/rest areas, transportation vehicles, and hygiene. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of OHS application areas are as follows:

a.1.1. Personal protective equipment

"For instance, PPE is at the forefront for us, but since we made it mandatory to wear masks in this period, PPE use has become a problem. Safety goggles could not be worn due to misting. People who weld use welding masks and therefore did not want to wear pandemic masks, or they told me that since they wore pandemic masks, they did not want to wear the welding masks (OP8)".

a.1.2. Social distance

"Since mines are underground, workers must work in very close contact. In short, we could not enforce social distancing on them (OSS11)."

a.1.3. Remote training

"We cannot plan online trainings on Meet to workers. Most of them do not have internet connection at home or use smart devices or connect with these devices (OP11)."

a.1.4. Cafeteria/ rest areas

"Of course, we made some things very difficult in the implementations; before, the chairs at the rest stops were designed for five or six people. We made them all for one person. But I guess due to the structure of the society, even though we made them for one person, we found the employees sitting two people in those single seats a lot (OP2)."

a.1.5. Transportation vehicles

"Regarding the transportation vehicles, for example, while only one transportation vehicle was used before, the load increased when 2 or 3 transportation vehicles were used due to the social distancing practice. We received complaints about this from time to time (IH5)."

a.1.6. Hygiene

"For example, we suggested a hand sanitizer with a pedal at the door entrance, and the administration said why did you suggest it, we don't accept it, it's an administrative decision (OSS12)."

"You say use disinfectant, use soap, soap your

hands. How can I soap my hands, they tell me to take the product, how can I soap my hands every hour, every half hour (OSS13)."

a.2. Organizing employees

The majority of OHS professionals stated that they faced difficulties in managing symptomatic employees and those who were in contact with and organizing employees with chronic diseases. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of organizing employees are as follows:

a.2.1. Management of symptomatic employees and those in contact

"We had to receive verbal information from the workers. Since we could not reach any official records, we could not obtain full information. We called the workers every day and found out who got into contact with them. The problem was that a COVID-positive patient was cast out by the others. This was just like what happens to an HIV-positive patient. In the end, due to such exclusion, we later learned that some workers were also positive. Therefore, contact tracing of that worker, separating and following them at home took very long. Hence, infectiousness increased (OP1)."

a.2.2. Organizing those with chronic diseases

Participants stated the fundamental reasons of the difficulties faced due to workers with chronic diseases as legal uncertainties related to private sector workers, financial worries of the employers and employees, and difficulty in reaching the medical records of the employees. The statements of an occupational physician regarding the difficulties experienced in organizing those with chronic diseases are as follows: "The biggest issue we have here is the uncertainty in patients with chronic diseases. We really got exhausted. I am responsible for two factories divided by a wire fence. One of them did not victimize the workers with chronic diseases, and the workers I selected were sent home and received pay. In the other factory, these workers were sent home without pay (OP2)."

a.3. OHS culture

Another issue that OHS professionals emphasized was poor OHS culture. OHS professionals stated that the limited authority before employers due to legal regulations, which made it more difficult to manage the process. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of OHS culture are as follows:

a.3.1. Legal regulations

"All of the methods that they determined were recommendations and were not mandatory for the employers. Therefore, we were very tired of trying to impose them on employers and trying to make them implement their practices according to these guidelines. Because we had no legal basis (OP8)."

a.3.2. Employer approach

"Social distancing rules, cafeterias, transportation services, locker rooms, etc., which were important for us during the pandemic, became a problem between us and the management. Because every work to be done on these issues was called extra cost, loss of time, loss of workers, loss of labor. For this reason, we had a lot of trouble with the employer (OP8)."

a.3.3. Employee approach

"You must use these masks during work. All

employees use their masks during work, no problem. When they take a break, the masks come off. Why don't you wear the mask? They say they are on break. This is not a helmet so that you can take it off during the break, the time you should wear it is the break time. But we have seen that, unfortunately, our employees cannot even think about this (OSS9)."

a.4. Government approach

Another issue that OHS professionals stated about the difficulties they faced with the pandemic was the government's approach to workplaces in the process. There were uncertainties that arose from the fact that information on OHS practices specific to the sector could not be reached in the early period of the pandemic, there was lack of local and central cooperation with OHS professionals, OHS professionals did not get involved in the decisions-making process, and such weaknesses made it difficult for OHS professionals to manage the process. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of Government approach are as follows:

a.4.1. Uncertainties

"The state published some circular notes and bylaws, but most of them were only on paper. The state did not have a clear plan on how to implement these. The pandemic was also new to them (OSS3)."

a.4.2. Insufficient cooperation

"OHS teams had to be supported by the Ministry of Health. They should have at least called or written and asked how we dealt with the process. We did not take part in any commission. The Ministry of Health had to give us the authority with official correspondences so that we could manage the process effectively (OSS12)".

a.4.3. Lack of supervision

"Do you know that there is a control form sent by the governorate? Does the workplace comply with these rules, does it have an isolated room, does it apply the necessary social distancing rules? They came from public health centers. I found 10 deficiencies, they went before me and said thank you and left. Now, where they fill out the form and say thank you and leave, can I say you have deficiencies? So, the supervision mechanism is weak (OSS10)."

Strengths

This theme is based on the statements of OHS professionals regarding supportive factors that were effective in making OHS practices effective during the pandemic and regarding strengths in terms of OHS practices during the pandemic. The participants emphasized the supportive role of the OHS professionals, employers and government during this period.

b.1. OHS professionals

Nearly all of the participants underlined the role of OHS professionals in making OHS practices effective during this process. Among the statements of the participants, guidance, having been given an active role in the field, having taken rapid actions, professional attitude and cooperation between OHS professionals were at the forefront. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of OHS professionals are as follows:

b.1.1 Guidance and rapid action

"OHS professionals approached the matter Healthcare workers, occupational well. physicians. and retired occupational physicians dominated the issue and shared very useful information. We were really prepared due to know-how and experience. Having experienced people on board, having implemented the practices that were applied abroad by immediately translating the articles into Turkish, and having physicians in the field of OHS and those that were specifically experienced on the subject paved our way (OSS13)."

b.1.2. Staying active

"The most important thing in this process is for OHS professionals to give on-the-job talks and to be in the field constantly. As occupational safety specialists, we said that we would get posters printed and hang these posters everywhere. We constantly sent e-mails to executives and were in the field constantly. We warned the employees whenever we realized a disobedience and avoided mistakes since awareness of the top management was also raised (OSS2)."

b.1.3. Professional attitude

"When something like this happens, we grasp the severity of the event differently than a normal citizen and prepare ourselves for it immediately (OSS10)."

b.1.4. Cooperation between OHS professionals

"Obviously, when I look at my own practices, there were big factories that I took as role models, there were the experiences of my friends, we passed the experiences with them. It is written in the guidebook, but we cannot do this, how did you complete this subject (OSS6)."

b.2. Employers

Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of employers are as follows:

b.2.1. Employer participation

"In this period, since we had an advisory role, it was the management that had full responsibility in implementing and supervising the practices that we recommended. In general, it looked like occupational health professionals that did the work, but decision-makers also had an active and efficient role in this period and faced many difficulties along the process (OP8)."

b.2.2. Leadership

"The management has a big role. If the management trusts occupational health and safety, OHS team, and implements the decisions properly, then the process goes smoothly (OSS7)."

b.2.3. Service concern

"During the pandemic, OHS professionals were very effective in the workplaces where they worked. Production did not stop. In a place where 300 people work, if 30 people test positive, that factory is closed for 15 days. We stayed there in 2-3 cases and prevented it from spreading.

b.2.4. Believing in the disease

"Although we provide training, as I said, we want them to take precautions against something they have not seen. After the cases happened, they became more aware (OSS7)."

b.3. Government

In terms of strengthening the process, the notification role of the government, official

regulations and being a role model were emphasized. Some of the statements of the participants related to the codes evaluated in the category of government are as follows:

b.3.1. Guidance

"I think the Ministry of Health was the most active. The publications and booklets given by it. For example, I think there was a lot of dirty information on television (OSS4).

b.3.2. Role model

"The Minister of Health sat tall in the saddle, appeared on tv regularly and gave speeches related to the subject. I heard at the construction site that the workers were persuaded by the effort of the Minister of Health to at least wear the mask. His attitude really affected their attitude (OSS8).

b.3.3 Official regulation

"If it were not for the State's precautions, ours would be left hanging in the air. When the State adopted a decision, it was easier for us and more acceptable and convincing for the public to obey the regulations (OP2)."

Effects

OHS professionals also elaborated upon the negative and positive effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on OHS practices.

c.1. Negative

OHS professionals stated that, routine OHS practices such as training/meeting, monitoring health, field visits, drill, engineering practices were halted and additionally, new health risks emerged in this period:

c.1.1 Training/meeting

"We used to hold monthly meetings to prevent occupational accidents in the hospital. These meetings were cancelled during the pandemic, and only meetings oriented at the pandemic were held (OSS12)."

c.1.2. Monitoring health

"It has many negative aspects. I cannot even get the tests that I need to write a medical report. For instance, we could not get respiratory function tests performed because everyone would blow into a device and might increase COVID-19 infection risk. However, if I do not know the person's respiratory function, I cannot decide if he/she is healthy (OSS9)."

c.1.3. Field visits

"We could not be in the field. The specialist or authorized person did not want to get into the field since we did not know who had it. The field was uncontrolled, and we could not take the necessary actions in the field (OSS7)."

c.1.4. Drill

"Earthquake drill, fire drill, their trainings, periodic examinations, normal occupational health and safety trainings were all interrupted. We were not able to perform our normal, regular responsibilities (OP11)."

c.1.5. Engineering practices

"All specialists had to focus on the health part of the job due to COVID-19. We are all skipping the technical part of our job. We focus more on social distance, contact, mask etc. There may be a problem with our electricity system, but we are all focused on coronavirus, which is a negative effect of the pandemic (OSS4)."

c.1.6. New health risk

"Allergies increased; eye dryness increased also. There are more cases of allergic dermatitis and eczematous reactions (OP1)."

c.2. Positive

The participants also emphasized some positive aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic on OHS. The participants focused on the fact that OHS awareness of the employees and employers increased, more importance was attached to hygiene, OHS professionals gained experience regarding management of infectious diseases, and vigilance of the employees in terms of risks and dangers increased:

c.2.1. OHS awareness

"Firms once again understood the importance of occupational health and safety and realized that it was teamwork. During the pandemic, the team that followed all protective precautions and the health of the workers comprised of 3 individuals: the occupational safety specialist, occupational physician, and the assistant healthcare worker. Therefore, they realized what this team meant in a factory. Now, they pay more attention to what we say (OP1)."

c.2.2. Hygiene

"People give more importance to hygiene now. This is an advantage for us to prevent the spread of COVID-19 and other infectious diseases (OSS3)."

c.2.3. Experience

"I realized that I was weak in matters on health. I had to improve myself. I am more informed now. Because I have researched, made risk analyses and emergency plans. These made me to become more aware of matters on health (OSS4)."

c.2.4. Increase in attention/vigilance

"People are more attentive now. They also try not to go to hospital. They are more careful when they do their jobs. Occupational accidents really decreased in this period. We did not dismiss any workers or reduced manufacturing capabilities. But we saw a decrease in occupational accidents. We are of the opinion that workers now do their jobs more carefully, of course we will be evaluating further in the future (OSS3)."

DISCUSSION

When the density of the working population and the crowdedness and mobility of the working environments are considered, workplaces become focal points in controlling such a pandemic. OHS professionals assumed a fundamental role in terms of implementing the precautions and transmitting information to employees and employers. Therefore, this research presents valuable information in connection to the practices and opinions of OHS professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, national and international guides indicating the rules to be followed were published so that OHS professionals and employers could arrange the workplaces.^{4,10,12} Within the scope of the research, the precautions taken by OHS professionals during the pandemic were questioned. This research showed that precautions that also appeared in the media including mask, distance and hygiene were more commonly implemented when compared to precautions that would require high cost or prevent the offering of services, like working with less personnel. In the study by Ishimaru et al. the most common workplace measure was to encourage the wearing of masks at work, followed by requesting employees not to go to work when ill and restricting workrelated social gatherings and entertainment. In contrast, encouraging remote working was reported to be much less common.¹⁷ In the

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

study conducted by Asaoka et al. the most common precautions were hand washing, use of disinfectants, use of masks, and temperature measurement, while the least common precautions were shifting work, remote working, changing the working environment, and restrictions on cafeteria use.¹⁸ In the study by Sasaki et al. hand washing, encouraging finger alcohol disinfection, and encouraging wearing masks were implemented over 80%, while shift work, encouraging remote work and working from home, changing the working environment (table layout, flow lines, etc.), restrictions on the use of cafeterias, and waiting at home for employees with a history of being abroad were reported to be implemented in less than 30% of the enterprises.¹⁹ Like this study, it has been reported in the literature that mask, distance and hygiene measures are implemented at higher rates than measures such as shift work and organizing the work environment. The combined application of the recommended measures to stop the spread of COVID-19 infection in workplaces significantly reduces the risk of infection compared to their single use.^{20,21} Therefore, as reported in the literature and in this study, it is thought that the implementation of some measures at workplaces at a much lower rate than others may be an obstacle in terms of preventing the spread of infection.

Apart from these precautions that involved workplace arrangements, it was decided with official regulations following the first case in our country that employees over the age of 60 years and with chronic diseases in state institutions would be on administrative leave.²²⁻²⁴ However, a legal regulation was not made for those working in the private sector. It was detected in the research that the manner of work for those over the age of 60 years and with chronic diseases varied from one workplace to another. These practices were in terms of paid leave, unpaid leave, and administrative leave. COVID-19 pandemic deepened the inequality between the sectors and institutions regarding employees' access to paid sick leave.^{25,26} The findings of this research underline that employees with chronic diseases that constitute a risk for COVID-19 do not have equal conditions in protecting one's health and benefiting from financial rights and draw attention to another aspect of inequality in health.

In the second part of the research, experiences of OHS professionals regarding OHS practices during the COVID-19 pandemic were evaluated with semi-structured interviews. All the OHS professionals indicated that they faced difficulties in OHA practices during the COVID-19 pandemic. Difficulties with PPE and social distance were at the forefront. A factor that should be elaborated on is the compelling effect of other OHS practices related to the work itself on OHS practices related to the pandemic. This finding points to important intervention areas in terms of employee health and safety.

OHS professionals had a key role in being prepared against COVID-19 in the workplaces they offer their services and in intervening when there were possible/definite cases at the workplace.²⁷ To achieve this, OHS professionals needed to access credible information regarding the medical statuses of the employees. In this research, OHS professionals pointed out that they could not have access to official test results of those applying to hospital due to symptoms and could not isolate those who were symptomatic or had contact with a positive case until their status became

clear. This situation points to organizational weakness in the management of workplaces during the pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic has shown that the best way to implement OHS precautions is effective cooperation between the employers, employees, and governments²⁸. In this research, the participants indicated OHS professionals, employers and the state as the factors that contribute to OHS practices to come though during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nearly all of the participants in this research emphasized the role of OHS professionals in the efficiency of OHS practices during this process. There were statements expressing that rapid actions needed to be taken by OHS professionals at the workplace and be constantly active during the process.

In the research, many positive and negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on OHS were indicated by OHS professionals. When negative effects of the COVID-19 on OHS were evaluated, nearly all of the participants stated that routine OHS practices were badly influenced by the pandemic. During the COVID-19 pandemic, while risk factors against which measures should be taken at workplaces continued, OHS professionals, employers, and employees also faced the risks brought by COVID-19. This research found that most of the OHS professionals diverted their attention to precautions against the pandemic trainings, employment examination, and follow-up of employees with chronic diseases, examinations and tests including intermittent control examinations, field visits, meetings, drills, engineering practices were put on the backburner. Each OHS practice offered at the workplace is separately and interrelatedly important for employee health. A setback in one of these precautions may generate a serious threat for the health and safety of the employee. Therefore, the current picture is worrisome in terms of possible negative effects of the setbacks on employee health. Even, some participants stated that new health problems emerged in employees and drew attention to the health effects of COVID-19 in the early period.

In the literature, one of the positive effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on OHS is that it increased the value of OHS.²⁹ In this research, participants stated that the pandemic made the employees, and the employers understand the value of OHS. Another positive effect is that conformity of rules at the workplace increased. Moreover, the participants also gained experience in managing infectious diseases at the workplace. In the 21st century when infectious diseases have become more spread and induced a public threat, it is significant for OHS professionals to obtain experience in how to deal with and manage an infectious disease and to become prepared for the upcoming process.

CONCLUSION

In this research, OHS practices and experiences of OHS professionals during the early period of the COVID-19 pandemic were evaluated using qualitative and quantitative methods together. When the measures taken regarding the use of masks, social distancing and hygiene practices in workplaces during the pandemic are evaluated, all three measures taken at the highest rate are related to the use of masks. In addition, it was found that the measures under the other two headings, such as flexible shifts, remote working, increasing the number of transportation vehicles and increasing hygiene equipment, which may disrupt service delivery or increase costs, were implemented

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

at a lower rate. Professionals reported that staff compliance with measures was lower in rest areas. According to the results of the research, during the COVID-19 pandemic, there were deficiencies in both occupational health and safety practice areas and employee compliance. To overcome these deficiencies, it may be recommended to implement interventions and policies to strengthen the occupational health and safety culture for employers and employees. Again, an attentiongrabbing finding was the uncertainty of the status of employees with chronic diseases and the health inequality that arose from it during the pandemic. Considering possible pandemics and other emergencies, the government should take measures to eliminate health inequalities among workers.

In-depth interviews were categorized under three themes: difficulties, strengths and the effects of the pandemic. All participants stated that difficulties were encountered in occupational health and safety implementation areas, and the empowering role of professionals in the management of the process was emphasized by almost all the participants. The difficulties and strengthening factors encountered in occupational health and safety practices during the pandemic should be carefully evaluated by occupational health and safety committees or employers and professionals in workplaces and risk plans should be made and prepared for another crisis. Professionals also drew attention to the many positive and negative effects of the pandemic on OHS practices. Nearly all OHS professionals stated that they experienced setbacks in routine OHS practices and the focus was solely on managing the pandemic. Furthermore, another effect of COVID-19 was that it led to new diseases to emerge in the employees, and they should be recorded and followed-up in the long term. As emphasized by the participants, the positive effect of COVID-19 was that it raised OHS awareness in the employers and employees.

The COVID-19 pandemic brought about multifaceted experiences regarding OHS practice for the government, employees, and OHS professionals. In this respect, this and other scientific research should be carefully examined for OHS practices that could save lives in another possible crisis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was presented as an 'oral presentation' at the 6th International 24th National Congress on Public Health between December 1-4 and published as full text in the congress book.

This article is derived from a specialization thesis in medicine.

Conflict of Interest: All authors declare noconflicts of interest.

Financial Support: No funding was received for conducting this study.

Ethical Declaration: To conduct the research, application was made on May 14, 2020, to the Scientific Research Platform of of Health, and approval was received on May 19, 2020. Ethics Committee Approval was received University, Faculty of Medicine, Scientific Research Ethics Committee (Date: 13.07.2020, Number: 24237859-473). Informed consent was confirmed by the Ethics Committee.

Author contributions: Concept and design: İD, NEB, KŞ, MT; Data collection: İD; Analysis and interpretation of data: İD, NEB; Drafting the manuscript: İD, NEB, KŞ, MT; Critical revision of the article: İD, NEB, KŞ, MT; Final approval of the article: İD, NEB, KŞ, MT

REFERENCES

- 1. Rothan HA, Byrareddy SN. The epidemiology and pathogenesis of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. J Autoimmun 2020; 109: 102433.
- World Health Organization (WHO). Pneumonia of Unknown Cause-China. WHO; 2020 January 5 [Online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/ emergencies/disease-outbreak-news/item/2020-DON229. Accessed August 22, 2023
- World Health Organization (WHO). Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Outbreak. WHO; 2020 April 26 [Online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/ westernpacific/emergencies/covid-19. Accessed August 22, 2023
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Guidance on Preparing Workplaces for COVID-19. OSHA; 2020[Online]. Available at: https://www.osha.gov/Publications/OSHA3990. pdf. Accessed August 22, 2023
- International Labour Organization (ILO). COVID-19 and the world of work: Impact and policy responses. ILO; 2020 March 18 [Online]. Available at: https:// www.ilo.org/ankara/publications/WCMS_740193/ lang--tr/index.htm. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 6. International Labour Organization (ILO). COVID-19 and the World of Work. Second Edition. Updated Estimates and Analysis. ILO; 2020 April 7[Online]. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/global/about-theilo/WCMS_740877/lang--ja/index.htm. Accessed August 22, 2023
- Turkish Ministry of Health. Koronavirüs, Alacağımız Tedbirlerden Güçlü Değildir . 2020 March 11 [Online]. Available at: https://www.saglik.gov.tr/ TR,64383/koronavirus-alacagimiz-tedbirlerdenguclu-degildir.html . Accessed August 22, 2023
- Ministry of Family Labour and Social Services of the Republic of Türkiye. İşyerlerinde Koronavirüs ile Etkin Mücadelede Bakanlığımızın Yürüttüğü Çalışmalar. 2020 May 1 [Online]. Available at: https://www.csgb.gov.tr/haberler/isyerlerindekoronavirus-ile-etkin-mucadelede-bakanligimizinyuruttugu-calismalar/. Accessed August 22, 2023
- International Labour Organization (ILO). COVID-19 and the World of Work, Country Policy Responses. ILO; 2022 [Online]. Available at: https://www. ilo.org/global/topics/coronavirus/countryresponses/lang--tr/index.htm#TR. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 10. Ministry of Family Labour and Social Services of the Republic of Türkiye. Yeni Koronavirüs Salgını Kapsamında İş Sağlığı ve Güvenliği Profesyonellerinin

İşyerlerinde Aldıracağı Tedbirler [Internet]; 2020. Available from: https://ailevecalisma.gov.tr/ covid19. Accessed August 22, 2023

- 11. Ministry of Family Labour and Social Services of the Republic of Türkiye. İş Sağlığı ve Güvenliği Kayıt, Takip ve İzleme Programı (İSG-KATİP) [Online]. Available at: https://isgkatip.csgb.gov.tr/Logout. aspx
- 12. International Labour Organization (ILO). COVID-19: World Day for Safety and Health at Work 2020 - Stop the pandemic: Safety and Health at Work Can Save Lives. ILO; 2020 [Online]. Available at: https://www. ilo.org/global/topics/safety-and-health-at-work/ events-training/events-meetings/world-day-safetyhealth-at-work/WCMS_739669/lang--en/index. htm. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 13. Ministry of Family Labour and Social Services of the Republic of Türkiye. İşyerlerinde COVID-19 ile Mücadele: Dokümanlar [Internet]; 2020. Available from: https://ailevecalisma.gov.tr/covid19. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). General Business Frequently Asked Questions Internet]; 2020. Available from: https://www.cdc. gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/generalbusiness faq.html#Reducing-the-Spread-of-COVID-19-in-Workplaces. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 15. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. What to Do If You Have a COVID-19 Confirmed Positive Worker or Workers Who Have Been Exposed to a Confirmed Case of COVID-19 [Internet]; Available from: https://www.fda.gov/food/food-safety-duringemergencies/what-do-if-you have-covid-19confirmed-positive-worker-or-workers-who-havebeen exposed-confirmed. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 16. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Prepare your Small Business and Employees for the Effects of COVID-19 [Internet]; Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019 ncov/ downloads/guidance-small-business.pdf. Accessed August 22, 2023.
- 17. Ishimaru T, Nagata M, Hino A, et al. Workplace measures against COVID-19 during the winter third wave in Japan: Company size-based differences. J Occup Health 2021 Jan; 63(1): e12224.
- Asaoka H, Sasaki N, Imamura K, Kurado R, Tsuno K, Kawakami N. Changes in COVID-19 measures in the workplace: 8-month follow-up in a cohort study of full-time employees in Japan. J Occup Health 2021 Jan; 63(1): e12273.
- 19. Sasaki N, Kurado R, Tsuno K, Kawakami N. Workplace responses to COVID-19 and their association with company size and industry in an early stage of the epidemic in Japan. Environ Occup Health Practice 2020; 2.

- 20. Sasaki N, Ingram C, Downey V, Roe M, et al. COVID-19 Prevention and Control Measures in Workplace Settings: A Rapid Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jul 24; 18(15): 7847.
- 21. Cirrincione L, Plescia F, Ledda C, et al. COVID-19 Pandemic: Prevention and Protection Measures to Be Adopted at the Workplace. Sustainability 2020; 12(9): 3603.
- 22. Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye. COVID-19 Kapsamında Kamu Çalışanlarına Yönelik İlave Tedbirler. Public Law No: 31076, Dated: 2020 March 22. Available at: www.mevzuat.gov.tr
- 23. Presidency of the Republic of Türkiye. COVID-19 Kapsamında Kamu Kurum ve Kuruluşlarında Normalleşme ve Alınacak Tedbirler. 2020. Public Law No: 31139, Dated: 2020 May 29. Available at: www.mevzuat.gov.tr
- 24. TR Ministry of Health Health Services General Directorate. COVID-19 Hastalığı İçin Risk Grubunda Olan Kronik Hastalıklar. Public Law No: 14500235-403.99, Dated: 2020 Jun 2.
- 25. Wolfe R, Harknett K, Schneider D. Inequalities at work and the toll of COVID-19. 2021 June. doi:10.1377/hpb20210428.863621. Available at: https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/ hpb20210428.863621/
- 26. Lyttelton T, Zang E. Occupations and sicknessrelated absences during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Health Soc Behav 2022; 63(1): 19-36.
- Nowacki K, Grabowska S, Łakomy K. Activities of employers and OHS services during the developing COVID-19 epidemic in Poland. Saf Sci 2020; 131: 104935.
- 28. Azzi M. Together We Can Build a Culture of Safety and Health at Work [Internet]. 2022 April 27. Available from: https://www.un.org/en/un-chronicle/ together-we-can-build-culture-safety-and-healthwork. Accessed August 22, 2023
- 29. Gold D, Hughes S, Thomas D. Perceptions, experiences and opportunities for occupational safety and health professionals arising out of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Humanit Soc Sci Commun 2021; 8(1): 271.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Validation and reliability study of the Turkish version of the health services access scale



¹Assist.Prof., Faculty of Management, Health Management, Artvin Coruh University, Artvin, Türkiye ²Assist. Prof., Faculty of Economics and Social Sciences, Logistics Management, Istanbul Gelisim University, İstanbul. Türkive

³MD., Medical School, Department of Biostatistics, Istanbul Atlas University, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 21.07.2024, Accepted: 08.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: The aim of this study is to establish the Turkish validity and reliability of the Healthcare Access Scale and to determine whether perceptions of healthcare access vary according to demographic variables.

Methods: Data for the research were collected through surveys of 468 participants across Türkiye. Exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis were conducted in the process of adapting the Healthcare Access Scale. In addition, t-tests and ANOVA tests were used to determine variations in access to healthcare according to demographic variables. The factors obtained from the exploratory factor analysis were confirmed by confirmatory factor analysis. The fit index values of the five-dimension health care access scale were found to be in the good fit range.

Results: As a result of the exploratory factor analysis, a five-dimensional structure was obtained, explaining 69.625% of the total variance. In the confirmatory factor analysis, the model's fit indices (CMIN/DF = 2.148, RMR = 0.049, GFI = 0.949, IFI = 0.969, TLI = 0.961, CFI = 0.969, NFI = 0.944, AGFI = 0.926, RMSEA = 0.050) were found to be satisfactory. Reliability analysis indicated a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.919 for the entire scale, with coefficients for the subdimensions ranging from 0.740 to 0.874.

Conclusion: This study makes a significant contribution to the literature by testing the appropriateness, validity and reliability of the Healthcare Access Scale.

Keywords: Health Services, Health System, Validity and Reliability, Access to Health Services, Turkish Validity, Health

Correspondence: Assist. Prof., Nurgül Erdal, Faculty of Economics and Social Sciences, Logistics Management, Istanbul Gelisim University, İstanbul, Türkiye. E-mail: nerdal@gelisim.edu.tr, Phone: +90 530 600 28 15

Cite This Article: Filiz M, Erdal N, Budak O. Validation and reliability study of the Turkish version of the health services access scale. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 289-304.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(=) (S)

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

Health care is a vital determinant of overall well-being, encompassing not only physical health but also mental and social dimensions. The core objective of health services is to safeguard and improve public health, facilitate recovery, and support individuals and communities in leading healthier lives. This comprehensive focus highlights the importance of accessible, effective, and equitable health care services as fundamental to achieving positive health outcomes across diverse populations.¹⁻³ Closely linked to human health, health services are structured differently from other sectors. Although viewed through an economic lens, they are of strategic importance and require continuous improvement.¹ As a priority in national policies, health services are an integral part of social life, leading to significant progress in recent years.^{3,4} Successful health systems require a patient-centred approach ⁵. While access to health services is a fundamental right of every individual, there are challenges to accessing health care. In addition to excellent quality and quantity of health services, access is also crucial. This access should be equitable.⁶ Therefore, many countries and organisations continuously evaluate their health systems in terms of effectiveness, equity, efficiency and quality.7

The provision of health care should be based on the medical needs of individuals rather than their income, race or place of residence. Policies, financing and delivery of health care are among the reasons for inequalities in access to health services.⁸ Healthcare is becoming increasingly financially burdensome. Many people around the world are forced to spend money on health services, experiencing financial hardship and serious distress.⁹ Families use their savings to pay for health care, borrow money, sell assets, cut back on food, cut back on education, and fall into poverty.¹⁰ Therefore, health expenditure should be improved and subsidised through insurance programmes (in all forms, including national social security), health insurance schemes, mutual benefit societies and commercial private insurance.¹¹

Countries have developed different health care systems with financial objectives such as keeping people healthy, providing patient care and controlling health care expenditure. The fundamental dynamics of these systems include the resources, management, organisation, delivery and financing of health services.¹² Healthcare is a constantly changing and evolving sector, essential for individuals and societies, and should be supported by new technologies and facilitated access.13 The provision of quality health care requires health professionals to understand the needs of individuals and communities and to find the best solutions to those needs.¹⁴ Individuals should know how to access health care, evaluate the quality of the services they receive, take responsibility for their health and protect their rights.¹⁴ In addition, factors such as doctor-patient communication and the hospital environment should be assessed.¹⁵

Access to health care is linked to a number of factors that affect public health. Therefore, the reliability and validity of measures used in this area are crucial for policy making and health planning. Ensuring the validity and reliability of a Turkish health access scale is important for effective evaluation of health services in Türkiye. This study aims to contribute to the development of more effective and targeted health policies by establishing a strong research infrastructure on access to health care.

The main objective of this study is to assess the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Healthcare Access Scale developed by Penchansky and Thomas.¹⁶ In addition, the performance of this scale according to demographic variables will be examined to understand differences that may occur in access to health care. This evaluation will play a crucial role in the planning of health policies and service.

Access to Healthcare

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights by the United Nations (UN) asserts that every individual is entitled to a standard of living adequate for health and well-being.¹⁷ Articles 25.1 and 25.2 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights stipulate the right of individuals and families to access health and well-being, alongside basic needs. Article 25.1 states, "Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and wellbeing of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing and medical care and necessary social services, and the right to security in the event of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his control." Article 25.2 further emphasizes, "Motherhood and childhood are entitled to special care and assistance. All children, whether born in or out of wedlock, shall enjoy the same social protection".¹⁸ In this context, it is emphasized that greater attention should be paid to women and children.

Access is generally recognized as a crucial factor in the matching between patients *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

and health services The dimensions of this alignment identified by Penchansky and Thomas (1981) include availability, accessibility, appropriateness, acceptability and affordability. Ensuring these dimensions is essential for an effective health system.¹⁶ Competence in the provision of health services is important, and existing resources must be used effectively.¹⁹ In particular, the development of a knowledgeable and skilled health workforce should be supported.²⁰

As stated by Sachs (2012), individuals worldwide have the right to accessible standards of health care, regardless of race, religion, political beliefs, economic or social status. Access to health should be based on the principle of equality for each individual.²¹ Efforts should be made to minimise health inequalities in order to ensure fair and equitable access to health services.²² At present, access and equity are among the key performance measures for health services.²³ Accessing healthcare can be hindered by various barriers. The demand for healthcare services in society is not always constant. Situations such as pandemics, epidemics, wars, natural disasters, and economic difficulties can affect access to healthcare.²⁴ Moreover, the distance to healthcare institutions is often perceived as a barrier to accessing healthcare.^{19,25}Optimal healthcare delivery requires significant technology, is costly, and demands a qualified workforce. Geographic differences affect hospitalization durations among children, adults, and the elderly.14 Current issues in healthcare payments are highlighted in various areas due to the gap between knowledge and application.²⁶ Access to healthcare services can be negatively affected by the complexity of payment reforms.²⁷

In Türkiye, healthcare services include both public and private options. In Türkiye, access to healthcare services is provided through the General Health Insurance system. All citizens registered with the Social Security Institution can receive free medical treatment at contracted hospitals.²⁸ The Ministry of Health, Social Security, and universities play significant roles in the provision of healthcare services. According to reference ²⁹ the Ministry of Health holds the primary responsibility despite the potential complexity arising from the involvement of multiple institutions.

In 2003, Türkiye implemented a healthcare reform called the 'Health Transformation'. The aim of this reform was to achieve structural transformations in healthcare policies, service delivery, financing models, personnel regulations, quality and quantity, public-private partnerships, and healthcare industries. The regulations focus on promoting collaboration between the public and private sectors, developing health tourism, and transforming healthcare industries.³⁰

Countries aim to improve healthcare access by increasing financing sources. It is noted that healthcare expenditures are higher in developed countries due to a larger elderly population.³¹ All countries, whether developed or developing, invest significantly in protecting and improving the health of their citizens. In Türkiye, healthcare expenditures totalled 4,985 million TL in 1999, increasing to 393,941 million TL in 2021 and projected to reach 606,835 million TL in 2022.³²

METHOD

Population and Sample of the Study

The study population consists of individuals in Türkiye who currently use or have the potential to benefit from healthcare services. Based on data obtained from the addressbased population registration system in 2022, Türkiye has a population of 85,279,553 people.³³ Therefore, for this study, the population will be determined using the convenience sampling method. The study's sample size was calculated using the $n=(p^*q)$ formula, resulting in a determination that a sample size of 384 would be sufficient to reach the target.³⁴ In factor analysis, it is recommended to have 5 to 10 participants per item. For this 16-item scale, a sample size of 468 is adequate, meeting the recommended criteria. The final sample size of 468 confirms that the study has a sufficient number of participants. The convenience sampling method was chosen for its cost-effectiveness and speed compared to other sampling methods.

DataCollectionInstrumentsandAdaptation Process

Approval was obtained for the translation of the Access to Health Services Scale developed by Penchansky and Thomas (1981) into Turkish via email.¹⁶ Subsequently, the original scale was translated from English to Turkish, and expert opinions were sought to ensure linguistic and conceptual validity. The translation was sent to three language experts proficient in English. After making the translation compatible with the English original, adjustments and changes were made to ensure content validity based on the opinions of five experts, including four middle-level and one senior-level hospital administrators experienced in hospital management. A pilot study was conducted with 19 and 24 hospital employees to obtain data on the test version of the research questions. Following the pilot study, the finalized research questions, along with questions prepared to obtain demographic information, received ethical approval. The research questions, approved by the ethics committee, were distributed to participants across Türkiye via an online survey.

Access to Health Services Scale:

The Access to Health Services Scale consists of 16 items and 5 dimensions. The dimensions are availability, convenience, affordability, accessibility, and acceptability.¹⁶ Detailed information about the dimensions is provided below (Appendix-1).

Availability: The dimension of availability in the Access to Health Services Scale refers to the adequacy of available health services, including the type of health services and the availability of doctors, dentists, auxiliary health personnel, clinics, hospitals, and the ability to meet patient needs. It consists of 4 items in the original scale.

Accommodation: Accommodation is a dimension consisting of 4 items that measure the convenience provided in terms of waiting time for appointments, suitability of examination hours, time spent in the waiting room, and ease of communication with the physician.

Affordability: This dimension, consisting of 3 items, expresses the compatibility between the prices of the provided health services and the payment systems such as insurance that patients have. It can be considered an

important dimension in terms of measuring the value perception formed in response to the total cost paid for the health service received by the patient.

Accessibility: Accessibility is one of the dimensions that assesses the convenience provided in terms of the time and distance it takes for patients requesting health services to reach the facility where the service will be provided. It is assessed with 2 items and is among the components affecting patient compliance in accessing health services.

Acceptability: Health service providers can provide services to patients selected based on certain characteristics. Therefore, this dimension, consisting of 3 items, addresses factors such as satisfaction derived from the location of the facility, the appearance of the facility, and seeing other patients receiving services from the facility, from the perspective of patients.

Demographic Information Form:

This form was created by researchers to determine the demographic characteristics of the participants. The form consists of 6 questions. Participants were asked about their age, gender, income level, education level, the type of hospital they generally receive services from, and the frequency of receiving healthcare services in the last 1 year.

Ethical Considerations and Data Collection

After determining the objectives and scope of the study, necessary documents were prepared to assess ethical suitability, and an application was made to the Artvin Çoruh University Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee. With the decision dated 05.02.2023 and numbered E-18457941-050.99-80543, the ethics committee approved the study's ethical compliance. A brief paragraph explaining the purpose of the study was included at the beginning of the questionnaire, and informed consent was obtained from the participants. The survey covers individuals over the age of 18 throughout Türkiye. The data were collected using an online survey method, and the data collection process took place between 10.02.2023 and 10.01.2024, lasting approximately 11 months.

Data Analysis

The collected data were examined for missing data, and it was determined that there were no missing values. Before beginning the analysis of the data, a check for normal distribution was conducted to decide which method to use. In this context, it was evaluated whether the mean scores of the scale and its subscales exhibited a normal distribution. A decision was made taking into account the skewness and kurtosis coefficients as indicators of normality for the obtained data.³⁴

To test the overall structure of the scale, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was applied to the data collected from a total of 468 participants from different regions of Türkiye. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was then conducted to confirm the fit of the emerged structure with the variables. Additionally, goodness-of-fit indices (CFI, TLI, RMSEA) were determined after conducting security analyses of the model defined by exploratory factor analysis and tested by confirmatory factor analysis. Accordingly, factor loading (CR) (>.70) and average variance extracted (AVE) (>.50) values were obtained to determine the fit of the variables in the constructed model. To determine whether there were differences in demographic characteristics and the frequency of receiving services from hospitals in terms of factors, t-tests and ANOVA were applied. The LSD (Least Significant Difference) test from the Post Hoc tests was employed to identify the source of differences among groups. SPSS 24 and Amos 23 packages were used to analyse the data.

RESULTS

The results of the conducted analyses have been elaborated in detail in this section to contribute to the research aim. The findings have been divided into four parts for evaluation: findings related to exploratory factor analysis, findings related to confirmatory factor analysis, basic analyses, and findings obtained from difference analyses.

Table 1 provides demographic data forparticipants from across Türkiye.

Table 1 shows that the majority of participants are female (68.8%) and most belong to the middle-income level (53.4%). The proportion of those receiving services from public hospitals (42.1%) is higher compared to other types of hospitals, with university graduates constituting the highest percentage (57.5%) in terms of education level. Furthermore, 55.8% of the participants are between the ages of 18-30. Moreover, the study revealed that 35.7% of the participants received hospital services seven or more times in the past year.

Table 1. Demograp	Table 1. Demographic Data								
Variables		n	%	Variables		n	%		
Type of Hospital	Public Hospital	197	42,1	Gender	Female	322	68,8		
Services	Private Hospital	75	16,0	-	Male	146	31,2		
Received	City Hospital	121	25,9	Age	18-30	261	55,8		
	University Hospital	75	16,0		31-40	91	19,4		
Income Level	Low	150	32,1		41-50	63	13,5		
	Medium	250	53.4		51 and above	53	11.4		
	High	68	14.5	Frequency of Visiting	0-1	38	8.1		
Education	Primary/Secondary School	34	7.3	Hospital (Within the last 1	2-4	162	34.6		
	High School	82	17.5	year)	5-6	101	21.6		
	University	269	57.5	-	7 and above	167	35.7		
	Postgraduate	83	17.7						

Exploratory Factor Analysis

The results of the exploratory factor analysis of the Health Services Access Scale are presented in Table 2. The calculated Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value in Table 2 is 0.928, indicating an excellent result. In other words, the high KMO value suggests that the sample size used in the study meets the necessary conditions for conducting factor analysis. Additionally, since p(sig.)=p<0.001, the result of the Bartlett test is also found to be significant. These findings indicate that the data meet the necessary conditions for conducting factor analysis.

Table 2. Exploratory Factor Analysis Results				
Factors	Item No	Factor Loadings	Eigenvalue	Explained Variance
Availability	Mv3	.729		
	Mv4	.713	-	
	Mv2	.692		
	Mv1	.691	7.263	%45.392
	Kly4	.518	-	
Accommodation	Kly1	.762		
	Kly2	.706	- 1 269	067 025
	Kly3	.692	- 1.200	707.923
Affordability	Odn1	.724		
	Odn2	.653	- 1 1 4 7	066 546
	Odn3	.649	- 1.147	700.340
Accessibility	Uls1	.869	1.086	%5.226
	Uls2	.829	-	
Acceptability	Kbl3	.743		
	Kbl1	.658	- 1 009	061 536
	Kbl2	.640	- 1.009	704.5

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Rotation Method: Varimax

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy(KMO): 0.928

Bartlett's Test of Sphericity: Approx. Chi-Square: 3570.698; df:120 sig:0.000 Explained Total Variance: %69,625

The explained total variance ratio in Table 2 is calculated as 69.625%. It is observed that the Availability factor explains 45.392% of the total variance, the Accommodation dimension

explains 7.925%, the Affordability dimension explains 6.546%, the Accessibility dimension explains 5.226%, and the Acceptability dimension explains 4.536% of the total variance.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

The purpose of using both exploratory and confirmatory analysis in adaptation processes is that while exploratory factor analysis aims to generate theory, confirmatory factor analysis has a testing technique aimed at confirming the theory. In the use of confirmatory factor analysis for testing or scale development, structural equation modeling-based factor analysis and hypothesis testing are more acceptable because it is assumed that there may be correlations between the variables that make up the factors. Thus, it can be used to determine the level of fit of the model with the obtained variables.³⁵



Figure 1. Confirmatory Factor analysis AMOS Output

Figure 1 shows the AMOS output for confirmatory factor analysis. Table 3 presents the calculated goodness-of-fit indices.

Table 3. Goodness-of-Fit Indices of The Health Services Access Scale										
Indices	Ν	CMIN/DF	RMR	GFI	IFI	TLI	CFI	NFI	AGFI	RMSEA
Model	468	2.148	0.049	0.949	0.969	0.961	0.969	0.944	0.926	0.050

When examining the goodness-of-fit values of the health services access scale presented in Table 3, it can be observed that the CMIN, RMR, IFI, TLI, CFI, NFI, and RMSEA values are very good, while the GFI and AGFI values fall within the good fit range. This indicates a very good fit between the model and the dataset.³⁵

Table 4. Interaction between factors and items							
Factors	Item	Standardized Value	Estimate	Standard Error	Т	Р	
	Kly1	.677	1.000				
Accommodation	Kly2	.761	1.031	.074	13.871	***	
	Kly3	.780	1.035	.073	14.119	***	
Affordability	Odn1	.601	1.000				
	Odn2	.749	1.329	.109	12.142	***	
	Odn3	.805	1.386	.110	12.625	***	
Availability	Mv4	.624	.800	.065	12.252	***	
	Mv2	.808	1.097	.071	15.427	***	
	Mv1	.762	.955	.065	14.679	***	
	Mv3	.689	.833	.062	13.414	***	
	Kly4	.691	1.000				
Accessibility	Uls1	.852	1.000				
	Uls2	.910	1.024	.054	18.917	***	
Acceptability	Kbl3	.656	1.000				
	Kbl1	.709	1.123	.090	12.509	***	
	Kbl2	.733	1.130	.088	12.806	***	

Table 4 presents findings regarding the interaction between scale factors and scale items. Regression values indicate the predictive power of observed variables, i.e., factor loadings. Since all "p" values for the above model pairwise relationships are less than 0.001, the factor loadings are significant. The significant p-values indicate that the items are loaded onto the factors. Additionally, standardized regression coefficients greater than or equal to 0.624 indicate high factor loadings, i.e., the predictive power of latent variables for each item. Finally, the standard error ratios and t-values at the 99% confidence level (t>1.96) are at acceptable levels.

Primary Analyses

The calculated CR, AVE and Cronbach Alpha coefficients for the subscales of the Access to Healthcare Scale are presented in Table 5. As can be seen from Table 5, for the reliability analysis, an "item-total correlation-based item analysis" was performed on the data obtained from the target population, which yielded an overall reliability coefficient of Alpha=0.919 for the entire scale. Furthermore, the reliability coefficient for the availability dimension was alpha=0.838, for the accommodation dimension was alpha=0.783, for the affordability dimension was alpha=0.753, for the accessibility dimension was alpha=0.874 and for the acceptability dimension was alpha=0.740. These results indicate that the scale has a high reliability.

The calculated AVE values in Table 5 are greater than 0.519 and the CR values are greater than 0.715, confirming the construct validity of the scale. In addition, the skewness and kurtosis coefficients for the Access to Healthcare Scale range from 0.161 to 0.901, indicating that the scale data follow a normal distribution .³⁴

Table 5. Cronbach's Alpha, CR, and AVE Values for Subscales of The Scale							
Factors	Std. Error	Mean	Cronbach's α	AVE	CR	Skewness	Kurtosis
Availability	0.873	3.23	.838	.566	.803	187	408
Accommodation	1.024	2.69	.783	.519	.763	273	.702
Affordability	0.959	2.74	.753	.547	.715	.161	482
Accessibility	1.146	3.156	.874	.721	.837	396	901
Acceptability	0.861	3.189	.740	.564	.721	376	.095
Total Scale	.919						

Difference Analyses

Difference analyses based on demographic variables were conducted as part of the Turkish adaptation study of the Healthcare Access Scale. Given the coefficients of skewness and kurtosis, the data were assumed to follow a normal distribution. For the comparison of binary variables, t-tests were used, while for more than two variables, the LSD test was preferred to determine the source of group differences.³⁶ Table 6 shows the results of the differences in the dimensions of the Access to Healthcare Scale based on the gender and marital status of the participants.

Table 6. Comparison of Healthcare Access Dimensions and Gender and Marital Status								
Factors	Variables	n	Mean	Т	Р			
Availability	Female	146	3.2616	0.550	.617			
	Male	322	3.2137					
Accommodation	Female	146	2.7192	0.361	.744			
	Male	322	2.6822					
Affordability	Female	146	2.8607	1.804	.199			
	Male	322	2.6884					
Accessibility	Female	146	3.1884	0.411	.569			
	Male	322	3.1413					
Acceptability	Female	146	3.2763	1.469	.226			
	Male	322	3.1501					

In Table 6, it is observed that the dimensions of the healthcare access scale did not vary based on participants' marital status and gender (p>0.05).

Table 7 presents the results of the ANOVA test conducted on the healthcare access scale

Table 7. Demographic Indicators Analysis in terms of Suitability, Accommodation, Affordability, Accessibility, Acceptability						
Demographic Indicators	Variables	F	Р	Source of Difference		
Age	Availability	0.920	0.452	No Difference		
	Accommodation	2.281	0.060	No Difference		
	Affordability	2.231	0.065	No Difference		
	Accessibility	0.489	0.744	No Difference		
	Acceptability	0.513	0.727	No Difference		
Type of Hospital	Availability	1.458	0.214	No Difference		
Visited	Accommodation	3.232	0.012	University (2.76). Public (2.52). Private (2.85). City Hospital (2.85)		
	Affordability	1.695	0.150	No Difference		
	Accessibility	3.571	0.007	University (3.01). Public (2.97). Private (3.42). City Hospital (3.36)		
	Acceptability	2.810	0.141	No Difference		
Income Level	Availability	15.927	0.000	Low (2.92) Medium (3.32) High (3.55)		
	Accommodation	13.994	0.000	Low (2.34) Medium (2.83) High (2.96)		
	Affordability	29.757	0.000	Low (2.29) Medium (2.89) High (3.16)		
	Accessibility	2.817	0.061	No Difference		
	Acceptability	24.707	0.000	Low (2.80) Medium (3.34) High (3.47)		
Education Level	Availability	1.507	0.199	No Difference		
	Accommodation	1.328	0.258	No Difference		
	Affordability	0.340	0.851	No Difference		
	Accessibility	0.713	0.583	No Difference		
	Acceptability	4.532	0.210	No Difference		
Frequency of Hospital Visits (Last 1 Year)	Availability	2.093	0.029	0-1 (3.44).2- 4 (3.26). 5-6 (3.35). 7 and above (2.86)		
	Accommodation	2.840	0.003	0-1 (2.93). 2-4 (2.72). 5-6 (2.70). 7 and above (2.39).		
	Affordability	2.722	0.004	0-1 (3.18). 2-4 (2.83). 5-6 (2.85). 7 and above (2.45).		
	Accessibility	1.131	0.339	No Difference		
	Acceptability	1.287	0.241	No Difference		

Table 7 summarizes the results of the ANOVA test. No significant differences were found in the sub-dimensions of healthcare services based on age and educational level (p>0.05). Regarding the type of hospital, no differences were observed in the Availability, Affordability, and Acceptability dimensions (p>0.05). However, public hospitals (2.52) had a significantly lower mean score for the Accommodation dimension compared to other hospital types (p<0.05). Additionally, individuals receiving services from university (3.01) and public hospitals (2.97) had lower perceptions of Accessibility than those using city (3.36) and private hospitals (3.42) (p<0.05).

No differences in the Accessibility dimension were found based on income level (p>0.05), but significant differences were observed in other dimensions (p<0.05). Low-income individuals reported lower perceptions of Availability, Accommodation, Affordability, and Acceptability, indicating greater challenges in accessing healthcare services.

Finally, regarding healthcare service utilization frequency, no differences were found in the Accessibility and Acceptability dimensions (p>0.05). However, individuals visiting 7 or more hospitals per year reported lower perceptions of Availability, Accommodation, and Affordability compared to others (p<0.05), highlighting greater difficulties in accessing healthcare services.

DISCUSSION

The results of this study confirm that the Health Services Access Scale is a reliable and valid instrument for measuring access to healthcare services in Türkiye. The EFA revealed that the scale includes five factors—Availability, Accommodation, Affordability, Accessibility,

and Acceptability-explaining a total of 69.625% of the variance. The CFA demonstrated good model fit, with all fit indices indicating an excellent fit between the proposed model and the data. The reliability analysis yielded high Cronbach's Alpha values, confirming the internal consistency of the scale. The difference analyses indicated that demographic factors such as income level and type of hospital visited had significant effects on certain dimensions of healthcare access, while gender and marital status did not show significant differences. Compared to other studies in the literatüre; The Access of Older Adults to **Outpatient Primary-Care Health Services Scale** (AOAOPHSS) was evaluated for psychometric properties among Mexican older adults, resulting in a refined 21-item Accessibility Subscale with good internal consistency.37 Another study introduced the Perceived Access to Health Services (PAHS) scale, demonstrating relationship with perceived its health vulnerability and overall health outcomes.³⁸ A Turkish study developed a scale to measure the impact of healthcare access on voter behavior, identifying three dimensions with acceptable reliability and validity.³⁹ Additionally, a 25item Access to Health Care (AHC) instrument was developed and validated, encompassing six components: approachability, availability, accessibility, affordability, acceptability, and accommodation, showing strong construct validity and internal consistency.⁴⁰ These scales offer a valuable means of measuring and comparing the accessibility of healthcare services across diverse populations. In this context, the findings indicate that access to healthcare is a significant societal indicator, and that such scales can be employed for more comprehensive analyses of health policies and practices.

The study found that participants' perceptions of access to healthcare did not differ according to gender, age or level of education. However, those who received services from public and university hospitals, those with lower income levels and those who received 7 or more healthcare services per year were found to have relatively more difficulties in accessing healthcare services compared to their counterparts.

Repeating the study with a larger sample over different time periods across Türkiye could reflect trends in perceptions of access to healthcare and provide guidance for policy makers. In addition, factors such as the type of insurance, the presence of chronic diseases and the use of continuous medication are also likely to have an impact on perceptions of access to healthcare. Taking these factors into account in future studies is considered beneficial.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study are of particular significance for local policymakers, as they indicate potential avenues for enhancing or expanding healthcare services in order to guarantee equitable access for all citizens. A further study conducted across a range of regions in country over an extended period could reveal trends and shifts in perceptions of healthcare access, thus assisting in the formulation of policies. The incorporation of additional variables, such as insurance types, chronic diseases, and continuous medication usage, into future research will further enhance the scale's validity and comprehensiveness. This will guarantee that the scale remains a dynamic instrument, capable of supporting effective health policy decisions that align with the evolving structure of the national healthcare system.

Limitations

As with any study, this research has several limitations.

Sampling Method: The study employed a convenience sampling method, which limits the generalizability of the sample group. Alternative sampling methods could have provided a broader and more diverse group; however, this method was chosen for its cost-effectiveness and speed.

Regional Focus: Although the study includes 468 participants from various regions of Türkiye, the data is limited to specific regions. This may not fully capture the differences in access to healthcare services across various geographic areas.

Cross-Sectional Design: The study's crosssectional design restricts the ability to examine causal relationships between factors affecting access to healthcare services. Longitudinal studies could provide more robust results.

Data Collection Period: The data collection period (from February 10, 2023, to January 10, 2024) lasted approximately 11 months. This duration may not sufficiently capture the evolving perceptions of access to healthcare services over time.

Demographic Limitations: The demographic information form used in the study examined basic characteristics such as age, gender, and income level. However, deeper socio-economic factors and health status variables were not considered.

In light of these limitations, it is expected that a more accurate evaluation of the research would be possible.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Concflict of Interest : The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respectto the research, authorship and/or publicationof this article.

Financial Support : The authors received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Ethics Committee Approval

After determining the objectives and scope of the study, necessary documents were prepared to assess ethical suitability, and an application was made to the Artvin Çoruh University Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee. With the decision dated 05.02.2023 and numbered E-18457941-050.99-80543, the ethics committee approved the study's ethical compliance

Author Contrubition: Concept: NE, MF, OB; Design: NE; MF,OB Supervising: OB, MF, NE ; Data Collection and Processing: OB, MF,NE; Analysis and/or Interpretation: OB, MF;NE Critical Review: OB, MF,NE

REFERENCES

- 1. Nunes R., Nunes S.B., &Rego G. Health care as a universal right. Z Gesundh Wiss .2017;25(1):1-9.
- 2. Jean-Pierra, M., & Ritu S. "Healthy Aging" Concepts and measures. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2017;18(6):460-464
- 3. Wendt, C. Changing healthcare system types. Social policy & administration,2014; 48(7): 864-882.
- 4. Aizhan Z., & Saipinov D. The stages of the healthcare system reform of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2014; 140: 657-61.
- 5. Fitzpatrick, F., & Riordan, M. O. Performance management of Clostridium difficile infection in hospitals-the carrot or stick approach?. Anaerobe, 2016; 37: 8-12.
- 6. Buerhaus, P.I., Desroches, C., Applebaum, S., Hess, R., Norman, L.D., Donelan, K. Are nurses ready for healthcare reform? A decade of survey research.

Nurs Economics, 2012; 30(6): 318-330.

- Arah, O.A., Klazinga, N.S., Delnoij, D.M., Asbroek, A.T., Custers, T. Conceptual frameworks for health systems performance: A quest for effectiveness, quality, and improvement. Int J Qual Health Care,2003; 15(5): 377–98.
- 8. Wagstaff. A., & van Doorslaer, E. Protecting households from catastrophic spending. J Hum Resour,2000; 35(4):716-33.
- Xu, K., Evans, D. B., Carrin, G., Aguilar-Rivera, A. M., Musgrove, P., & Evans, T. Protecting households from catastrophic health spending. Health affairs, 2007; 26(4), 972-983.
- Russell, K. C. Two years later: A qualitative assessment of youth well-being and the role of aftercare in outdoor behavioral healthcare treatment. In Child and Youth Care Forum. Kluwer Academic Publishers-Human Sciences Press. 2005; 34: 209-239. https://link.springer.com/content/ pdf/10.1007/s10566-005-3470-7.pdf.
- 11. Xu, K., Evans, D. B., Kawabata, K., Zeramdini, R., Klavus, J., & Murray, C. J. Household catastrophic health expenditure: a multicountry analysis. The lancet, 2003; 362(9378): 111-117.
- 12. Culyer, A.J., Newhouse, J.P., & eds. Handbook of health economics. Elsevier.2000.
- Patil, S., & Pardeshi, S. Health monitoring system using IoT. Int Res J Eng Technol (IRJET), 2018; 5(4):1678-82.
- Guagliardo, M.F., Jablonski, K.A., Joseph, J.G. et al. Do pediatric hospitalizations have a unique geography?. BMC Health Serv Res 2004; 4, (2): 1-9.
- 15. Bowers, M. R., Swan, J. E., & Koehler, W. F. What attributes determine quality and satisfaction with health care delivery?. Health Care Management Review, 1994; 19(4):49-55
- Penchansky, R., & Thomas, J.W.The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. Med Care, 1981; 19(2):127-40.
- Norredam, M.L., Nielsen, A.S., & Krasnik, A. Migrants' access to healthcare. Dan Med Bull, 2007; 54(1):48-9.
- 18. Sosyal Güvenlik Kurumu. Genel Sağlık Sigortası. Ankara: Sosyal Güvenlik Kurumu 2013.
- Hunter, K.A., & Thomson, B.A. Scoping review of social determinants of health curricula in postgraduate medical education. Can Med Educ, 2019; 10(3):61-71. PMC6681926.
- 20. Johnson, K. F.Development and initial validation of the addressing client needs with social determinants of health scale (ACN: SDH). BMC Health Services Research, 2023; 23(1), 374.Sachs, J. D. Achieving

universal health coverage in low-income settings. The Lancet, 2012; 380(9845), 944-947.

- 21. Begley, C.E., Lairson, D., Morgan, R.O., Rowan, P.J., & Balkrishnan, R. Evaluating the healthcare system: Effectiveness, efficiency, and equity. Chicago: Health Administration Press.2013.
- 22. Levesque, J.F., Harris, M.F.,& Russell G. Patientcentred access to health care: Conceptualizing access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health,2013; 12:1-9. http://www. equityhealthj.com/content/12/1/18
- 23. Roberton, T., Carter, E.D., Chou, V.B., Stegmuller, A.R., Jackson, B.D., Tam, Y.,& et al. (2020). Early estimates of the indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and child mortality in low-income and middle-income countries: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Health,2020; 8(7): 901-908
- 24. Brems, C., Johnson, M.E., Warner, T.D., Roberts, L.W. Barriers to healthcare as reported by rural and urban interprofessional providers. J Interprof Care, 2006; 20(2):105-18.
- 25. Bali, A.S., & Ramesh, M. (2023). Knowledge–practice gap in healthcare payments: The role of policy capacity. Policy Soc, 2023; 42(3): 406–18.
- Bali A.S., Capano. G., & Ramesh, M. Anticipating and designing for policy effectiveness. Policy Soc, 2019; 38(1): 1–13.
- 27. Tatar, M., Mollahaliloğlu, S., Şahin, B., Aydın, S., Maress, A., & Hernandez-Quevedo, C.Türkiye health system review. Health Systems in Transition, 2011; 13(6), 1-186.
- Diğer, H., & Bilgin, R.(2021). OECD ülkelerinde sağlık sistemlerinin sağlık göstergeleri açısından değerlendirilmesi. 1. Uluslararası Sosyal Bilimlerde Yenilikçi Yaklaşımlar Dergisi, 5(4),212-35.
- Seçtim, H. Sağlıkta dönüşüm programı üzerine bir değerlendirme. Manag Polit Sci Rev, 2019; 1(1), 117-33.
- Mendelson, D.N., & Schwartz, W.B. The effects of aging and population growth on health care costs. Health Aff, 1993; 12(1),119-25
- 31. OECD. OECD. Stat. Published 2023. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://stats.oecd.org/
- Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu (TÜİK). Adrese Dayalı Nüfus Kayıt Sistemi Sonuçları, 2022. Erişim: 27 Aralık 2023. https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/

Index?p=Adrese-Dayalı-Nüfus-Kayıt-Sistemi-Sonuçları-2022-49685&dil.

- 33. Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. Using multivariate statistics. Allyn & Bacon.2001.
- Byrne B.M. Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, applications, and programming. 2nd ed. Routledge Academy.2010
- Williams, L.J.,& Abdi, H. Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test. Encycl Res Des, 2010; 218(4): 840-53.
- 36. Santoyo-Sánchez G, Reyes-Morales H, Flores-Hernández S, Pelcastre-Villafuerte BE, Merino-Soto C. Psychometric properties of the Access of Older Adults to Outpatient Primary-Care Health Services Scale. Eval Health Prof. 2023;46:159-69.
- 37. Tanner EC, Vann RJ, Kizilova EG. Consumer-level perceived access to health services and its effects on vulnerability and health outcomes. J Public Policy Mark. 2020;39:240-55.
- Filiz M, Karagöz Y, Karaşin Y. Sağlık hizmetlerine erişimin seçmen davranışı üzerine etkisinin belirlenmesi: Bir ölçek geliştirme çalışması. Iğdır Univ J Soc Sci. 2023;(34):472-86.
- 39. Zandam H, Juni MH, Hayati KS, Anisah B. Development and validation of perceived access to health care measurement instrument. Int J Public Health Clin Sci. 2017;4:158-71

Appendix 1: Health Access Scale

Health Access Scale

Dimensions

Availability Dimension (Expressions ranging from 1 to 4)

Accommodation Dimension (Expressions ranging from 5 to 8)

Affordability Dimension (Expressions ranging from 9 to 11)

Accessibility Dimension (Expressions ranging from 12 to 13)

Acceptability Dimension (Expressions ranging from 14 to 16)

Note 1: There is no reverse-coded expression in the scale. A high score indicates easy access to health services and high satisfaction.

Note 2: The scale can be used with proper citation.

11000	<i>L</i> The scale can be used with F						
No			Dissatisfied	lemnun			Satisfied
	Original Expression	Turkish Expression	Extremely	Dissatisfied	Neutral	Satisfied	Extremely :
1	All things considered, how	Her şeyi göz önünde bulundurduğu-					
	much confidence do you have	nuzda, ihtiyacınız olduğunda kendiniz					
	in being able to get good me-	ve aileniz için iyi bir tıbbi bakım ala-					
	dical care for you and your fa-	bileceğinizden ne kadar memnunsu-					
	mily when you need it?	nuz?					
2	How satisfied are you with	Tüm aileyi tedavi edecek iyi bir dok-					
	your ability to find one good	tor bulabilmekten ne kadar memnun-					
	doctor to treat the whole fam-	sunuz?					
	ily?						
3	How satisfied are you with	Nereden sağlık hizmeti alacağınız ko-					
	your knowledge of where to	nusundaki bilginizden ne kadar mem-					
	get health care?	nunsunuz?					
4	How satisfied are you with	Acil bir durumda tıbbi yardım alabil-					
	your ability to get medical	me becerinizden ne kadar memnun-					
	care in an emergency?	sunuz?					
5	How satisfied are you with	Randevu almak için gereken bekleme					
	how long you have to wait to	süresinden ne kadar memnunsunuz?					
	get an appointment?						

Filiz M. et al.

6	How satisfied are you with	Doktorların muayene saatlerinin size			
	how convenient physicians' of-	uygunluğundan ne kadar memnunsu-			
	fice hours are?	nuz?			
7	How satisfied are you with	Bekleme odasında geçirmeniz gere-			
	how long you have to wait in	ken süreden ne kadar memnunsunuz?			
	the waiting room?				
8	How satisfied are you with	Hekim(ler)inizle iletişim kurmanın			
	how easy it is to get in touch	kolay olmasından ne kadar memnun-			
	with your physician(s)?	sunuz?			
9	How satisfied are you with	Sağlık sigortanızdan ne kadar mem-			
	your health insurance?	nunsunuz?			
10	How satisfied are you with the	Doktor fiyatlarından ne kadar mem-			
	doctors' prices?	nunsunuz?			
11	How satisfied are you with	Tedavi faturasını ödemeniz gereken			
	how soon you need to pay the	süreden ne kadar memnunsunuz?			
	bill?				
12	How satisfied are you with	Doktorunuzun ofisinin evinize yakın-			
	how convenient your physici-	lığından ne kadar memnunsunuz?			
	an's offices are to your home?				
13	How difficult is it for you to get	Doktorunuzun ofisine erişim kolaylı-			
	to your physician's office?	ğından ne kadar memnunsunuz?			
14	How satisfied are you with the	Muayenehanelerin görünümünden ne			
	appearance of the doctor's of-	kadar memnunsunuz?			
	fices?				
15	How satisfied are you with the	Doktor ofislerinin bulunduğu mahal-			
	neighborhoods their offices	lelerden ne kadar memnunsunuz?			
	are in?				
16	How satisfied are you with the	Muayenehanelerde genellikle gör-			
	other patients you usually see	düğünüz diğer hastalardan ne kadar			
	at the doctors' offices?	memnunsunuz?			

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Assessing knowledge, attitudes, and practices of tobacco cultivators regarding their health hazards: a study on Kushtia district



¹Student and Researcher, Department of Development Studies, Islamic University, Kushtia, Bangladesh ²Assist. Prof., Department of Development Studies, Islamic University, Kushtia, Bangladesh

Received: 28.07.2024, Accepted: 03.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: Tobacco farming is common in Bangladesh, particularly in Kushtia district, but it's harmful to farmers' health. This study looks at what tobacco farmers know, think, and do about their health. The findings will help create targeted interventions to improve their well-being.

Methods: A survey was conducted among 300 tobacco farmers in Kushtia Sadar, Mirpur, and Daulatpur upazilas, including 214 males (71.3%) and 86 females (28.7%). Data were collected using a structured questionnaire covering demographics, knowledge, attitudes, and practices. Descriptive statistics and Pearson correlation analysis were performed using SPSS version 27 and Microsoft Excel version 19.

Results: The study found that 71.3% of tobacco farmers were men, and 38% had no formal education. Health problems were common, with 33% reporting allergies, 32% suffering from coughs and breathing issues, and 24% experiencing headaches. While 73.3% recognized the harmful effects of pesticides, only 59.3% were aware of the risks of handling tobacco leaves, and 40.7% acknowledged serious health risks from tobacco farming. Correlation analysis showed education level positively correlates with reporting physical health problems (r = 0.181, p < 0.01). Physical health problems positively correlated with acknowledging pesticide risks (r = 0.230, p < 0.01). However, a weak negative correlation (r = -0.076, p < 0.01) exists between physical health issues and concern about long-term effects.

Conclusion: In summary, this study highlights the need for targeted intervention to enhance knowledge and safer farming techniques, while also advocating for measures to protect farmers' health and promote sustainable practices in the tobacco sector.

Keywords: Knowledge, Tobacco Cultivators, Health Hazards

Correspondence: Assist. Prof., Md. Hafizul Islam, Department of Development Studies, Islamic University, Kushtia, Bangladesh. **E-mail:** hafizislam689@gmail.com, **Phone**: +8801785610204

Cite This Article: Ullah N, Islam H. Assessing knowledge, attitudes, and practices of tobacco cultivators regarding their health hazards: a study on Kushtia district. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 305-316.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

Tobacco, scientifically known as Nicotiana Tabacum, is a botanical species that is cultivated for its leaves, which undergo a drying process to be transformed into various tobacco products such as cigarettes, pipe tobacco, cigars, chewing tobacco, and snuff. The health risks associated with tobacco usage are widely recognized.¹ Tobacco production is rising globally, particularly in developing countries. Thus, the features of tobacco farm workers are changing and their job-related health risks are of great relevance to public health.² Bangladesh, one of the developing countries, consumes a significant portion of tobacco in the world. Tobacco in Bangladesh is being cultivated from the ancient time however nowadays commercial tobacco farming is under a debate.³ Tobacco is considered to be a non-nutritive substance, and the utilization of tobacco as a raw material in any industry is deemed unsuitable for the health of humans.⁴ Tobacco cultivation in Bangladesh accounts for less than 0.5% of agricultural employment, indicating that it is a labor-intensive crop.⁵ Despite the fact that tobacco cultivation has adverse effects on health, the environment, and the economy, many producers will continue to cultivate tobacco across the globe.⁶ Tobacco farmers constitute a specific demographic group characterized by their occupation, which renders them susceptible to occupational illnesses. Occupational diseases arise due to the interplay between workers acting as hosts and their work or the work environment. Longterm exposure to intricate and multifactorial dangers in the context of tobacco growing is likely to result in adverse health outcomes.⁷ The presence of nicotine in tobacco cultivation

poses a health risk, as it becomes watersoluble and dissipates in condensate water on tobacco leaves during early morning atmospheric moisture condensation.⁸ The tobacco business says that growing tobacco can bring in money for the government and give farmers a good way to make a living. Truly, growing tobacco often causes issues with money, mistreatment of workers, damage to the environment, and health issues for farms.9 Bangladesh occupies the 20th position among countries that produce tobacco. In recent years, there has been a notable 65% surge in tobacco cultivation relative to other cereal commodities.^{10,11}According to the latest official agricultural statistics, it has been observed that out of the total of 64 districts, 29 districts exhibit varying degrees of tobacco cultivation. encompassing around 45,869 hectares of agricultural land.¹² Tobacco cultivation in Bangladesh is distributed over the country, with a notable concentration in the northern and southwestern regions, particularly in Rangpur and Kushtia. Additionally, the eastern mountainous region, such as the Chittagong Hill Tracts, also cultivates numerous tobacco kinds.⁴ Farmers who work on tobacco farms or who process leaves are at risk for major health problems, including increased cancer risk from chemical exposure, respiratory disorders, and green tobacco sickness from coming into direct contact with tobacco leaves during cultivation and harvest.13,14 Moreover, chemical poisoning affects farm workers and nearby residents of tobaccogrowing fields due to pesticide application, which is frequently done by youngsters under the age of fifteen. ^{11,15} Tobacco is a significant global public health hazard, resulting in more than 8 million fatalities annually on a global scale. Approximately 1.3 million deaths

are the consequence of secondhand smoke exposure, while over 7 million deaths are directly attributable to smoking.¹⁶ This study addresses the gap in understanding tobacco farmers' knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding health risks in Kushtia, a key tobacco farming region. The research aims to develop targeted interventions to promote safer agricultural methods and improve farmers' health and well-being.

Literature review:

The World Health Organization estimates that, tobacco-related maladies claim the lives of 6 million individuals annually, which is more than the combined mortality from tuberculosis (TB), HIV/AIDS, and malaria.¹⁷ A significant portion of tobacco workers, specifically 89.7%, expressed concerns regarding the potential health hazards associated with crop farming and processing employment.¹⁸ Tobacco farming poses significant harm, not only due to its detrimental effects on workers, but also as a result of the utilisation of chemical fertilisers and pesticides.¹⁸ Some tobacco growers are aware of the health risks that come with tobacco production, such as diseases linked to tobacco use and damage to the environment.¹⁹ But people are worried that the government isn't doing enough to help and that switching to more sustainable options will be hard.²⁰ In addition, some people think that tobacco farmers get government money, which makes people feel mixed feelings about them.²¹ Older age, lesser education, tobacco firm financial backing, ease of marketing tobacco products, access to financing, and the impression of larger profitability than other crops influence farmers' tobacco cultivation decisions.²² A recent study by Rahman & Parvin, 2017,

looked into the morals and economics of tobacco farming and found that farmers are unwilling to stop growing tobacco even though they say it is wrong.²³ A study found that the cultivation of tobacco in Bangladesh presents notable health risks for farmers.¹⁸ Individuals engaged in tobacco farming encounter a range of health issues, including but not limited to signs such as nausea, vomiting, dizziness, headache, weakness, cough, difficulty breathing, and excessive salivation.²¹ These health concerns impact not only the agricultural labor force but also the elderly, infants, and women residing in the farming communities. The absence of adequate safety protocols and persistent exposure to tobacco leaves heighten the likelihood of tobacco-related illnesses.²⁵ Farmers exhibit a notable deficiency in their knowledge and understanding regarding the potential health hazards linked to the cultivation of tobacco.²⁶

METHOD

The current descriptive cross-sectional study was performed on 300 tobacco cultivators from three upazilas of Kushtia district using purposive sampling methods in 2024.

Sample Size

In this study, we selected 300 tobacco cultivators from the three upazilas of Kushtia District (Kushtia Sadar, Daulatpur, and Mirpur) using purposive sampling methods, ensuring balanced representation with 100 respondents from each upazila. Although Cochran's formula suggests a sample size of approximately 384 for a 95% confidence level and a 5% margin of error, our choice of 300 respondents was guided by practical considerations of field data collection and resource constraints. This sample size is sufficient to provide reliable and diverse insights into the tobacco cultivation practices within the region.

Data Collection and Analysis:

Data were collected from tobacco cultivators in the three upazilas of Kushtia district using purposive sampling. A structured questionnaire, translated into Bangla to accommodate the predominantly illiterate population, gathered comprehensive data divided into four sections: demographic information, knowledge assessment, attitudes assessment, and practices assessment, based on the KAP (Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practices) model. Field data collectors assisted respondents in completing the questionnaires to ensure accuracy and completeness. The data were processed using SPSS version 27 and MS Excel version 2019, involving data entry, coding, and thorough cleaning. Normality tests indicated that the data followed a normal distribution. Descriptive statistics analyzed demographic characteristics and health risks, while Pearson correlation analysis examined relationships between various factors and awareness of tobacco hazards. This meticulous approach ensured robust and reliable data, providing valuable insights into the practices and health implications of tobacco cultivation in the Kushtia district.

RESULTS

In Table 1, participant demographic information is presented, providing insights into the characteristics of the sample population involved in the study. The study area comprised three distinct regions, with an equal distribution of participants across each area: Kushtia Sadar (33.3%), Mirpur (33.3%), and Daulatpur (33.3%). Gender distribution indicated a slight majority of male participants (71.3%) compared to female participants *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)* (28.7%). Age distribution revealed a diverse range of participants, with the majority falling between the ages of 31-45 (44.3%), followed by those aged 16-30 (34.0%), 46-60 (18.0%), and 61-67 (3.7%). Regarding education level, the majority of participants had no formal education (38.0%) or completed primary school (24.0%), while fewer had secondary school (25.0%), higher secondary (10.7%), or university education (2.3%). Designation varied among participants, with 60.3% identifying as owners and 39.7% as employees. A significant portion of participants (54.0%) reported growing tobacco on their land, with the majority cultivating 4-6 bighas of land (34.3%). Despite the labor-intensive nature of tobacco farming, the majority of participants (84.0%) perceived it as profitable based on time, labor, and cost considerations. Experience in tobacco cultivation varied, with the majority having 1-5 years of experience (56.3%), followed by 6-10 years (22.3%), 11-20 years (6.3%), 21-30 years (7.3%), and 31-45 years (5.7%). The comprehensive demographic information provided in Table 1 offers valuable insights into the characteristics of the study population, facilitating a deeper understanding of their perspectives and



experiences related to tobacco farming.

Figure 1. Different diseases of tobacco cultivators and their percentage

Table 1. Participants	Table 1. Participants' demographic information						
Variables	Responses	n	%				
Study Area	Kushtia Sadar	100	33.3				
	Mirpur	100	33.3				
	Daulatpur	100	33.3				
Gender	Male	214	71.3				
	Female	86	28.7				
Age	16-30	102	34.0				
	31-45	133	44.3				
	46-60	54	18.0				
	61-67	11	3.7				
Education level	No formal education	114	38.0				
	Primary school	72	24.0				
	Secondary school	75	25.0				
	Higher secondary	32	10.7				
	University	7	2.3				
Designation	Owner	181	60.3				
	Employee	119	39.7				
Do you grow	Yes	162	54.0				
land?	No	138	46.0				
How many bighas of land do you	Not answered	103	34.3				
cultivate tobacco:	1-3	44	14.7				
	4-6	103	34.3				
	7-9	35	11.7				
	10-18	15	5.0				
Based on time, labor, cost do you think tobacco	Yes	252	84.0				
farming is profitable?	No	44	14.7				
Experience	Not answered	6	2.0				
In Tobacco Cultivation	1-5	169	56.3				
	6-10	67	22.3				
	11-20	19	6.3				
	21-30	22	7.3				
	31-45	17	5.7				

Figure 1 presents the frequency and percentage distribution of various diseases prevalent among 300 tobacco cultivators in Kushtia district. Allergy ranks highest, affecting 33% of the total sample. Following closely are cough and breathing problems, each affecting 32%. Headaches are also common, with 24%, while gas-related issues affect 22%. Vomiting (20%) and sleeping disorders (19%) are also significant health concerns. Other ailments include muscle pain (2%), skin problems (1%), fever (3%), asthma (3%), asphyxia (1%), malnutrition (1%), feeling weak (21%), high blood pressure (1%), colds (3%), eye problems (2%), and strokes (1%). The rest of the respondents don't face any health issues. These statistics underscore the diverse health challenges faced by individuals involved in tobacco cultivation, highlighting the need for targeted interventions and healthcare support within this community.

Table 2. Participants' Knowledge Assessment						
Variables	Responses	n	%			
Do you think pesticides used in tobacco farming can make	Yes	220	73.3			
people sick?	No	80	26.7			
Do you know that moving	Yes	178	59.3			
harmful to health?	No	122	40.7			
Do you think working long hours in tobacco farming	Yes	204	68.0			
can cause respiratory problems?	No	96	32.0			
Do you know the health risks	Yes	126	42.0			
of staying in the vicinity of nicotine in tobacco?	No	174	58.0			
<i>Do you think it is important to use protective equipment</i>	Yes	253	84.3			
while applying pesticides in tobacco cultivation?	No	47	15.7			

Table 2 presents an assessment of participant knowledge regarding various aspects of tobacco farming and associated health risks. The data highlights their perceptions and awareness levels of key factors in tobacco cultivation. A majority (73.3%) believe pesticides used in tobacco farming can make people sick, and 68.0% acknowledge potential respiratory problems from long hours of work in tobacco farming. Additionally, 84.3% recognize the importance of using protective equipment during pesticide application. However, only 59.3% are aware that handling tobacco leaves can be harmful, and just 42.0% understand the health risks of being near nicotine. These findings underscore varying
levels of awareness among participants about the health hazards of tobacco farming, indicating the need for educational interventions and awareness campaigns.

Table 3. Participants' Attitude Assessment									
Variables	Responses	n	%						
Do you believe that tobacco farming poses serious health ricks to farmors?	Strongly disagree	8	2.7						
risks to jurmers:	Disagree	39	13.0						
	Neutral	80	26.7						
	Agree	122	40.7						
	Strongly agree	51	17.0						
Are you concerned about the possible long-term health	Strongly disagree	4	1.3						
effects of tobacco farming?	Disagree	78	26.0						
	Neutral	95	31.7						
	Agree	89	29.7						
	Strongly agree	34	11.3						
Do you think you may be at risk of getting sick from working with tobacco	Strongly disagree	4	1.3						
plants?	Disagree	46	15.3						
	Neutral	101	33.7						
	Agree	118	39.3						
	Strongly agree	31	10.3						
Do you feel that the health risks of tobacco farming are	Strongly disagree	2	0.7						
serious:	Disagree	46	15.3						
	Neutral	108	36.0						
	Agree	118	39.3						
	Strongly agree	26	8.7						
Are you open to adopt alternative farming practices that are less	Strongly disagree	4	1.3						
harmful to health?	Disagree	42	14.0						
	Neutral	124	41.3						
	Agree	97	32.3						
	Strongly	33	11.0						

Table 3 examines participant attitudes and perceptions regarding health risks in tobacco farming and their openness to alternative practices. Results show that 40.7% agree and 17.0% strongly agree that tobacco farming poses serious health risks, whereas 2.7% strongly disagree and 13.0% disagree.

Concerns about long-term health effects are evident, with 29.7% agreeing and 11.3% strongly agreeing, in contrast to 1.3% strongly disagreeing and 26.0% disagreeing. Regarding personal risk, 39.3% agree and 10.3% strongly agree that they may fall ill from working with tobacco, with 8.7% strongly agreeing on the seriousness of health risks, while 0.7% strongly disagree and 15.3% disagree. Attitudes towards adopting alternative farming practices show 32.3% agreeing and 11.0% strongly agreeing, though 41.3% remain neutral and 14.0% disagree. These findings highlight the nuanced perspectives of farmers, emphasizing the necessity for targeted educational interventions to promote safer agricultural practices in the tobacco industry.

Table 4. Participants' Practice Assessment								
Variables	Responses	n	%					
How often do you use protective equipment (eg, gloves, masks) when using pesticides in tobacco	Always/ Often	72	24.0					
farming?	Sometimes	139	46.3					
	Rarely/ Never	89	29.7					
Do you regularly clean your hands and body after working with tobacco leaves or pesticides?	Always/ Often	217	72.3					
iosucco icures or pesticiaes.	Sometimes	77	25.7					
	Rarely/ Never	6	2.0					
Have you ever sought training or information about safe tobacco growing practices?	Always/ Often	69	23.0					
growing practices:	Sometimes	131	43.7					
	Rarely/ Never	100	33.3					
How often do you open windows or wear safety equipment when storing pesticides?	Always/ Often	124	41.3					
storing pesticides:	Sometimes	126	42.0					
	Rarely/ Never	50	16.7					
Are you considering switching to alternative crops that pose less health risks in the future?	Always/ Often	112	37.3					
nearr risks in the jutare.	Sometimes	117	39.0					
	Rarely/ Never	71	23.7					

Table 4 provides insights into participants' behaviors and intentions regarding safety practices in tobacco farming, as well as their consideration of alternative crops with potentially lower health risks. Participants were asked to indicate the frequency of their use of protective equipment, cleanliness practices after working with tobacco leaves or pesticides, and seeking of training or information about safe tobacco growing practices. The data reveals varied levels of adherence to safety protocols among participants. A notable portion of participants (46.3%) reported using protective equipment sometimes, while 24.0% use it always or often, and 29.7% rarely or never use it. In terms of cleanliness practices, 72.3% of participants reported always or often cleaning their hands and body after working with tobacco, whereas 25.7% do so sometimes, and only 2.0% rarely or never clean. Additionally, 43.7% of participants sometimes seek training or information about safe tobacco growing practices, while 33.3% rarely or never do. When it comes to storing pesticides, 42.0% sometimes open windows or wear safety equipment, 41.3% always or often do so, and 16.7% rarely or never take these precautions. Lastly, regarding consideration of alternative crops, 39.0% of participants sometimes consider switching, 37.3% always or often consider it, and 23.7% rarely or never do. These findings underscore the importance of promoting consistent adherence to safety practices and exploring alternatives to mitigate health risks in tobacco farming.

The correlation figure 2 provides a detailed analysis of the relationships among gender, education level, physical health status, and various Knowledge, Attitude, and Practice (KAP) variables related to tobacco farming *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

and health risks. Gender shows no significant correlation with education level or physical health problems, suggesting no observed association between gender and these variables in this dataset. However, education level positively correlates with reporting physical health problems (r = 0.181, p < 0.01), suggesting that individuals with higher education levels may be more aware of or inclined to report health issues, highlighting the role of education in health awareness. Physical health problems positively correlate with acknowledging the health risks of pesticides (r = 0.230, p < 0.01) indicating that those experiencing health issues may have heightened awareness level. Conversely, there is a statistically significant, but very weak negative correlation (r = -0.076, p < 0.01) between experiencing physical health problems and concern about long-term health effects, suggesting that individuals with physical health issues show slightly less concern about long-term risks. Additionally, education level negatively correlates with the use of protective equipment (r = -0.383, p < 0.01), suggesting that more educated individuals may be less likely to use protective measures when working with pesticides in tobacco farming. Additionally, physical health problems negatively correlate with the use of protective equipment (r = -0.165, p < 0.01), indicating that those experiencing health issues may avoid using protective gear, possibly due to discomfort or practical challenges. These findings illustrate the complex relationships between demographic factors, health status, and health-related attitudes and practices in tobacco farming, with statistically significant correlations (**) at the 0.01 level and (*) at the 0.05 level adding credence to the observed relationships.

Ullahet N et al.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
1. Gender of the respondent	1																	
2. Education level	-0.001	1																
3. Do you suffer from any physical problems?	-0.064	.181**	1															
4. Do you think pesticides used in tobacco farming can make people sick?	132*	164**	.230**	1														
5. Do you know that moving tobacco leaves can be harmful to health?	-0.03	126 [*]	.173**	.314**	1													
6. Do you think working long hours in tobacco farming can cause respiratory problems?	0.039	-0.043	.229**	.152**	.130*	1												
7. Do you know the health risks of staying in the vicinity of nicotine in tobacco?	0.017	210**	-0.073	0.086	.155**	0.005	1											
8. Do you think it is important to use protective equipment while applying pesticides in tobacco cultivation?	-0.05	265**	-0.06	.113*	0.017	138 [*]	.125*	1										
9. Do you believe that tobacco farming poses serious health risks to farmers?	0.056	.230**	0.009	331**	350**	150**	175**	132 [*]	1									
10. Are you concerned about the possible long-term health effects of tobacco farming?	0.049	.262**	-0.076	240**	330**	126 [*]	143 [*]	156**	.500**	1								
11. Do you think you may be at risk of getting sick from working with tobacco plants?	-0.009	.153**	176**	178**	321**	-0.073	-0.104	208**	.411**	.520**	1							
12. Do you feel that the health risks of tobacco farming are serious?	0.014	.180**	-0.054	216**	294**	151**	-0.105	156**	.493**	.471**	.458**	1						
13. Are you open to adopt alternative farming practices that are less harmful to health?	-0.044	.145 [*]	0.017	135 [*]	173**	-0.073	124*	129 [*]	.355**	.277**	.208**	.389**	1					
14. How often do you use protective equipment (eg, gloves, masks) when using pesticides in tobacco farming?	-0.069	383**	165**	.191**	.187**	0.015	.223**	.306**	239**	314**	140*	146 [*]	230**	1				
15. Do you regularly clean your hands and body after working with tobacco leaves or pesticides?	-0.022	220**	-0.114	.155**	0.038	0.05	-0.022	0.056	-0.094	174**	-0.076	-0.043	-0.071	.302**	1			
16. Have you ever sought training or information about safe tobacco growing practices?	0.051	-0.051	0.09	0.007	.150**	.116 [*]	.118 [*]	.150**	0.016	-0.033	-0.005	-0.048	-0.063	.223**	.115	1		
17. How often do you open windows or wear safety equipment when storing pesticides?	-0.049	-0.04	0.024	-0.003	-0.084	0.027	-0.094	0.02	0.095	0.025	0.005	0.051	.158**	0.027	0.018	.116 [*]	1	
18. Are you considering switching to alternative crops that pose less health risks in the future?	0.055	-0.092	0.066	0.078	.227**	.206**	-0.001	0.029	138 [*]	196**	184**	187**	238**	.198**	0.08	.141*	.120*	1

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Figure 2. Pearson correlation among gender, education level, feeling physical problem with KAP variables

DISCUSSION

Using cross-sectional survey data, this study has ascertained the knowledge, attitude, and practices of tobacco cultivators' health hazards in three upazilas of Kushtia district. The majority of the respondents of the study were male (71.3%) while female was only (28.7%). Most of the respondents were illiterate (38%) while secondary school and university graduates are 25% and 2.3% respectively. We observed 84% of the study respondents think that based on time, labor, and cost tobacco cultivation is profitable. This belief motivates them to do more tobacco farming. Among the respondents, 56.3% reported having up to five years of tobacco farming experience, while the majority had no prior experience, making them more vulnerable to the risks due to their lack of protective knowledge. The study reveals a high prevalence of health problems among tobacco growers in the Kushtia district, with respiratory issues like

allergies, cough, and breathing difficulties affecting 33%, 32%, and 32% of the sample population, respectively. There are some similar studies in literature which support the findings of this study. According to studies, tobacco producers have a higher chance of acquiring respiratory diseases.^{15,28} Another study by Moyo et al., 2023 reported that, the incidence of breathing issues among tobacco farmers is large, with studies revealing a high occurrence of respiratory symptoms and airflow limitation caused by obstructive lung disease.²⁹ Furthermore, a significant proportion of tobacco farmers (24%) experience headaches, while 22% report gas-related concerns. The result of a study conducted in Brazil by Santos et al., 2017, reveals that the prevalence of headache among tobacco planters is found to be approximately 16.71% which is almost 7.30% lower than our study result.³⁰ Additionally, gas issues, such as stomach-ache, were discovered to impact around 8.30% of tobacco growers. These

findings indicate that tobacco cultivators in Kushtia experience headaches and gas issues more frequently than those in Brazil, underscoring the diverse health challenges that individuals engaged in tobacco cultivation are exposed to.

The study shows varying awareness levels about health dangers among tobacco farmers. Most participants recognize the risks of pesticides (73.3%) and the importance of protective equipment (84.3%), but fewer are aware of the risks of handling tobacco leaves (59.3%) and nicotine exposure (42.0%). These findings are more positive than Anbazhagan et al. (2022), which showed that frequent pesticide users lack awareness of their dangers and the need for protective gear, despite experiencing health issues.³¹ According to studies, while some farmers wear protective equipment such as face masks and gloves, others may not use them efficiently.^{32,33}

Participants' views on tobacco farming's health concerns vary in this study. Many (40.7%) agree that tobacco production provides major health dangers to farmers, with 17.0% strongly agreeing. However, 15.3% disagree. These indicate that tobacco farmers have different views on the health risks of their job. Tobacco farming is linked to several health issues for farmers, such as nausea, vomiting, vertigo, and respiratory ailments.²⁴ Concerns regarding the potential long-term health effects of tobacco cultivation were expressed by 29.7% of participants who agreed and 11.3% who strongly agreed, which is a noteworthy finding.²⁷ This finding indicates that a considerable percentage of respondents were cognizant of the possible health consequences associated with their profession, an essential factor in ensuring health and safety in the agricultural industry. Growers of tobacco in southern Brazil are conscious of the health risks associated with their occupation, which include musculoskeletal ailments, pesticide toxicity, and green tobacco illness.²⁷ The research shows mixed opinions on adopting less harmful farming methods: 32.3% agree, 11.0% strongly agree, 41.3% are neutral, and 14.0% disagree. This ambivalence could hinder efforts to promote eco-friendly and health-conscious practices in the tobacco sector.

The study reveals varied adherence to safety procedures among tobacco growers: 24.0% always or frequently wear protective gear with pesticides, 46.3% do so occasionally, but 72.3% consistently wash after handling pesticides or tobacco leaves, indicating generally high cleanliness levels. However, only 2.0% of tobacco farmers in Kushtia occasionally or never engage in safety practices, showing some gaps in knowledge and hygiene. The majority use safety measures, unlike in Indonesia, where only 34% of farmers practice safety.³⁵ Another interesting finding is that 37.3% of participants always or often consider switching to healthier crops, and 39.0% sometimes consider it. Studies in India show that farmers are willing to shift away from tobacco farming if certain criteria are met.³⁶ The United Nations Framework Convention on Tobacco Control emphasizes the need for regulatory land-use policies to promote varied farming techniques and alternative livelihoods, and highlights the global effort to facilitate transitions away from tobacco growing.37 The study found that higher education levels are associated with increased reporting of physical health problems, suggesting greater awareness or

willingness to disclose issues. Gregorio et al. (2011) similarly found that tobacco knowledge is influenced by formal education levels.³⁸ This finding emphasises the potential significance of education in raising health awareness and encouraging people to recognise and report health issues, which is critical for successful health management and intervention.

Although the sample size of this study was smaller than the initially calculated target, the findings remained consistent across key demographics, showing clear and repeated patterns in the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) variables among tobacco farmers. This consistency suggests that the sample, though reduced, was sufficiently representative to provide meaningful insights into the broader population in the region. The balanced representation across the three main upazilas also added robustness to the data, reinforcing that the core findings reflect broader trends within the Kushtia district.

CONCLUSION

This study provides a comprehensive assessment of the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) of tobacco cultivators in Kushtia district, highlighting demographic characteristics, prevalent health issues, and participants' awareness and safety measures. It underscores the significant health risks faced by tobacco growers, including respiratory diseases, migraines, and gastrointestinal problems. Despite varying demographics, many participants perceive tobacco farming as financially rewarding, indicating a need for interventions that balance economic benefits with health concerns. While awareness of pesticide-related risks is evident, gaps remain regarding other hazards like direct tobacco leaf contact and nicotine exposure,

emphasizing the importance of educational initiatives. The study also reveals diverse perspectives on health risks and receptiveness alternative to farming approaches, underscoring the necessity for tailored interventions that accommodate differing viewpoints. Ensuring consistent adherence to safety protocols through regulatory enforcement and comprehensive training is crucial. Actionable recommendations include targeted educational campaigns, advocacy for precautionary measures, and support for alternative livelihoods to promote health and sustainability in the tobacco sector.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to convey their appreciation to the tobacco cultivators, local authorities and officials of Kushtia Sadar, Mirpur, and Daulatpur upazilas for their invaluable support and cooperation in facilitating this study.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest associated with the publication of this paper.

Financial Support : This work was not funded by any external sources.

Ethical Declaration : While the research team was unable to obtain formal ethical clearance due to the absence of an established committee at the Islamic University, rest assured that the researchers adhered to the ethical criteria mentioned in the Helsinki Declaration throughout the study. The researchers gave individuals a concise informed consent form and clearly discussed all ethical aspects. The confidentiality was preserved, and no personal information (such as names, addresses, or contact information) was obtained. Participants received no

monetary compensation and were able to decline any enquiries. In addition, reputable scholars assessed the study questionnaire to ensure that it met ethical norms and scholarly principles.

Author Contribution: Conceptualization: NU, HI, Data curation: NU, Formal analysis: NU, HI, Investigation: NU, Methodology: NU, HI, Resources: NU, HI, Software: NU, Supervision: HI, Validation: NU, HI, Visualization: NU, Writing-original draft: NU, HI, Writing - review & editing: HI

REFERENCES

- 1. Shafey O, Eriksen M, Ross H, Mackay J. The tobacco atlas 3rd ed. Atlanta: American Cancer Society. 2009.
- Schmitt NM, Schmitt J, Kouimintzis DJ, Kirch W. Health risks in tobacco farm workers—a review of the literature. Journal of public health. 2007 Aug; 15:255-64.
- Rahman MZ, Kabir MH, Alam MM, Islam S. Determinants of tobacco cultivation in Kushtia district, Bangladesh. International Journal of Agricultural Extension. 2020 Jan 11;7(3):239-46.
- 4. Motaleb MA, Irfanullah HM. Tobacco cultivation in Bangladesh: is it a threat to traditional agro-practice?
- 5. Kafi MA, Sadekin MN, Islam R, Abidin IS. The Quality of Affording Gain of Tobacco Farming and the Decisive Health Condition of Tobacco Farmers in Tang-ail District, Bangladesh. International Journal of Management. 2020;11(6).
- 6. Berg CJ, Fong GT, Thrasher JF, Cohen JE, Maziak W, Lando H, Drope J, Mejia R, Barnoya J, Nakkash R, Salloum RG. The impact and relevance of tobacco control research in low-and middle-income countries globally and to the US. Addictive behaviors. 2018 Dec 1; 87:162-8.
- Kahl VF, Dhillon V, Fenech M, de Souza MR, da Silva FN, Marroni NA, Nunes EA, Cerchiaro G, Pedron T, Batista BL, Cappetta M. Occupational exposure to pesticides in tobacco fields: the integrated evaluation of nutritional intake and susceptibility on genomic and epigenetic instability. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity. 2018;2018(1):7017423.
- 8. Ghosh SK, Parikh JR, Gokani VN, Kashyap SK, Chatterjee SK. Studies on occupational health problems during agricultural operation of Indian tobacco workers: a preliminary survey report. Journal of Occupational Medicine. 1979 Jan 1:45-7.

- 9. Tobacco Farming. TobaccoTactics. Retrieved November 11, 2023, from https://tobaccotactics. org/article/tobacco-farming/.
- 10. Rahman S. Environmental and occupational health impacts for tobacco cultivation: a case study on a developing country (Bangladesh). QScience Proceedings. 2012 Mar 26;2012(3):94.
- 11. Chevalier JM. Participatory action research: Theory and methods for engaged inquiry. Routledge; 2019 Feb 12.
- 12. Agriculture1 Year Book 2017-18.pdf. Retrieved November 11, 2023, from https://bbs.portal.gov. bd/sites/default/files/files/bbs.portal.gov.bd/ page/1b1eb817_9325_4354_a756_3d18412203e2/ Agriculture1%20Year%20Book%202017-18.pdf.
- 13. Lecours N. The harsh realities of tobacco farming: a review of socioeconomic, health and environmental impacts. Tobacco control and tobacco farming: separating myth from reality. 2014 Sep 15:99.
- 14. Hossain MM, Rahman MM. A socioeconomic analysis on tobacco cultivation in Kushtia District of Bangladesh. Social Sciences. 2013;2(3):128-34.
- 15. Riquinho DL, Hennington EA. Health, environment and working conditions in tobacco cultivation: a review of the literature. Ciência & Saúde Coletiva. 2012 Jun;17(6):1587-600.
- 16. Global Burden of Disease (GBD). Retrieved November 11, 2023, from https://www.healthdata. org/research-analysis/gbd.
- 17. World Health Organization. WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2008: the MPOWER package. World Health Organization; 2008 Feb 11.
- 18. Ali MY, Kafy AA, Rahaman ZA, Islam MF, Rahman MR, Ara I, Akhtar MR, Javed A. Comparative occupational health risk between tobacco and paddy farming people in Bangladesh. SSM-Mental Health. 2022 Dec 1; 2:100061.
- 19. Punkhun S, Norkaew S. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) related to blood cholinesterase level among tobacco farmers in Northern Thailand. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal. 2020 Feb 7;26(2):283-94.
- 20. Reis MM, Oliveira AP, Turci SR, Dantas RM, Silva VD, Gross C, Jensen T, Silva VL. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices of women farmers concerning tobacco agriculture in a municipality in Southern Brazil. Cadernos de saude publica. 2017 Sep 21;33:e00080516.
- 21. Devika P, Jeeragyal S, Sharavanan E, Udayar M, Sasidhar KR, John R. Knowledge attitude and practices study regarding tobacco use among rural population. 2021.

- 22. Talukder A, Haq I, Ali M, Drope J. Factors associated with cultivation of tobacco in Bangladesh: a multilevel modelling approach. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2020 Jun;17(12):4277.
- Rahman H, Parvin J. Ethics and economics of tobacco farming: A case study of rural Bangladesh. IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science. 2017;22(2):56-65.
- 24. Paul A, Sultana NN, Nazir N, Das BK, Jabed MA, Nath TK. Self-reported health problems of tobacco farmers in south-eastern Bangladesh. Journal of Public Health. 2021 Jun; 29:595-604.
- 25. Fakir AM, Karim A, Mubde MB, Aziz M, Ahmad A. Can visual nudges reduce smoking tobacco expenditure? Evidence from a clustered randomized controlled trial in rural Bangladesh. Journal of Smoking Cessation. 2020 Sep;15(3):163-70.
- 26. Salam MT, Zaman SS, Hossen ST, Nur MA. Consecutive 2-year data analysis to assess the soil quality and ecological risk of heavy metals in Tobacco field: a case study in Northern Bangladesh. SN Applied Sciences. 2021 Feb; 3:1-3.
- 27. Riquinho DL, Hennington EA. Tobacco cultivation in the south of Brazil: green tobacco sickness and other health problems. Ciencia & saude coletiva. 2014 Dec 1;19(12):4797.
- 28. Rahman S. Environmental and occupational health impacts for tobacco cultivation: a case study on a developing country (Bangladesh). QScience Proceedings. 2012 Mar 26;2012(3):94.
- Moyo YM, Jeebhay MF, Baatjies R, Dadabhai S, Adams S. Obstructive Lung Disease Linked to Occupational Exposures in Malawian Tobacco Farmers. Journal of Agromedicine. 2023 Oct 2;28(4):867-80.

- Santos AC, Soares IP, Moreira JC, Farias MB, Dias RB, Farias KF. Perfil dos registros clínicos em prontuários de fumicultores em Alagoas. Revista Brasileira de Medicina do Trabalho. 2017;15(4):310-6.
- 31. Anbazhagan P, Wilson AA, Nallasamy V, Ramanathan S. Assessment on knowledge and perception regarding health risks of pesticide usage among farmers. Int J Public Health Sci. 2022;11(4)4. https://doi.org/10.11591/ijphs. v11i4.21230.
- 32. Muenhor C, Donprapeng B. Community Participation in Development of Models for Reducing Pesticide Contact of Agriculturist Group: Case Study of Tobacco Grower Group of Nayor Village, Nangam Sub-District, RaenuNakhon District, NakhonPhanom Province. Srinagarind Medical Journal-2020 Apr 9;35(2):210-8.
- Önen C, Avcı S, Güneş G. Çiftçilerin tarım ilaçlamasında kullandığı koruyucu sağlık önlemleri. Turkish Journal of Public Health. 2015 May 1;13(2):147-54.
- Riquinho DL, Hennington EA. Tobacco cultivation in the south of Brazil: green tobacco sickness and other health problems. Ciencia & saude coletiva. 2014 Dec 1;19(12):4797.
- 35. WIPO Search international and national patent collections. Retrieved from https://patentscope.wipo. int/search/en/detail.jsf?docId=WO2017086621.
- Lencucha R. Future of farming must be food not tobacco. Tobacco Control. 2023 May 1;32(3):269-70.
- Reddy KV, Reddy DD, Rao CC, Hema B, Srinivas A. Impact of FCV tobacco crop size reduction in Andhra Pradesh: adoption of alternative crops. Tob. Res. 2017;43(2):63-8.
- Gregorio P, Lemos B, Moraes A, Mattos F, Sampaio M, Viveiros P, de Godoy I. Knowledge about tobacco according to smoking habit and level of formal education.

REVIEW

Risk compensation (Peltzman's effect) during the COVID-19 pandemic: a narrative review

ம Abdel-Hady El-Gilany¹, 🕩 Hala Abou-ElWafa²

¹Prof., Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Public Health and Community Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt

²Prof., Industrial Medicine and Occupational Health, Public Health and Community Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt

Received: 08.05.2024, Accepted: 29.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: The implementation of a safety measure can have counterproductive effects on other protective measures and people engage in risk compensatory behavior (fewer safety behaviors). It is essential to summarize different researches to better understand the dynamics of risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic in order to develop evidence-based interventions. Mass vaccination and public use of facemasks, among others, had been widely adopted to halt COVID-19 pandemic. Given marked variability in vaccines effectiveness and the lack of evidence of facemask efficiency in preventing spread of infection, all preventive measures should be used as a single package. People might feel false sense of safety when engaging in any of these COVID-prevention behaviors, as predicted by risk compensation theory, this review aims to address the ongoing debate about risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic; to summarize the findings of previous studies about it; and to provide new evidence base of the effects of a specific preventive measure on the other measures.

Methods: A structured search on PubMed and Google Scholar on January 8, 2024 for ever published articles in English using keywords in different combinations ("Peltzman effect" OR 'risk compensation' OR 'risk homeostasis') AND ('COVID19' OR 'COVID-19' OR 'covid19' OR 'covid-19' OR 'SARS CoV2' OR 'SARSCoV-2' OR'SARS-CoV-2' OR 'SARS-COV2') AND ('face mask' OR 'face cover') AND ("distancing" OR social distancing") AND ("Vaccines' OR "Vaccination") AND ('hand hygiene') AND ('Sanitizers'). The search included various study designs including both observational and experimental studies.

Results: Studies showed conflicting results and no definite conclusion can be drawn about the risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic.

Conclusion: Current literature failed to provide a solid evidence of risk compensation during the current pandemic. More community-based intervention studies are needed to provide solid bases for future pandemics.

Keywords: Peltzman Effect, Risk Compensation, Risk Homeostasis, COVID-19

Correspondence: Prof., Hala Samir Abou-ElWafa, Industrial Medicine and Occupational Health, Public Health and Community Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt. **E-mail:** halasamir@mans.edu.eg, **Phone:** (0100) 6167177

Cite This Article: El-Gilany A, Abou-ElWafa H. Risk compensation (Peltzman's effect) during the COVID-19 pandemic: a narrative review. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 317-326.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

World Health Organization (WHO) acknowledged the COVID-19 pandemic on 11 March 2020.¹ People who perceived the COVID-19 virus as threatening are more likely to adopt the recommended preventive measures, especially up-taking the vaccines.

Vaccination has played a key role in reducing the health burden of COVID-19, however, concern has been raised worldwide that risk compensation, a process whereby feelings of security arising from being vaccinated may lead people to reduce their engagement in other protective behaviours², could detract from the overall health benefit of the COVID-19 vaccination campaign.¹

Throughout the pandemic, the world has become familiar with the concept of risk compensation. In circumstances that are perceived as unsafe, people naturally modify their behavior, compensating to minimize that risk. The effects of risk compensation tend to fade over time as the personal threat decreases.² This is known as pandemic fatigue that is decreasing adherence to risk reduction strategies complicating public health efforts. Availability of vaccines further weaken adherence to other safety measures.² This phenomenon, in which individuals respond to safety measures with a compensatory increase in risky behavior, is named the "Peltzman Effect" first described it in 1975.^{2,3} The Peltzman's phenomenon has been varying, identified in specific safety interventions but not others.² The famous example the use of pre-exposure prophylaxis to lower the risk of HIV transmission has been linked with diminished intention to wear condoms, greater numbers of sexual partners, and increased occurrence of sexually transmitted infections in some studies.^{4,5}

Rationale

Although theoretically plausible, empirical evidence on risk compensation is mixed. There are many studies in different countries and dates with conflicting results about presence of risk compensation and its effects during COVID-19 pandemic.⁸ Risk compensation in response to government actions became a public issue. There is a need for further research to better know the dynamics of risk compensation during pandemics in order to develop evidence-based interventions to mitigate the potential negative consequences of Peltzman's effect and to examine the presence of a risk compensation effect of one preventive measure on other measures.

Aim

To provide a short review on risk compensation and related terms and to summarize the findings of previous studies about risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic.

METHOD

This study is a narrative review that summarizes results of previous publications regarding the theory of risk compensation and its presence during COVID-19 pandemic. A structured search on PubMed and Google Scholar on January 8, 2024 using the following search terms in different combinations ("Peltzman effect" OR 'risk compensation' OR 'risk homeostasis') AND ('COVID19' OR 'COVID-19' OR 'covid19' OR 'covid-19' OR 'SARS CoV2' OR 'SARSCoV-2' OR'SARS-CoV-2' OR 'SARS-COV2') AND ('face mask' OR 'face cover') AND ("distancing" OR social distancing") AND ("Vaccines' OR "Vaccination") AND ('hand hygiene') AND ('Sanitizers'). All previous English publications were included. We excluded case reports, case series, duplication, editorial and non-formal/ personal notes. All other study designs were included if they consider the effect of one or more preventive measures on the other measures, whatever the target group. A total of 117 articles were downloaded, 60 of them were included in the review and 20 of them were found to have findings about risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Peltzman effect

In 1975, Samuel Peltzman first described the phenomenon of compensating behavior (Peltzman effect, aka: risk compensation or risk homeostasis in epidemiology). This phenomenon has been used to explain the unintended consequences of a number of health care interventions ³.

In his paper "The Effects of Automobile Safety Regulation," Peltzman³ concluded that safety regulations like seatbelt laws did not affect highway death rates. Instead, the implementation of safety regulations led to riskier behavior from drivers. As a result, while driver death rates decreased, pedestrian death rates and property damage accidents increased.³ The basic premise of the theory is that people hold a specific target risk level or risk preference that they attempt to maintain. If a situation exceeds this target risk level, people engage in actions to lower the perceived risk. People likewise engage in risk-taking behaviors when the perceived risk is lower than their risk preference.² The external implementation of safety devices or regulations can lead to a risk reduction (e.g., a seat belt protects the driver from serious accidents) ³, causing people to feel safer, which then results in more risk-taking behavior ².

There are confusion and debate among different specialties about the three terms Peltzman effect, risk compensation and risk homeostasis. Some scholars consider these terms to be synonymous while others consider they represent different ideas ⁶.

The risk compensation theory (RCT) is a behavioral model of human attitudes towards risk which suggests that people might adjust their behavior in response to the perceived level of risk. The decrease in perceived risk through access to preventive measures may lead to increasing frequency of risky behaviors especially in the domain of health-related behaviors. The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed people to the sense of risk compensation and behavior change in response to the perceived risk. This results in false sense of safety and un-intended consequences. This phenomenon has been reported especially after mass vaccination with possible negative effects and effectiveness of vaccination programs.^{7,8}

Risk compensation has been investigated even before COVID-19 pandemic using different methods e.g., observational studies or natural experiments⁹, lab experiments¹⁰, self-report questionnaires ¹¹, and populationlevel statistics.¹² These studies reported the presence of risk compensation and showed that it may not be universal and depend on the type of the behaviors and the intervention.

Risk homeostasis is a controversial hypothesis suggesting that people undertaking protective interventions are likely to exhibit increased harmful behaviors and be exposed to higher risk. They compare the expected benefits and costs of safe behavior versus the expected benefits and cost of the risk behavior.⁶

Mechanism of risk compensation

There was an interaction between the multiple preventive measures that lead to risk compensation during COVID-19 pandemic. The mechanism of risk compensation includes both economic and psychological aspects. Economically safety can be perceived as a good, and thus traded for other more desirable goods.^{2,13}

Risk homeostasis theory explains the psychological aspect that is people reached desired level of risk, if this level is reduced by an intervention people will uptake other risks until they return to this tolerated risk level.¹³

Hedlund² has identified four mental preconditions that play a role in risk compensation behavior: 1) the intervention must be visible; 2) there is a perception of protection, 3) motivation to increase risktaking, and 4) control and opportunity to adjust behavior. A contributing factor is the effectiveness of the intervention on mutant strains. However, most of vaccines are protective against new mutants.¹⁴ All these criteria were meeting in the COVID-19 pandemic.15 The COVID-19 preventive measures are visible (e.g. vaccine uptake, wearing facemask, ..etc) and many people preceive these measures as protective people adopt them. Pharmaceutical SO companies claimed the high effectiveness of different vaccines that encourage vaccinated persons to take the risk of neglecting other protective measures. Most of these measures are under perosnal control and are available

for all people.

Risk compensation and various preventive measures of COVID-19

Currently the COVID-19 preventive measures include mass vaccination as a specific measure and non-specific measures that pertinent to all respiratory infections e.g., facemask wearing, social distancing, lockdown, personal hygiene and use of sanitizers. All these strategies have focused on breaking the chain of virus transmission. All preventive measures should be taken as a single package for effective control of COVID-19 at community level. It is not clear whether the simultaneous adoption of all preventive measures is additive or multiplicative in effects. To the best authors' knowledge there is no literature to support the effects of simultaneous or combined use of different preventive measures.

(1)COVID-19 vaccines

Efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines varies and all vaccines give neither immediate nor full protection. However, over-confidence in vaccines gives a sense of personal safety and is associated with increasing in risky behavior by neglecting other non-specific preventive measures including facemask use, distancing and hand hygiene. The vaccinated individuals could still become infected and transmit the virus and its variants.¹⁶ An epidemiological study showed that the probability of COVID-19 positivity increased after the first dose of the vaccine,¹⁷ Ioannidis,¹⁸ in his mathematical model concluded that risk compensation may eliminate the benefits of COVID-19 vaccines, especially with low vaccine effectiveness and/ or low probability of infection in population.

(2)Facemask wearing

Wearing facemask correctly in closed spaces was recommended to decrease transmission of COVID-19 viruses. There is uncertainty about the size of effects of face coverings in the package of measures for reducing transmission. Evidence from laboratory and community experiments as well as observational studies justifies the use of facemas.^{19,20,21} Mask wearing may encourage people to neglect other preventive measures and increases the risks for transmission and reduces its benefits.²² It is recommended to wear facemasks with other preventive measures because their minimal risks and substantial effects.²³

(3)Social distancing and avoiding physical contact

Social or physical distancing from others cut the chain of transmission of infectious diseases including COVD-19.²⁴ The distance specified to be six feet (about two meters) at least.²⁵ Physical distancing includes shielding and avoiding gatherings and crowd, shaking hands, hugging and kissing.²⁶ Early social distancing has substantial impact on the number of infected individuals and deaths by COVID-19 and is dependent upon demographic, environmental, behavioral and economic dimensions.²⁷

(4)Lockdown (mobility limitation)/ quarantine

The lockdown, quarantine and mobility restrictions are special types of social distancing enforced by governments to halt the COVID-19 pandemic. These include closure of non-vital services and retail shops as well as precautionary measures at work and in educational settings.²⁸

Many studies concluded that the pandemic *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

can be curbed by lockdown in different countries.^{29,30,31} Furthermore, some scholars lockdown affects postulated that the environment, people's psychology, and economy.²⁹ Some studies reported no effect of lockdown on morbidity and mortality of COVID-19 and recommended the economyfriendly relaxed control measures to prevent the adverse effect on mental health and quality of life associated with lockdown fatigue and increased mortality from other causes e.g., myocardial infarction, suicide, and stroke.^{32,33}

For lockdown to be effective it should be applied in a large scale and very early in the pandemic associated with other control measures after assurance of people's solidarity as well as adherence to the necessary changes through information, education and communication (IEC).^{32,34} Cost-benefit analysis should be considered before enforcing lockdown for future pandemic.³⁵

(5)Personal hygiene and use of sanitizers

During the COVID-19 pandemic, personal hygiene and sanitizers use were advocated and promoted to prevent the spread of infection together with other measures.³⁶ These included thorough cleaning of hands either with 60% alcohol-based rub or soap and water, cover mouth and nose by a tissue when coughing or sneezing, dispose tissue into closed pin, and disinfect regularly touched surfaces e.g., door handles, phone screens and faucets.^{37,38,39} The challenges of these measures in developing countries are high population density, low hand washing facilities, air pollution, lack of access to clean water as well as limited personal protective equipment. The correct and sound use of disinfectants and sanitizers is important to avoid their adverse effects on the humans, animals, and environment.^{40,41}

Table 1. Summary of	f risk compensatio	on in different C	OVID-19 preventive	e measures.		
Author & Year	Study design	Country/ setting	Population	Protective measure	Effect on other measures	Risk compensation
			544 COVID-19		More hand-washing & mask wearing after vaccination than prior to it.	
Chen et al. ⁽⁴²⁾	Cross-section	hospital	inpatients grade III		-Significant lower % of wearing masks and hand washing in non-vaccinated group	No
Hall et al. ⁽⁸⁾	Cross-section	Canada	1958 general population	-	Vaccinated are more likely to perform distancing, mask wearing and hand hygiene than unvaccinated.	No
Yang et al. ⁽⁴³⁾	Online survey	China	602 travellers		No significant differences in hand washing and mask wearing among travellers. These measures partly improved among vaccinated.	No
			754 (2 periods)			
Hale et al. ⁽⁴⁴⁾	Cross-section	12 European countries	Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker	Vaccination	No reduction in distancing or mask use	No
Wambua et al. ⁽⁴⁵⁾	Cross-section	16 European countries	29292 general population		More social contacts	Yes
Desrichard et al. ⁽¹⁶⁾	Longitudinal study	UK	765 general population		14 precautionary measures	No
Wright et al. ⁽⁴⁶⁾	Longitudinal study	UK	70,000 adults		General precautionary measures & social distancing	No
Hwang et al. ⁽⁴⁷⁾	Panel data + cross-section	South Korea	Daily vaccines, credit cards, airline companies, survey (4980 subjects)	-	Shopping, travel & socialization	No
Agrawal et al. ⁽⁴⁸⁾	National panel data	USA	122,405 observations		Mask, hand washing, avoiding crowds and restaurants	No
Oliver et al. ⁽⁴⁹⁾	Observational cross-section	USA	2,068 general population	_	Social distancing	No
	Randomized		Joining			
Seres et al. ⁽⁵⁰⁾	field experiment	Germany	lines in front of stores		Social distancing	No
Aranguren et al. ⁽⁵¹⁾	Field experiment	France	>4500 real-life interaction	-	Distancing	Yes
Kovacs et al. ⁽⁵²⁾	Ecologic study	Germany	geo-located smartphone data.		Social mobility	Yes
Luckman et al. ⁽⁷⁾	Two online scenarios	UK	401 & 400 general population	•	Participants would stand, sit, or walk closer to the stranger if either of them was wearing a mask.	Yes
Wadud et al. ⁽⁵³⁾	Record-based	Bangladesh.	Daily mobility & COVID-19 cases records	Facemask	Significant increases in community mobility and decreases in stay at home associated with increases in new COVID-19 cases.	Yes
	0		106,880	-		Yes (close
Jorgensen et al. ⁽⁵⁴⁾	Quasi- experimental	Denmark	General population		becrease in close contact. No effect on hygiene	contact) No (hygiene)
Yan et al. ⁽⁵⁵⁾	Quasi- experimental	USA	Daily SafeGraph smart device location data and variation in the date of face mask mandates		Less time at homes and more visits to high- risk location	Yes
Aranguren (56)	Cross-section	France	1396 & 1326 pediasterns (2	-	Men: less distancing	Yes (men)
_	observational	(Paris)	waves)		Women: distancing in one wave	No (women)
Guenther et al. ⁽⁵⁷⁾	Cross-section	UK	population	Lockdown	Increase mask use & distancing	No
Henk et al. ⁽⁵⁸⁾	Longitudinal	Germany	989 general population	Quarantine & face masks	Less distancing	Yes

Table 1 summarizes the risk compensation of each preventive measure on the other measures in different studies. Twinety studies explored risk compensation. It is clear that the majority of studies are cross-sectional in design (50%; 10 out of 20) done in general population of Europe, USA and Canada (80%; 16 out of 20); three are longitudinal, two quasi-experimental and only one field trial. Risk compensation was studied mostly for vaccination (50%; 10 out of 20) and facemask (50%; 10 out of 20) as these are the most commonly adopted measures. Risk compensation behavior was reported in 40% (8 out of 20) of studies retrieved. Few studies were done in developing countries (25%, 5 out of 20) where the situation may be worse than developed countries.^{42,43,47,53}

Effects of risk compensation

Risk compensation phenomenon reverses the benefits of different COVID-19 preventive measures, especially if each intervention is not sufficiently effective when used alone in real life or among high-risk groups. Witnessing someone else taking a precaution could potentially increases one's possibility of taking a risk e.g., who have not received a COVID-19 vaccine may, consciously or subconsciously, neglect facemasks and distancing as long as others received the vaccine. This could be potentially disastrous resulting in a higher disease burden.⁵⁹

How to overcome risk compensation?

For counteracting and neutralizing the false believe leading to risk compensation it is important to recognize and be aware of its existence in the community. Public campaign of IEC (information, education and communication) should be carried out by the mass media, government and medical personnel to reinforce all preventive measures to be tackled as a single package.⁶⁰ The public health messages should be clear, reliable, straightforward, and feasible.

Risk compensation in COVID-19 varies from population to another and within different strata of the same population depending on risk perception and level of adherence with public health measures.¹⁵ Counteracting the widespread misinformation (infodemic) should be a component of COVID-19 control program.

Limitations and biases

A limitation of this narrative review is the contradictory findings regarding risk compensation during the COVID-19 pandemic in the included studies. There is no standardization of research designs, most of them are descriptive in nature with self-reported answers that introduce recall bias and/or social desirability impage. Also studies were done on different populations and different dates.

CONCLUSION

This brief narrative review revealed that several amounts and types of risk compensation have occurred in response to some preventive measures but not in reaction to others. Studies showed conflicting results and no definite conclusion can be drawn.

Alertness of risk compensation counteracts the false believes and practices. It is important to implement all preventive measures as a single package to augment each other including vaccination, facemask wearing, physical and social distancing and sanitizers use. Risk compensation is more likely to be reported in observational rather than experimental studies with conflicting results and higher risk of bias. There is a need for social and behavioral longitudinal research, especially in developing countries, to map risk compensation types and at high-risk groups to tackle this phenomenon as COVID-19 is still existing.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Support Resources : All the authors declare no support resources.

Conflict of Interest : All the authors declare no potential conflict of interest.

Ethical Declaration: Not applicable

Author contributions: Concept and design: AHG, Data collection: HAE; Analysis and interpretation of data: AHG, HAE, Drafting the manuscript: AHG, HAE, Critical revision of the article: AHG, HAE, Final approval of the article: AHG, HAE

REFERENCES

- WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID19 -March 2020. Available at: https://www.who.int/director-general/ speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-openingremarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---21-december-2020 Accessed: January 8, 2024 Accessed: January 8, 2024.
- Hedlund J. Risky business: safety regulations, risks compensation, and individual behavior. Inj Prev. 2000;6:82-90.
- Peltzman S. The effects of automobile safety regulation. Journal of Political Economy. 1975;83:677-725.
- 4. Traeger MW, Cornelisse VJ, Asselin J, Price B, Roth JN, Willcox J, et al; PrEPX Study Team. Association of HIV preexposure prophylaxis with incidence of sexually transmitted infections among individuals at high risk of HIV infection. JAMA. 2019;321:1380-1390.
- Golub SA, KowalczykW, Weinberger CL, Parsons J. Preexposure prophylaxis and predicted condom use among high-risk men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;54:548-55.

- 6. Pless B. Risk Compensation: Revisited and ebutted. Safety 2016; 2:16.
- Luckman A, Zeitoun H, Isoni A, Loomes G, Vlaev I, Powdthavee N, Read D. Risk Compensation During COVID-19: The Impact of Face Mask Usage on Social Distancing. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied. 2021;27(4):722–738.
- 8. Hall P, Meng G, Sakib M, Quah A, Agar T, Fong G. Do the vaccinated perform less distancing, mask wearing and hand hygiene? A test of the risk compensation hypothesis in a representative sample during the COVID-19 pandemic. 2023;41:4027–4030.
- Radun I, Radun J, Esmaeilikia M, Lajunen T. Risk compensation and bicycle helmets: A false conclusion and uncritical citations. Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour, 2018;58:548–555.
- Phillips O, Fyhri A, Sagberg F. Risk compensation and bicycle helmets. Risk Analysis. 2011;31(8):1187– 1195.
- 11. Marcus J, Glidden D, Mayer H, Liu Y, Buchbinder P, Rivet Amico K, et al. No evidence of sexual risk compensation in the iPrEx trial of daily oral HIV preexposure prophylaxis. PLOS ONE, 2013;8(12), Article e81997.
- 12. McCarthy P, Talley W. Evidence on risk compensation and safety behaviour. Economics Letters, 1999;62(1):91–96.
- Underhill, K. Study designs for identifying risk compensation behavior among users of biomedical HIV prevention technologies: Balancing methodological rigor and research ethics. Social Science & Medicine. 2013;94:115–123.
- 14. Wu N, Joyal-Desmarais K, Ribeiro PAB, Vieira AM, Stojanovic J, Sanuade C, et al. Long-term effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines against infections, hospitalizations, and mortality in adults: findings from a rapid living systematic evidence synthesis and meta-analysis up to December, 2022. Lancet Respir Med. 2023;11(5):439-452.
- 15. Trogen B, Caplan A. Risk Compensation and COVID-19 Vaccines. Ann Intern Med. 2021;174(6):858-859.
- Desrichard O, Moussaoui L, Ofosu, N. Reduction of Precautionary Behaviour following Vaccination against COVID-19: A Test on a British Cohort. Vaccines 2022, 10,936.
- 17. Bernal J, Nick Andrews N, Gower C, Robertson C, Stowe J, Tessier E, et al. Effectiveness of the Pfizer-BioNTech and Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccines on covid-19 related symptoms, hospital admissions, and mortality in older adults in England: test negative case-control study. BMJ 2021;373:n1088

- 18. Ioannidis J. Benefit of COVID-19 Vaccination Accounting for Potential Risk. npj Vaccines 2021;6:99.
- 19. Mitze T, Kosfeld R, Rode J, Walde K. Face masks considerably reduce COVID-19 cases in Germany. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2020;117:32293–301.
- Karaivanov A, Lu SE, Shigeoka H, Chen C, Pamplona S. Face masks, public policies and slowing the spread of COVID-19: evidence from Canada. J Health Econ 2021;78:102475.
- 21. Howard J, Huang A, Li Z, Tufekci Z, Zdimal V, van der Westhuizen HM. An evidence review of face masks against COVID-19. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA2021;118(4):e2014564118
- 22. WHO. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): How to protect yourself & others. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. Available at: https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/preventgetting-sick/prevention.html. Accessed January 8, 2024.
- 23. Greenhalgh T, Schmid MB, Czypionka T, Bassler D, Gruer L. Face masks for the public during the covid-19 crisis. BMJ 2020;369(m1435)
- 24. Moosa I. The effectiveness of social distancing in containing Covid-19. Appl. Econ. 2020;52(58):6292–6305.
- 25. Setti L, Passarini F, De Gennaro G , Barbieri P, Perrone M, Borelli M. Airborne transmission route of covid-19: why 2 meters/6 feet of inter-personal distance could not be enough. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2020;17(8):2932.
- 26. Sewpaul R, Mabaso M, Cloete A, Dukhi N, Naidoo I, Davids A. Social distancing behaviour: avoidance of physical contact and related determinants among South Africans: twelve days into the COVID-19 lockdown, Psychology, Health Medicine.2023;28(1):260-278.
- 27. Prakash N, Srivastava B, Singh S, Sharma S, Jain S. Effectiveness of social distancing interventions in containing COVID-19 incidence: International evidence using Kalman filter. Economics and Human Biology 2022;44:101091
- 28. UNICEF. Preventing a 'lockdown generation' in Europe and central Asia Building resilient societies with young people in the era of COVID-19.2020 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and European Training Foundation (ETF). 2020 https://www.etf.europa.eu/en/publications-andresources/publications/preventing-lockdowngeneration-europe-and-central-asia Accessed: January 8, 2024
- 29. Atalan A. Is the lockdown important to prevent the COVID-19 pandemic? Effects on psychology, environment and economy-perspective. Ann Med

Surg (Lond). 2020;56:38-42.

- 30. Houvèssou G, de Souza T, da Silveira M. Lockdowntype containment measures for COVID-19 prevention and control: a descriptive ecological study with data from South Africa, Germany, Brazil, Spain, United States, Italy and New Zealand, February – August 2020. Epidemiol. Serv. Saude, Brasília, 2021;30(1):e2020513.
- 31. Yang X. Does city lockdown prevent the spread of COVID-19? New evidence from the psynthetic control method. Global Health Research and Policy. 2021;6:20.
- 32. Fuss F, Weizman Y, Tan A. COVID-19 Pandemic: How Effective Are Preventive Control Measures and Is a Complete Lockdown Justified? A Comparison of Countries and States. COVID 2022;2:18–46.
- 33. Musoke D, Nalinya S, Lubega GB, Deane K, Ekirapa-Kiracho E, McCoy D (2023) The effects of COVID-19 lockdown measures on health and healthcare services in Uganda. PLOS Glob Public Health 2023;3(1):e0001494.
- 34. Girum T, Lentiro K, Geremew M, Migora B, Shewamare S, Shimbre M. Optimal strategies for COVID-19 prevention from global evidence achieved through social distancing, stay at home, travel restriction and lockdown: a systematic Review. Archives of Public Health 2021;79:150.
- Yanovskiy M, Socol Y. Are Lockdowns Effective in Managing Pandemics? Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2022;19:9295.
- 36. Alandry G. Frequent hand washing with soap is one of the most effective ways to stop the spread of coronavirus (COVID-19). WaterAid. 2020. Available from: https://washmatters.wateraid. org/water-and-hygiene-against-coronavirus Accessed: January 8, 2024
- CDC. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): How to protect yourself & others. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019 Available at: https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/preventgetting-sick/prevention.html. Accessed: January 8, 2024
- 38. WHO. Mask use in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance. Report No.: WHO/2019-nCoV/ IPC_Masks/2020.5. World Health Organization, 2020. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ advice-on-the-use-of-masks-in-the-communityduring-home-care-and-in-healthcare-settingsin-the-context-of-the-novel-coronavirus-(2019ncov)-outbreak. Access: January 8, 2024
- 39. Rachel A. Leslie, S. Steve Zhou , David R. Macinga Inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 by commercially available alcohol-based hand Sanitizers. American Journal of Infection Control 2021;49:401–402.

- 40. Dhama K, Patel S, Kumar R, Masand R, Rana J, Yatoo M, Tiwari R. The role of disinfectants and sanitizers during COVID-19 pandemic: advantages and deleterious effects on humans and the environment. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 2021;28:34211–34228
- 41. Prajapati P, Desai H, Chandarana C. Hand sanitizers as a preventive measure in COVID-19 pandemic, its characteristics, and harmful effects: a review. Journal of the Egyptian Public Health Association 2022;97:6
- 42. Chen L, Tung TH, Zhang X, Wang G. Applicability of risk compensation to the relationship between health behaviors and COVID-19 vaccination among inpatients in Taizhou, China. Z Gesundh Wiss. (Journal of public health) 2023; March 15:1-7.
- 43. Yang M, Wang L; Xu L; Ke M, Sun L. Health Behaviours among Travellers Regarding Risk Compensation Following COVID-19 Vaccination in Taizhou, China. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 2023:1329291.
- 44. Hale T, Angrist N, Goldszmidt R, Kira B, Petherick A, Phillips T. A global panel database of pandemic policies (Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker). Nat Hum Behav. 2021;5(4):529-538.
- 45. Wambua J, Loedy N, Jarvis C, Wong K, Faes C, Grah R et al. The influence of COVID-19 risk perception and vaccination status on the number of social contacts across Europe: insights from the CoMix study. BMC Public Health 2023;23:1350
- 46. Wright L, Steptoe, A.; Mak, H.W.; Fancourt, D. Do People Reduce Compliance with COVID-19 Guidelines Following Vaccination? A Longitudinal Analysis of Matched UK Adults. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 2022;76:109–115.
- 47. Hwang J, Hwang S, Kim H, Lee J, Lee J. Testing Risk Compensation: Evidence from COVID-19 Vaccination. June 12, 2023. HKUST Business School Research Paper No. 2023-104. https://papers. ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4404558. Accessed: January 8, 2024
- 48. Agrawal V, Sood N, Whaley CM. The ex-ante moral hazard effects of COVID-19 vaccines. Technical report, National Bureau of Economic Research. NBER Working Paper No. 30602. October 2022. https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_ papers/w30602/w30602.pdf Accessed: January 8, 2024
- 49. Oliver M. Facemask Wearing and Social Distancing: A Test of Risk Compensation Theory. Virginia Journal of Business, Technology, and Science.

2021;1(1).

- 50. Seres G, Balleyer A, Cerutti N, Danilov A, Friedrichsen J, Liu Y, et al. Face masks increase compliance with physical distancing recommendations during the COVID-19 pandemic Journal of the Economic Science Association 2021;7:139-158.
- 51. Aranguren M. Face mask use conditionally decreases compliance with physical distancing rules against COVID-19: gender differences in risk compensation pattern. Ann. Behav. Med. 2022;56:332–346.
- Kovacs R, Dunaiski M, Tukiainen J. The effect of compulsory face mask policies on community mobility in Germany. Scand. J. of Economics 2023;125(4):1027–1055.
- 53. Wadud Z, Rahman SM, Enam A. Face mask mandates and risk compensation: an analysis of mobility data during the COVID-19 pandemic in Bangladesh. BMJ Global Health 2022;7:e006803.
- 54. Jorgensen F, Lindholt M, Bor A, Petersen M. Does face mask use elicit risk-compensation? Quasiexperimental evidence from Denmark during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Eur J Public Health 2021;31(6):1259-1265.
- 55. Yan Y , Bayham J, Richter A, Fenichel E. Risk compensation and face mask mandates during the COVID-19 pandemic. Scientific Reports 2021:11:3174
- 56. Aranguren M, Cartaud A, Cisse I, Coello Y. People interact closer when a face mask is worn but risk compensation is at best partial. European Journal of Public Health,2023:33(3):1177–1182.
- 57. Guenther B, Galizzi MM, Sanders JG. Heterogeneity in risk-taking during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from the UK lockdown. Front Psychol 2021;12:643653.
- 58. Henk K, Rosing F, Wolff F, Frenzel S, van Dick R, Erkens V, et al. An examination and extension of the Peltzman effect during the Covid-19 pandemic. Current Research in Ecological and Social Psychology. 2023;4:100091
- 59. Kim JH, Marks F, Clemens JD. Looking beyond COVID-19 vaccine phase 3 trials. Nat Med. 2021;27:205-211.
- 60. Iyengar K, Ish P, Botchu R, Jain V , Vaishya R. Influence of the Peltzman effect on the recurrent COVID-19 waves in Europe Postgrad Med J 2022;98:e110-e111.

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS AND META ANALYSIS

Effect of mediterranean diet on breast cancer: meta-analysis



¹Assist. Prof., Istanbul Aydin University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Istanbul, Türkiye ²Research Asisst., Istanbul Medipol University, School of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Istanbul, Türkiye

³Lecturer, Istanbul Gedik University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Istanbul, Türkiye ⁴Prof., Istanbul Aydin University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Health Management, Istanbul, Türkiye

Received: 02.08.2024, Accepted: 18.11.2024

Abstract

Objective: In this meta-analysis, we have assessed the effects of Mediterranean Diet on breast cancer.

Methods: Case-control and cross-sectional studies were searched using PubMED, SpringerLink, and Taylor & Francis databases for inclusion in the meta-analysis. We confined our search to the studies conducted and published after year 2000. From all the included studies, geography, sample size, study design, study evaluation method, outcome, risk factors (lowest and highest limit and OR values), and 95% confidence interval data were extracted. Eleven studies with 26361 participants were included of which 10 were case-control studies and 1 was cross-sectional study.

Results: Following the analysis according to the random effects model, it was observed that compliance with the Mediterranean Diet or the high consumption amount of olive oil, seafood, whole grains, vegetables, and fruits in the Mediterranean Diet has a positive effect on breast cancer. The effect size was found to be OR 0.77 (0.68-0.88).

Conclusion: This meta-analysis, including the studies evaluating the effect of Mediterranean diet on breast cancer, concluded that the Mediterranean Diet has positive effects on breast cancer. The risk of breast cancer was found to be decreased with the increased compliance of the Mediterranean Diet.

Keywords: Breast Cancer, Cross-Sectional Study, Mediterranean Diet

Correspondence: Assist.Prof., Ülkü Demirci, Istanbul Aydin University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Istanbul, Türkiye. **E-mail:** ulkudemirci@aydin.edu.tr, **Phone**: +90 535 883 52 02

Cite This Article: Demirci Ü, Karaağaç RM, Falakacılar ÇP, Kaptanoğlu A. Effect of mediterranean diet on breast cancer: meta-analysis. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 327-338.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.*

Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide and is the most common cancer among women¹. It accounts for over 2 million cases each year². Breast cancer has multifactorial etiology which includes several factors such as age, genetic factors, hormonal factors, family history, use of alcohol, use of tobacco, obesity and physical inactivity^{3,4}. Breast cancer cases are less observed in women of younger age and more in women of older age. Incidences of breast cancer have been found to sharply increase within the age group of 45 to 50⁴.

Studies have shown that highest rate of breast cancer were observed in USA, and Northern Europe and lowest in Asia. Racial and ethnic differences also have an impact on the breast cancer incidences⁵. High incidences of breast cancer were observed in Caucasians than African Americans in women above the age of 50 years⁶. Family history has also been considered as an important risk factor for breast cancer but overall, less than 10% of all breast cancers have been found to be associated with inherited genetic mutations⁷. Hormonal factors such as increased level of estrogen hormone, post-menopausal hormonal therapy, birth control pills, fertility medications and increased levels of testosterone hormone in women have been strongly associated with risk of breast cancer⁸.

Association of diet with breast cancer has been studied widely keeping in consideration food groups, single food and nutrients along with their effect on the survival of the patients⁹. The studies which have focused on the effect of individual foods and nutrients on the survival in cancer patients were able to provide restricted information on the effect of diet as they did not study interaction between

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

the particular nutrient and other constituents of the diet. Therefore, regardless of many studies, the findings related to single nutrient or individual food have not given complete information on role of dietary pattern in the etiology of breast cancer. While it has been directly related to alcohol use^{10,11}, the evidence determined about some specific food and food groups is still controversial^{12,13}.

To overcome, the above said issues, it has been suggested to evaluate the effect of complete dietary patterns which are a combination of specific nutritional indicators on breast cancer. It would be helpful to therefore understand which dietary style in total could have a better effect on breast cancer survival. One such dietary pattern is Mediterranean diet which is considered to be a healthy dietary pattern. Mediterranean diet, which means "diaita" in Greek, meaning "lifestyle" includes high consumption of olive oil, olives, whole grains, vegetables and fruits, oil seeds, legumes and fish; with medium eggs, poultry and dairy products. It is a diet characterized by low levels of red meat and meat products. The Mediterranean diet, introduced by Ancel Keys in the 1960s, is one of the most widely researched and well-known dietary patterns worldwide. The traditional Mediterranean diet has its origins in the civilisations surrounding the Mediterranean Sea. This dietary pattern is therefore closely associated with the social behaviour and lifestyles of the Mediterranean region. The Mediterranean diet has been recognised as an 'intangible cultural heritage of humanity' by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation because it is deeply rooted in its geographical origins, has positive effects on health and has protective effects on the environment. Since the 1960s, increasing evidence has demonstrated the potential

positive effects of the Mediterranean diet on health¹⁴.

The Mediterranean diet has been found to have a protective effect on breast cancer because of the nature of its constituents. It is rich in antioxidants, carotenoids, vitamins, flavonoids, squalene found in extra virgin olive oil and dietary fiber. This diet model prevents DNA damage by decreasing endogenous estrogen level¹⁵, increasing sex hormone binding globulin levels¹⁶, and showing a positive response to the harmful effects of free radicals^{17,18}. Various studies have shown that this dietary pattern can reduce the risk of breast cancer by reducing the oxidative risk^{19,20}.

Worldwide, breast cancer incidences differ drastically from each other²¹. Due to lack of evidence-based studies, the association between the Mediterranean diet and breast cancer is still under debate. According to the EPIC (European Prospective Investigation into Cancer) study, when the effects of the Mediterranean diet was examined on all types of cancer, it showed protective effect against various types of cancer, especially breast cancer²².

Another important study, PREDIMED randomized study, showed that the Mediterranean diet had a preventive effect against breast cancer especially on postmenopausal breast cancer. This study concluded that extra virgin olive oil, which is included in the Mediterranean diet, has a very potential effect in primary prevention of breast cancer. Long-term and comprehensive studies are needed to further ascertain the positive effects of the Mediterranean diet on breast cancer²³.

Herein, we conducted a meta-analysis of

available cross sectional and case control studies which have assessed the association between the adherence to a Mediterranean diet and breast cancer, in order to establish the effect of adherence to a Mediterranean diet on breast cancer.

METHOD

Literature Search Study

An electronic literature search was conducted to identify relevant studies published in English between 2000-2020 from PubMed, SpringerLink, and Taylor & Francis databases with the following keywords. "Mediterranean Diet" OR "olive oil" OR "whole grain" OR "seafood" OR "vegetable and fruit" AND "breast cancer". We did not keep the restriction of age of the participants for selecting studies for this meta-analysis. In addition, references cited in the original studies were manually searched.

Inclusion Criteria

Titles and abstracts of the publications on the relationship between the Mediterranean Diet and breast cancer incidences were reviewed. The full texts of the articles whose abstracts were found appropriate were downloaded and deemed eligible for this meta-analysis if they fulfilled the following inclusion criteria: 1-) case-control and cross-sectional studies; 2-) studies that yield results on breast cancer; 3-) Studies including Odd Ratio (OR), 95% confidence interval (CL) data; 4-) Studies after 2000.

Exclusion Criteria

Comments, reviews, cohort studies, and unpublished studies were excluded from the analysis. A total of 940 articles were found in the first search. Thirty potentially relevant articles were dropped after duplication analysis, summary and title screening, removal of studies prior to 2000, and exclusion of nonbreast cancer studies and studies with breast cancer recurrence. Nineteen of these articles were not included in the study due to the lack of appropriate statistical data. After all these exclusion criteria, a total of 11 studies were left for the meta-analysis. The articles reviewed were tagged as "Mediterranean Diet²¹⁻²⁴," "olive oil^{22,25}," "healthy^{26,27}," "dietary pattern²⁸," "whole grain²⁹," "fatty fish³⁰," "Western diet³¹." Healthy diet is characterized by the consumption of vegetables and fruits, seafood, poultry. The Western diet is a diet characterized by refined grains, red meat, processed meat, high-fat foods and sweets. The flow diagram of the steps of the article selection process for meta-analysis is given in Figure 1.





Data Extraction

We extracted the following data from all the included studies; authors, year of publication, geography of the study, sample size, study design, age range of the participants, study evaluation method, outcome, risk factors (lowest and highest limit and OR values) and 95% confidence interval.

The quality of the studies included in the meta-*Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)* analysis was evaluated with the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.

Statistical Analysis

Comprehensive Meta Analysis (CMA) license software was used for the data analysis. The data of all articles meeting the inclusion criteria and decided to be included in the study was entered into the CMA program. CMA program was used to obtain the general effect sizes, forest plot, funnel plot graphics.

The heterogeneity of the articles was evaluated. Q statistics is used to calculate the effect size in meta-analysis studies, to decide on the fixed and random effect model and to measure the heterogeneity between the studies. In the analysis of the Q statistics, it is tested whether all the studies show the overall effect. As a result of the analysis, if the significance value (p) is below the critical value, it could be interpreted as not all the studies show the same effect. In this case, it can be said that there is heterogeneity between the studies^{24,25}. The I² statistics provides information about the ratio of this heterogeneity. If the individual study results included in the meta-analysis are homogeneous, the fixed effect model is used, and in the case of heterogeneous, the random effects model is used³².

Publication bias in the studies was examined with a funnel plot. There should be symmetry in the funnel plot, when there is no spring bias. If there is a bias in the publications included in the study, this situation causes an asymmetrical appearance in the graphic and one corner of the graphic is emptier than the other corner²⁶.

RESULTS

Total 940 articles were obtained from the literature search; of which, 11 articles, including a total of 26,361 participants, which evaluated the relationship between the Mediterranean Diet and breast cancer were

included in the study. 10 of these articles were case-control studies and 1 article was acrosssectional study. The main characteristics of these studies (type of study, participant age range, sample size, country of study, evaluation criteria and other features) have been shown in Table 1.

Table 1. General characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis										
Author/ Year	Place	Ages of Participants	Study Type	Number of Participants	Diet Assessment Method	Assessment	Adjustment			
Turati et al. 2008	Italy Switzerland	23-78	Case-Control	3034 cases 3392 controls	78-item FFQ (Food Frequency Questions)	Med Diet Score	Anthropometric measurements, smoking and alcohol consumption, family history, hormone replacement therapy (HRT) use, personal medical history, menopausal status, education, BMI, oral contraceptive use			
Garcia- Arenzana et al. 2013	Spain	45-69	Cross-Sectional	3548 post and perimenopausal	117-item FFQ	Mammography	BMI, menopausal status, educational status, socioeconomic status, hormone replacement therapy, physical activity, smoking habit, alcohol consumption, mammographic density			
Demetriou et al. 2012	Cyprus	40-70	Case-Control	935 cases 817 controls	32-item FFQ	MedDiet Score by Panagiotakos MedDiet Score by Martinez- Gonzalez	Level of education, marital status, BMI, physical activity status, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, family history of breast and ovarian cancer, hormone replacement therapy, age at pregnancy and menarche, gestation period, parity, breastfeeding, age at first and last pregnancy			
Garcia- Segovia et al. 2006	Canary Islands	25-85	Case-Control	291 cases 464 controls	88-item FFQ		Chronic diseases, sociodemographic variables, smoking habits (age at onset, age at quitting, smoked per day, type of tobacco), alcohol consumption (amount of alcohol consumed per day, drinking patterns), physical activity, menstrual and reproductive events and nutritional beliefs, opinions and attitudes, family history of diseases,			
Mourouti et al. 2014	Greece	44-68	Case-Control	250 cases 250 controls	86-item FFQ	Med Diet Score And IPAQ (International Physical Activity Questionnaire)	Educational level, financial status, BMI, physical activity, smoking habits, family history of breast and ovarian cancer, gynecological medical history (age of menopause, age of menarche, and use of hormone replacement therapy)			

Table 1.(c	countinue) (General charac	teristics of the	studies included i	n the meta-analy	rsis	
Bessaoud et al. 2008	France	25-85	Case-Control	437 cases 922 controls	59-item FFQ	Healthy and Unhealthy diet model	Reproductive and menstrual factors, demographic characteristics, oral contraception, family history of cancer, hormone replacement therapy anthropometric factors, physical activities, and smoking habits.
Buck et al. 2011	Germany	50-74	Case-Control	2884 cases 5509 controls	176-item FFQ	Healthy and Unhealthy diet model	Menstrual status, demographic characteristics, hormone replacement therapy, family history of breast cancer, breastfeeding, smoking, and alcohol consumption, BMI
Kim et al. 2009	South Korea	25-77	Case-Control	358 cases 360 controls	103-item FFQ	IPAQ MET (metabolic equivalent of task)	Demographics and lifestyle factors (alcohol consumption, smoking habits, and physical activity), age at menarche, age at menopause, menopause status, menopausal status, postmenopausal hormone use
Zhang et al. 2010	China	25-70	Case-Control	438 cases 438 controls	81-item FFQ	Healthy and Unhealthy diet model	Sociodemographic characteristics, weight, height, BMI, menstrual and reproductive history, menopausal status, use of contraceptive drugs, use of exogenous hormones, history of benign breast disease, family history of breast cancer, physical activity, smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and prior disease history.
Mourouti et al. 2015	Greece	44-68	Case-Control	250 cases 250 controls	86-item FFQ	Med Diet Score IPAQ	Educational level, BMI, smoking habits, physical activity, alcohol consumption, family history of breast cancer, gynecological medical history, hormone replacement therapy
Castelló et al. 2014	Spain	Women of similar age (± 5)	Case-Control	1017 cases 1017 controls	117-item FFQ	aMED (alternate Mediterranean Diet) AHEI (Alternative Healthy Index)	Demographic characteristics and anthropometric characteristics, personal and family history of breast cancer, physical activity and diet, smoking habits, alcohol consumption

The age range of the study participants varied between 23 and 85 years. Four of the studies were conducted among post- and perimenopausal women. Studies had been conducted in Italy, Spain, Cyprus, Greece, Canary Islands, France, Germany, South Korea and China.

MedDiet Score was used in 5 of the studies

and adherence to the Mediterranean Diet was evaluated. Alternative assessment methods were used in other studies. Food frequency questionnaires were used to evaluate the dietary patterns of the participants. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) was used to evaluate their physical activity. When the heterogeneity test results were examined, it was observed that the effect sizes of the studies included in the meta-analysis were heterogeneously distributed and the heterogeneity was high (Q: 56 I^2 : 82).

While the part indicated in the form of black squares next to each study in the forest chart

it was observed that compliance with the Mediterranean Diet or the high consumption amount of olive oil, seafood, whole grains, vegetables and fruits in the Mediterranean Diet had a positive effect on breast cancer. Moreover, it could be stated that the incidences of breast cancer were lower in women who were on this diet. The effect size



ie ta / mary 515

Figure 2. Forest chart showing the effect sizes of the studies

used in meta-analysis indicated the effect size of that study in the present meta-analysis, the lines on both sides of the black square indicated that the effect size of that study was in the 95% confidence interval. The rhombus at the bottom of all the squares showed the overall effect size of all the studies. In metaanalysis studies, a general conclusion is reached based on the effect size of each study. Eleven studies conducted to examine the effect of the Mediterranean Diet on breast cancer were included in the meta-analysis and the effect sizes for all the included studies were calculated and the overall effect size was reached.

As seen in Figure 2, as a result of the analysis made according to the random effects model,

of the Mediterranean Diet on breast cancer was found to be OR 0.77 (0.68-0.88).

The funnel plot that gives information about whether there is publication bias in the studies included in the meta-analysis has been shown in Figure 3. As evident from the funnel plot in the figure, 6 of the studies included in meta-analysis were between the axis and 4 were outside the axis. Accordingly, it was determined that 4 studies did not have an effect size, yet a significant number of other studies were at a level to contribute to the effect size. When the funnel plot was examined, it was seen that the effect sizes of the studies included in the meta-analysis had been distributed close to symmetry. Therefore, it could be inferred that there was no publication bias in the study.



Figure 3. Funnel plot showing publications bias in CMA program

DISCUSSION

Various studies have been conducted to investigate the association between Mediterranean diet and breast cancer in last decade^{16,23,27,29} which included retrospective case-control studies, prospective cohort studies as well as cross-sectional studies. However, till date, there is no precise conclusion regarding the association of Mediterranean diet in reducing the risk of breast cancer. Our present meta-analysis included 11 studies based on inclusion and exclusion criteria, which were focused on the association of Mediterranean diet and breast cancer published since year, 2000. We had found strong evidence for high heterogeneity among the studies used for this meta-analysis, therefore we used random-effects model in this study to calculate RR and maintaining the stability of the results.

In this meta-analysis study, 11 effect sizes belonging to 11 studies were calculated. While a statistically significant difference was found in 10 studies, no significant difference was found in 1 study. This study aimed to examine the effect of the Mediterranean Diet and the consumption of olive oil, fish, whole grains, vegetables and fruits, which are the basic foods of the Mediterranean Diet, on breast cancer and breast density with meta-analysis method As per the analysis conducted in this data based on available literature, it was concluded that the Mediterranean Diet reduced the risk of breast cancer, and the incidence of breast cancer in women decreased with the increase in compliance with the Mediterranean Diet [OR 0.77 (0.68-0.88)]. In line to our findings, a case-control study conducted in Italy and Switzerland, which evaluated the effect of Mediterranean diet on breast cancer using MedDiet Score, it was found that the highest adherence score to the Mediterranean Diet was associated with lower breast cancer³¹. These results were also consistent with a previously conducted meta-analysis wherein it was shown that adhering to Mediterranean diet reduced the risk, incidences and mortality related to many types of cancer, including breast cancer³³. A stratification analysis conducted by menopausal age showed that a significant inverse association between the risk of breast cancer and Mediterranean Diet²².

The consumption of olive oil, which protects against many diseases, especially cardiovascular diseases with its monounsaturated fatty acids, is quite high in the Mediterranean Diet and is basically the main source of fat. It contains abundance of Oleic acid. Oleic acid is known to suppress the overexpression of oncogene HER2 and thereby promote the apoptotic death in tumor cells³⁴. This suggests that olive oil used in Mediterranean diet could have a positive impact on breast cancer suppression. In a study on olive oil, the relationship between olive oil consumption and mammographic breast density was investigated, and it was reported that the prevalence of breast density decreased with high olive oil consumption [OR $(0.86 (0.76 - 0.96))^{35}$. Since high mammographic breast density is one of the major risk factors associated with breast cancer, reduced breast density after olive oil consumption indicates that it could modulate mammographic breast density which is an important risk bio-marker for breast cancer. Few other studies also supported that olive oil has a protective role on breast cancer [OR 0.52 (0.30-0.92)]³⁶. In a meta-analysis study, wherein relationship between olive oil intake and breast cancer was evaluated, it was found that there might be an inverse relationship between olive oil intake and breast cancer³⁷. However, more extensive studies with long-term follow up are needed to ascertain these findings.

Fish, an example of good quality protein, is one of the frequently consumed foods in the Mediterranean Diet. Some epidemiological studies and meta-analyses have indicated that ω -3 fatty acid supplementation has positive effects on various cancers^{38,39}. In a study investigating the risk of breast cancer with fish consumption, it was shown that w-3 fatty acids were inversely related to postmenopausal breast cancer [OR 0.27 (0.11-0.66)]⁴⁰. The anti-carcinogenic potential of fish and other seafoods is mainly due to the presence of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid which acts by inhibiting the transformation of arachidonic acid into eicosanoids, thereby regulating signaling for cell growth³⁸. This further proves the importance of another

component of Mediterranean diet in reducing the risk of breast cancer.

Whole grains included as the basic foods of the Mediterranean Diet have low glycemic index, increased satiety, rich fiber content, and contain phytochemicals and are found to be protective against cardiovascular diseases. In a study investigating the relationship of whole grain consumption with breast cancer risk, whole grain consumption was found to be associated with lower breast cancer risk [OR 0.49 (0.29-0.82)]⁴¹.

The Western Diet is characterized by the consumption of high calorie, high protein and high fat foods. It is very low in fiber and usually contains fried foods. A study compared the western diet style with the Mediterranean Diet, and it was observed that the compliance with the Western Diet was associated with a high risk of breast cancer [OR 1.46 (1.06-2.01)], and compliance with the Mediterranean Diet was associated with a lower risk of breast cancer [OR 0.56 (0.40-0.79)⁴². Likewise, in another study investigating the effect of the Mediterranean and Western Diet on breast density, women who were highly dependent on Western diet had higher breast density than those with low breast density [OR 1.25 (1.03-1.52)], but this study did not find any significant association between the Mediterranean Diet and breast cancer risk [OR 0.99 (0.81-1.21)]⁴³.

Although many studies found a relationship between the Mediterranean diet and low breast cancer risk, and Western diet and high breast cancer risk, there are some studies which did not show this effect. In a study, it was reported that both the Healthy diet [OR 1.04 (0.88-1.23)] including the Mediterranean Diet components and the Unhealthy diet [0.96 (0.81-1.13)] models containing the Western Diet components had no relationship with the breast cancer⁴⁴. Similar result was obtained in a meta-analysis with cohort studies. In this study, it was stated that there was no relationship between the adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and the incidence of breast cancer [RR 1.01 (95% CI, 0.88-1.16)]⁴⁵.

It has been observed in a study that the risk of breast cancer increases by 56% for each additional 100g / day red meat consumption⁴⁵. Reduced consumption of red meat in Mediterranean diet could also be one of the contributory factors for the anti-carcinogenic effect of this diet. Red meat serves as a source of few known mutagenic compounds like heterocyclic amines which have a relationship with the etiology of breast cancer^{11,46}.

Various other studies supported the finding of our study. In a study examining the relationship between nutrition and breast cancer among Korean women, it was reported that high intake of vegetables and seafood had an inverse relationship with breast cancer [OR 0.14 (0.08-0.25)]⁴⁷, which are the main constituents of Mediterranean diet.

A cohort study and meta-analysis was conducted which investigated the relationship between compliance with the Mediterranean Diet and the risk of breast cancer (and estrogen / progesterone receptor subtypes, ER / PR). This Dutch Cohort study conducted research on the diet and lifestyle changes of 62,573 women for 20.3 years. It was observed in this study that there was an inverse relationship between compliance with the Mediterranean Diet and the risk of receptor-negative breast cancer⁴⁸.

In a cross-sectional study in which alcohol consumption and adherence to the *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

Mediterranean Diet were measured and their relationship with breast density was investigated, adherence to the Mediterranean Diet and the use of multivitamin-multiminerals were inversely related to breast density and could have a protective effect against breast cancer (OR 0.53; 95% CI 0.34-0.83), whereas high alcohol consumption was reported to cause an increase in breast density (OR 1.47; 95% CI 0.82-2.63)⁴⁹.

Study Strengths and Weaknesses: One of the main strengths of this meta-analysis is that it is a systematic review of the possible effects of the Mediterranean diet on breast cancer from a large pool of studies. An important advantage, especially in terms of understanding the relationship between diet and cancer, is that it brings together different studies and provides more robust and generalisable results. However, one of its weaknesses is the heterogeneity that was observed between the studies. Each of the studies analysed may have used different methods. For example, the definition of diet, the characteristics of the participants or the follow-up periods may have been different. One of the weaknesses is these methodological differences.

Study Limitations: Case-control and crosssectional studies were screened for inclusion in the meta-analysis. PubMED, SpringerLink and Taylor & Francis databases were used. Our search was limited to studies whose publication date was after the year 2000.

CONCLUSION

Many studies have shown that olive oil, fish, whole grains, vegetables and fruits, which are the components of the Mediterranean Diet, are effective in reducing breast cancer. Thanks to these foods, fiber, antioxidants, flavonoids, vitamins, and carotenoids taken regularly in the Mediterranean diet which can reduce excess estrogens in a natural way and neutralize free radicals. In this way, the Mediterranean diet serves as a protective factor against the risk of breast cancer. At the same time, reduced consumption of red meat and refined foods in this dietary pattern that increase the risk of breast cancer are also supporting this effect. According to the results we obtained from the meta-analysis of the studies conducted with the Mediterranean Diet and its components, it has been observed that the Mediterranean Diet has positive effects on breast cancer, and the risk of breast cancer decreases with the increase of compliance with the Mediterranean Diet.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Financial Support: This research received no external funding.

Ethical Declaration: This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hurrem Sultan Hospital, Ethics Committee No: November 13, 2020-40.

Author Contributions: For research articles with several authors, a short paragraph specifying their individual contributions must be provided. The following statements should be used "Con-ceptualization, ÜD and AK; methodology, ÜD and RMK; software, RMK and ÇPF; vali-dation, RMK., ÇPF and AK; formal analysis, ÜD; investigation, AK resources, RMK and ÇPF; data curation, ÜD; writing—original draft preparation, ÜD and AK; writing—review and editing, RMK and ÇPF; visualization, ÜD; supervision, ÜD; project administration, ÜD and AK; funding acquisition, ÜD. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer.* 2019;144(8):1941-1953.
- 2. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2018;68(6):394-424.
- 3. Nindrea RD, Aryandono T, Lazuardi L. Breast cancer risk from modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors among women in Southeast Asia: a meta-analysis. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2017;18(12):3201-3206.
- 4. Winters S, Martin C, Murphy D, Shokar NK. Breast Cancer Epidemiology, Prevention, and Screening. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* 2017;151:1-32.
- 5. Ferlay JF. GLOBOCAN 2000. Cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide, version 1.0. *IARC Cancerbase.* 2001.
- 6. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, et al. SEER cancer statistics review, 1975–2018. *National Cancer Institute.* 2021.
- 7. Turnbull C, Rahman N. Genetic predisposition to breast cancer: past, present, and future. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet.* 2008;9:321-345.
- 8. Key T, Appleby P, Barnes I, Reeves G; Endogenous Hormones and Breast Cancer Collaborative Group. Endogenous sex hormones and breast cancer in postmenopausal women: reanalysis of nine prospective studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2002;94(8):606-616.
- 9. De Cicco P, Catani MV, Gasperi V, Sibilano M, Quaglietta M, Savini I. Nutrition and Breast Cancer: A Literature Review on Prevention, Treatment and Recurrence. *Nutrients.* 2019;11(7):1514.
- Bagnardi V, Rota M, Botteri E, et al. Alcohol consumption and site-specific cancer risk: a comprehensive doseresponse meta-analysis. *Br J Cancer.* 2015;112(3):580-593.
- 11. Seitz HK, Pelucchi C, Bagnardi V, La Vecchia C. Epidemiology and pathophysiology of alcohol and breast cancer: Update 2012. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 2012;47(3):204-212.
- 12. American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Breast Cancer. 2017. wcrf.org/ breast-cancer-2017 (accessed December 7th 2017).
- 13. Michels KB, Mohllajee AP, Roset-Bahmanyar E, Beehler GP, Moysich KB. Diet and breast cancer: a review of the prospective observational studies. *Cancer.* 2007;109(12 Suppl):2712-2749.
- 14. United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (2010). Representative list of the intangible cultural heritage of humanity. www.unesco.org/culture/ ich/index.php?lg=en&pg =00011&RL=00394 (accessed December 7th 2017).
- 15. Carruba G, Granata OM, Pala V, et al. A traditional Mediterranean diet decreases endogenous estrogens in healthy postmenopausal women. *Nutr Cancer.* 2006;56(2):253-259.
- 16. Wu AH, Yu MC, Tseng CC, Stanczyk FZ, Pike MC. Dietary

patterns and breast cancer risk in Asian American women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2009;89(4):1145-1154.

- 17. Visioli F, Grande S, Bogani P, Galli C. The role of antioxidants in the mediterranean diets: focus on cancer. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* 2004;13(4):337-343.
- 18. World Cancer Research Fund, American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. *Amer Inst for Cancer Research*. 2007.
- 19. Mitjavila MT, Fandos M, Salas-Salvadó J, et al. The Mediterranean diet improves the systemic lipid and DNA oxidative damage in metabolic syndrome individuals. A randomized, controlled, trial. *Clin Nutr.* 2013;32(2):172-178.
- 20. Warleta F, Campos M, Allouche Y, et al. Squalene protects against oxidative DNA damage in MCF10A human mammary epithelial cells but not in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 2010;48(4):1092-1100.
- 21. Parkin DM, Bray F, Ferlay J, Pisani P. Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2005;55(2):74-108.
- 22. Buckland G, Travier N, Cottet V, et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and risk of breast cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition cohort study. *Int J Cancer.* 2013;132(12):2918-2927.
- 23. Demetriou CA, Hadjisavvas A, Loizidou MA, et al. The mediterranean dietary pattern and breast cancer risk in Greek-Cypriot women: a case-control study. *BMC Cancer.* 2012;12:113.
- 24. Freeman PR. Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis. 1986:454-454
- 25. Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JP, Rothstein HR. *Introduction to meta-analysis.* John Wiley & Sons; 2021.
- 26. Cooper H, Hedges LV, Valentine JC, editors. *The handbook of research synthesis and meta-analysis.* Russell Sage Foundation; 2019.
- 27. Zhang CX, Ho SC, Fu JH, Cheng SZ, Chen YM, Lin FY. Dietary patterns and breast cancer risk among Chinese women. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2011;22(1):115-124.
- 28. Bessaoud F, Daurès JP, Gerber M. Dietary factors and breast cancer risk: a case control study among a population in Southern France. *Nutr Cancer*. 2008;60(2):177-187.
- 29. Mourouti N, Kontogianni MD, Papavagelis C, et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet is associated with lower likelihood of breast cancer: a case-control study. *Nutr Cancer.* 2014;66(5):810-817.
- 30. Cottet V, Touvier M, Fournier A, et al. Postmenopausal breast cancer risk and dietary patterns in the E3N-EPIC prospective cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2009;170(10):1257-1267.
- 31. Turati F, Carioli G, Bravi F, et al. Mediterranean Diet and Breast Cancer Risk. *Nutrients.* 2018;10(3):326.
- 32. Shelby LB, Vaske JJ. Understanding meta-analysis: A review of the methodological literature. *Leis Sci.* 2008;30(2):96-110.
- 33. Schwingshackl L, Schwedhelm C, Galbete C, Hoffmann G. Adherence to Mediterranean Diet and Risk of Cancer: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients.* 2017;9(10):1063.
- 34. Menendez JA, Vellon L, Colomer R, Lupu R. Oleic acid, the

- 35. García-Arenzana N, Navarrete-Muñoz EM, Lope V, et al. Calorie intake, olive oil consumption and mammographic density among Spanish women. *Int J Cancer.* 2014;134(8):1916-1925.
- 36. García-Segovia P, Sánchez-Villegas A, Doreste J, Santana F, Serra-Majem L. Olive oil consumption and risk of breast cancer in the Canary Islands: a population-based casecontrol study. *Public Health Nutr.* 2006;9(1A):163-167.
- 37. Sealy N, Hankinson SE, Houghton SC. Olive oil and risk of breast cancer: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Br J Nutr.* 2021;125(10):1148-1156.
- 38. Zheng JS, Hu XJ, Zhao YM, Yang J, Li D. Intake of fish and marine n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and risk of breast cancer: meta-analysis of data from 21 independent prospective cohort studies. *BMJ.* 2013;346:f3706.
- 39. Manson JE, Cook NR, Lee IM, et al. Marine n-3 Fatty Acids and Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2019;380(1):23-32.
- 40. Kim J, Lim SY, Shin A, et al. Fatty fish and fish omega-3 fatty acid intakes decrease the breast cancer risk: a case-control study. *BMC Cancer*. 2009;9:216.
- 41. Mourouti N, Kontogianni MD, Papavagelis C, et al. Whole Grain Consumption and Breast Cancer: A Case-Control Study in Women. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2016;35(2):143-149.
- 42. Castelló A, Pollán M, Buijsse B, et al. Spanish Mediterranean diet and other dietary patterns and breast cancer risk: case-control EpiGEICAM study. *Br J Cancer*. 2014;111(7):1454-1462.
- Castelló A, Ascunce N, Salas-Trejo D, et al. Association between western and mediterranean dietary patterns and mammographic density. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2016;128(3):574-581.
- 44. Buck K, Vrieling A, Flesch-Janys D, Chang-Claude J. Dietary patterns and the risk of postmenopausal breast cancer in a German case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2011;22(2):273-282.
- 45. Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Adherence to Mediterranean diet and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2014;135(8):1884-1897.
- 46. Khodarahmi M, Azadbakht L. The association between different kinds of fat intake and breast cancer risk in women. *Int J Prev Med.* 2014;5(1):6-15.
- 47. Cho YA, Kim J, Shin A, Park KS, Ro J. Dietary patterns and breast cancer risk in Korean women. *Nutr Cancer.* 2010;62(8):1161-1169.
- 48. van den Brandt PA, Schulpen M. Mediterranean diet adherence and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: results of a cohort study and meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer.* 2017;140(10):2220-2231.
- 49. Voevodina O, Billich C, Arand B, Nagel G. Association of Mediterranean diet, dietary supplements and alcohol consumption with breast density among women in South Germany: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* 2013;13:203.

LETTER TO EDITOR

Commentary: Expanding the horizons of RE-AIM framework in public health research



¹MD, MPH, PhD; Presidency of Disaster Health and Emergency Medical Services, Health Directorate of İstanbul, Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 20.11.2023, Accepted: 08.12.2024

Abstract

Objective: This commentary critically examines Yuliawati et al.'s 2024 review, "Analysis of research public health trends with the RE-AIM model and VOSviewer: A literature review," which investigates the application of the "Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, Maintenance (RE-AIM)" framework in public health research. The review highlights trends in 279 studies conducted between 2017 and 2022 and draws attention to the insufficient focus on environmental health and sanitation interventions within the RE-AIM framework. The objective is to address these gaps and propose future directions for broadening the framework's application.

Methods: The commentary evaluates the methodology used by Yuliawati *et al.*, with particular attention to their utilization of the VOSviewer tool to map trends in RE-AIM-based research. It also explores the identified research gaps and incorporates insights from existing literature to examine the barriers that limit RE-AIM's application in environmental health and sanitation.

Results: Yuliawati *et al.*'s review demonstrates growing interest in the RE-AIM framework, but points out a notable deficiency in its application to environmental health and sanitation interventions. This commentary identifies potential reasons for this gap, such as limited interdisciplinary collaboration and resource constraints, and suggests that addressing these challenges could improve RE-AIM's effectiveness in these fields.

Conclusion: This commentary advocates for future research to overcome the barriers to RE-AIM's application in environmental health and sanitation. It emphasizes the importance of interdisciplinary approaches and the need for a more adaptable framework to evaluate complex, multi-faceted public health challenges.

Keywords: Public Health Research, Implementation Science, Longitudinal Data, Environmental Health

Correspondence: Dr., Verda Tunalıgil (MD, MPH, PhD), Presidency of Disaster Health and Emergency Medical Services, Health Directorate of İstanbul, Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Health, İstanbul, Türkiye. E-mail: verda@post.harvard.edu

Cite This Article: Tunaligil V. Commentary: Expanding the horizons of RE-AIM framework in public health research. Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3): 339-343.

©*Copyright 2024 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.



Turk J Public Health 2024 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)

ANALYSIS OF RESEARCH PUBLIC HEALTH TRENDS WITH THE RE-AIM MODEL AND VOSVIEWER: A LITERATURE REVIEW

Yuliawati et al. 's 2024 review article, "Analysis research public health trends with the RE-AIM model and VOSviewer: A literature review," offers a comprehensive examination of the application of the RE-AIM framework in public health research.¹ "Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, Maintenance (RE-AIM)" is a framework used to evaluate health interventions based on five key dimensions. It aims to assess their impact on health outcomes while also considering scalability, sustainability, and real-world applicability to determine the broader effectiveness and potential of health programs in diverse settings.^{2,3}VOSviewer https://www. vosviewer. com/ is a free computer program designed for constructing and visualizing bibliometric maps, with a focus on the graphical representation and easy interpretation of large maps.⁴ Through the application of the VOSviewer tool for bibliometric analysis, the authors have identified trends across 279 RE-AIM-based studies published between 2017 and 2022. The review focuses particularly on the lack of research at the intersection of environmental health, sanitation, and the RE-AIM framework, highlighting gaps that open avenues for future exploration. Although their findings are insightful, there are several opportunities to expand on the challenges and potential solutions to integrating RE-AIM into underrepresented areas like environmental health.

The core strength of Yuliawati *et al*. 's review article lies in the application of the VOSviewer tool to visualize public health research

trends using RE-AIM. This tool has allowed the authors to categorize and map research articles, offering a clear representation of active research areas and under-explored particularly those related topics, to environmental health and sanitation. The review effectively identifies a clear gap in the application of RE-AIM in sanitation and environmental health interventions, a topic that has not seen much scholarly attention in recent years.¹ As emphasized in a 2019 publication, understanding the reach and sustainability of interventions within these domains requires careful consideration of factors such as community engagement and resource limitations, which are often overlooked by conventional research methodologies.⁵ The authors' analysis additionally confirms the growing interest in RE-AIM across public health research. This finding resonates with the increasing emphasis on evaluating not only the efficacy of public health interventions but also their real-world applicability and sustainability across diverse settings.6 The utility of the framework in assessing the broad and longterm impact of public health interventions is emphasized, especially in terms of scalability and adaptability to different populations.

Thelimitations and areas for further exploration identified in the current article include the insufficient research on environmental health and sanitation using the RE-AIM framework. This commentary posits that the review would be enhanced by a more comprehensive analysis of the barriers contributing to the existing gap. The authors acknowledge the scarcity of studies in these areas, though further exploration of the underlying reasons for this underrepresentation would provide valuable insight. Factors such

as interdisciplinary collaboration or the lack thereof may contribute to the limited application of RE-AIM in environmental health. As noted in the context of the use of the RE-AIM framework to guide iterative adaptations, addressing complex health challenges requires not only a framework for planning and evaluation but also close collaboration with key implementation partners, including health care providers, and local stakeholders. community inform data-driven representatives, to decisions and ensure successful adaptations implementation.² throughout program The absence of such collaborations might explain why interventions in sanitation and environmental health are often complex, multifaceted, and harder to evaluate using traditional public health frameworks. While Yuliawati *et al*'s review suggests that sanitation and environmental health are underresearched in relation to RE-AIM¹, it would be beneficial to explore the structural challenges that may hinder their effective evaluation. Data availability, for example, may pose a significant barrier, as collecting comprehensive, longitudinal data on the effectiveness of sanitation interventions in diverse contexts can be both costly and time-consuming. The difficulty in measuring long-term impacts, such as improvements in community health over several years, poses an additional challenge to studies using RE-AIM's "Maintenance" dimension. A 2021 publication addressed 13 specific areas where misconceptions have arisen regarding the use of RE-AIM and provided a summary of current guidance on these issues. As emphasized in the evolution of the RE-AIM framework, many implementation science models and frameworks, including

RE-AIM, have advanced, been misunderstood, and at times, been misapplied. While some degree of this is inevitable, concrete actions were suggested that reviewers, framework developers, and those selecting or applying frameworks can take to prevent or mitigate these challenges, fostering more accurate and effective use in the future.³ In light of these ongoing challenges and the need for continued refinement, the 2024 review could also explore ways in which RE-AIM can be adapted to address the unique characteristics of environmental health interventions. Unlike clinical or behavior-based public health interventions, environmental health initiatives often involve multilevel impacts that span across communities, institutions, and ecosystems. As highlighted in 2019, there persists a critical need to adapt the RE-AIM framework to better account for these extensive and interconnected influences.5 This could involve a more thorough application of the framework, focusing on how environmental health interventions engage various stakeholders, including local governments, health care providers, and community-based organizations.

A call for future research emphasizes the need to prioritize the integration of the RE-AIM framework into environmental health and sanitation studies, as suggested by Yuliawati et al.¹ Given the growing significance of these areas, particularly in the context of global health challenges such as water sanitation and climate change, more targeted research is essential to understand how RE-AIM can be effectively applied in low-resource settings. Investigating the "Reach" and "Effectiveness" dimensions of sanitation interventions could yield valuable insights into the factors influencing their adoption and success in

resource-poor communities. Understanding how local populations perceive and engage with these interventions could also help tailor them to meet specific community needs, thereby enhancing their long-term sustainability. An additional critical aspect is the exploration of the role of the RE-AIM framework in evaluating the long-term "Maintenance" of environmental health interventions. As noted in 2022, Iterative RE-AIM has proven feasible in diverse projects, but key questions remain about its strengths, limitations, and effectiveness. To address these, future research should focus on optimizing its frequency, improving data for adaptation decisions, enhancing health equity, and determining the most costeffective facilitation approach.² Research could additionally explore how RE-AIM can be adapted to capture complex, longterm processes, and assess the ongoing effectiveness and feasibility of interventions in various contexts. A particularly exciting avenue for future research involves the potential for interdisciplinary approaches that integrate environmental health, social sciences, and public health. Such collaboration could provide a more holistic framework for evaluating sanitation interventions and understanding how factors like cultural norms, social capital, and local governance structures impact their effectiveness. This approach would align well with the goals of RE-AIM, as it would allow for a more complete assessment of how interventions operate across multiple levels and stakeholders.

This commentary article, in conclusion, remarks that Yuliawati *et al.* 's review article is a timely contribution to the literature on the RE-AIM framework and its application in public health research. Their findings *Turk J Public Health 2024;22(3)*

call attention to the growing interest in RE-AIM and its importance in evaluating public health interventions, particularly with regard to ensuring their sustainability and impact over time 1. The review would be further enhanced by exploring the barriers to the application of the RE-AIM framework in underexplored areas, such as environmental health and sanitation, and by providing practical recommendations to overcome these challenges. This would add considerable value to the literature and offer actionable insights for advancing the framework's utility in these critical domains. The authors of the review article could significantly advance future research and enhance the applicability of the RE-AIM framework to complex, multilevel public health challenges by addressing the areas outlined in the present commentary. As the global community faces increasing challenges in sanitation and environmental health, expanding the use of RE-AIM to assess these interventions will be critical for developing effective, scalable, and sustainable solutions. Future research in this area will build on the foundation laid by Yuliawati et al., providing valuable insights into how RE-AIM can be tailored to better assess and improve interventions in sanitation and environmental health.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The entirety of the research study, including the literature review, research idea conceptualization, methodology development, analysis, results interpretation, critical discussion, and conclusion formulation were conducted solely by the author. In a nearly negligible capacity, this work utilized the free OpenAI GPT-40 technology. Its application was confined to minor tasks such as paragraphing, formatting, section partitioning, standardizing the reference list, finding synonyms no more than ten words, and correcting inadvertent typographical errors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Yuliawati R, Denny HM, Patriajati S, *et al.* Analysis research public health trends with the RE-AIM model and VOSviewer: A literature review. *Turk J Public Health* 2024;22(2): 224-34 doi:10.20518/ tjph.1388263
- Glasgow RE, Battaglia C, McCreight M, *et al.* Use of the reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance (RE-AIM) framework to guide iterative adaptations: Applications, lessons learned, and future directions. *Front Health Serv.* 2022 Oct 17;2:959565. doi:10.3389/frhs.2022. 959565
- 3. Holtrop JS, Estabrooks PA, Gaglio B, *et al.* Understanding and applying the RE-AIM framework: Clarifications and resources. *J Clin Transl Sci.* 2021 May 14;5(1):e126. doi:10.1017/ cts. 2021. 789
- van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. *Scientometrics*. 2010 Aug;84(2):523-38. doi:10. 1007/s11192-009-0146-3 Epub 2009 Dec 31.
- 5. Shaw RB, Sweet SN, McBride CB, et al. Operationalizing the reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, maintenance (RE-AIM) framework to evaluate the collective impact of autonomous community programs that promote health and well-being. *BMC Public Health*. 2019 Jun 24;19(1):803. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7131-4
- 6. Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: The RE-AIM framework. *Am J Public Health*. 1999 Sep;89(9):1322-7. doi:10.2105/ajph. 89.9.1322